# **ECRI**

10 years of combating racism in Europe:

# A review of the work of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance

Mark Kelly Human Rights Consultants The opinions expressed in this work are the responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official policy of the Council of Europe.

All requests concerning the reproduction or translation of all or part of the document should be adressed to to the Publishing Division, Communication and Research Directorate (F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex or publishing@coe.int).

All other corrrespondence concerning this publication should be addressed to the Secretariat of ECRI (F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex or combat.racism@coe.int).

# About the auhor

Mark Kelly LL. (Hons), M.Sc., M.Phil, is an international human rights lawyer. Until September 2000, he was Head of Unit in the Secretariat of the Council of Europe's European Committee for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CPT). Since that date, he has been a Director of the independent consultancy firm, Human Rights Consultants.

Council of Europe F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex

© Council of Europe, February 2004 Printed in Germany

# **CONTENTS**

FO	REW	/ <b>ORD</b> 1	1
Ι	INT	TRODUCTION	3
II A		<b>UNTRY-BY-COUNTRY WORK</b> 1         Preliminary remarks       1         Main messages of ECRI's second round reports; issues monitored	9 9 9 9
		a. International legal instruments 2	20
		i. Constitutional provisions2ii. Other basic legal provisions2(a) Electoral law2(b) Citizenship law2(c) Language law2(d) Culture2(e) Religion2	21 23 23 24 25 26 26 27
		i.Substantive provisions2ii.Implementation2iii.Prosecution authorities3iv.Law enforcement agencies3v.Third parties3vi.Training3vii.Awareness raising3	<ol> <li>27</li> <li>27</li> <li>29</li> <li>30</li> <li>30</li> <li>31</li> <li>31</li> <li>32</li> </ol>
		<ul> <li>i. Substantive provisions</li> <li>ii. Implementation</li> <li>(a) Enforcement mechanisms</li> <li>(b) Burden of proof</li> <li>(c) Role of third parties</li> <li>iii. Awareness raising</li> </ul>	32 33 35 35 35 36 36 36

e.	<ul> <li>Administration of justice</li> <li>i. Training and awareness raising</li> <li>ii. Sentencing and prosecution practices</li> <li>iii. Access to the justice system</li> <li>iv. Ensuring consistency in the administration of justice</li> <li>v. Data collection</li> </ul>	37 37 38 38 38 38 39
f.	<ul> <li>Specialised bodies and other institutions</li> <li>i. Composition, mandate and powers</li> <li>ii. Independence and impartiality</li> <li>iii. Role of specialised bodies and other institutions</li> <li>(a) Supervising the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation</li> <li>(b) Investigating complaints of discrimination</li> <li>(c) Advisory and outreach role</li> <li>(d) Awareness raising</li> <li>iv. Co-ordination with other bodies and groups</li> <li>v. Conducting studies</li> <li>vi. Review of the work of specialised bodies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>39</li> <li>40</li> <li>40</li> <li>40</li> <li>41</li> <li>41</li> <li>42</li> <li>42</li> <li>43</li> <li>43</li> <li>43</li> </ul>
g.	<ul> <li>Education/training</li> <li>Schools</li> <li>(a) Content and delivery of human rights / anti-discrimination education</li> <li>(b) Teacher training and teaching materials</li> <li>(c) Combating racism and harassment in schools</li> <li>ii. Justice system and public authorities</li> </ul>	43 43 44 46 46 46
h.	Awareness raising         i. Aims and objectives         ii. Substance of awareness-raising activities         (a) Challenging concepts of national identity         (b) Promoting reconciliation         iii. Targeting specific groups         (a) Public officials         (b) Politicians, political groups and the media         (c) Minority groups         iv. Bolstering awareness-raising activities         v. Collaboration with civil society         vi. Impact assessment	47 47 48 48 49 49 49 50 50 50 50
i.	Reception and status of non-citizensi. Immigration legislationii. Illegal immigrationiii. Asylum determination procedures	51 51 52 52

	iv. Detention and deportation of asylum seekers and non-citizens	53
	v. Accommodation and provision for asylum seekers	53 54
	vi. Non-citizens status	54
	vii. Integration strategies	55
	viii. General climate concerning non-citizens	55
j.	Access to public services	56
J.	i. Legislative and other measures.	56
	ii. Housing	56
	iii. Access to public places	57
	iv. Access to health services	57
	v. Training	58
	vi. Targeting marginalised groups	58
	vii. Access to education	58
	(a) Prevention of discrimination in schools	58
	(b) Integration of students from minority backgrounds	59
	<ul><li>(c) Linguistic issues</li><li>(d) Positive measures</li></ul>	59 60
	(e) Recruitment and training	61
	(f) Flexibility of legal provisions	61
	(g) Research regarding the situation of minority groups	62
	(h) Issues regarding religion	62
	(i) Reviews of legislation, policy and practice	62
k.	Employment	62
	i. Adoption and implementation of anti-discrimination	
	legislation	62
	ii. Awareness raising	63
	iii. Targeting members of particular groups	63
	(a) Data collection	63
	(b) Positive measures	63
	(c) Language training iv. Migrant workers	64 64
	v. Linguistic issues	65
I.	Religious groups	65
m	Monitoring the situation in the country	67
	i. Collection of baseline data	67
	ii. National surveys	67
	iii. Monitoring the implementation of legal provisions and other measures	67
	iv. Monitoring and "proofing" proposed legislation	67 68
		00

	n.	Conduct of law enforcement officials	68
		i. Accountability of law enforcement officials	68
		(a) Rule of law	68
			68
		(c) Internal discipline	69
		ii. Combating racist crime	69
		iii. Training	70
		iv. Awareness raising	70
		v. Recruitment	71
		5	71
		vii. Data collection	72
	О.	Media	72
		i. Implementation of legal provisions and other measures	72
		ii. Self-regulation	73
		iii. Training	73
		iv. Minority and other groups	73
	n	Other issues of country specific concorn	74
	μ.	Other issues of country-specific concern         i. Minority or vulnerable groups	74
		(a) Roma/Gypsy communities	77
		(b) Muslim communities	78
		(c) Jewish communities	78
		(d) Indigeneous peoples	79
		(e) Formerly deported populations and returnees	79
		(f) Persons of immigrant origin or background	79
			80
			80
			80
			81
		iii. Situations resulting from internal or external conflict	81
WO	RK	ON GENERAL THEMES	82
1.	Pre	eliminary remarks	82
2.	Ge	eneral Policy Recommendations and examples of "good practices"	83
	a.	Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance	83
		6	83
			84
			85
			85

B

	b.	<ul> <li>Specialised bodies at national level to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance</li> <li>i. Statutes establishing specialised bodies</li> <li>ii. Alternative forms of specialised bodies</li> <li>iii. Functions and responsibilities of specialised bodies</li> <li>iv. Administration and functioning of specialised bodies</li> </ul>	86 86 86 86 87
	C.	Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies	87
	d.	<ul><li>National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims</li></ul>	90 90 90 90
	e.	Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims	91
	f.	Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet	93
	g.	<ul> <li>National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination</li> <li>i. Constitutional law</li> <li>iii. Criminal law</li> <li>iv. Other legal provisions</li> </ul>	93 94 95 96 96
3.		oadening the scope of the non-discrimination provisions of the ropean Convention on Human Rights	97
4.	Eu	ropean and World Conferences against Racism	98
	a.	Preparations for the European and World Conferences against Racism i. Legal protection ii. Policies and practices iii. Education and awareness-raising iv. Information, communication and the media	100
	b.	European Conference against Racism	101
	C.	World Conference against Racism	103
	d.	Follow-up to the European and World Conferences against Racism1	104

С	REI	LATIONS WITH CIVIL SOCIETY	)6
	1.	Preliminary remarks	)6
	2.	ECRI's Programme of Action on relations with civil society10	)6
		a. Information sessions	)6
		<b>b.</b> Thematic meetings and consultations with non-governmental organisations	)9
		c. Development of a communication strategy11	10
		d. Website development11	11
		e. Activities targeted at the political bodies of the Council of Europe 11	11
		f. Contacts with the youth sector	11
ш	ASS	SESSMENT OF THE IMPACT OF ECRI'S SUBSTANTIVE WORK 11	13
A.	INT	<b>RODUCTION</b>	13
B.	CO	UNTRY-BY-COUNTRY WORK 11	15
	1.	International legal instruments11	15
	2.	Constitutional and other basic provisions11	16
	3.	Criminal law	17
	4.	Civil and administrative law11	18
	5.	Specialised bodies and other institutions11	19
	6.	Education	20
	7.	Reception and status of non-citizens12	21
	8.	Access to education	22
	9.	Employment12	23
	10.	Vulnerable groups12	24
		Monitoring	
	12.	Conduct of law enforcement officials12	25
	13.	Media	26
C.	WO	PRK ON GENERAL THEMES	28
	1.	General Policy Recommendations	28
	2.	Examples of "good practice"	31
	3.	Broadening the scope of Article 14 of the European Convention on Human Rights through Protocol No. 12	32
	4.	European and World Conferences against Racism	33

RE	LATIONS WITH CIVIL SOCIETY	134
1.	Introductory remarks 1	134
2.	Enhancement of relations with civil society	134
3.	In-country information sessions	135
4.	Website	135
PENI	DICES	141
STA	ATUTE OF ECRI	143
INT	ERNAL RULES OF PROCEDURE OF ECRI	147
LIS	T OF PUBLICATIONS	157
	1. 2. 3. 4. <b>CO</b> <b>PEN</b> ST/ INT	

# FOREWORD

In Strasbourg, on 22 March 1994, the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) convened for the very first time. Created by the first Summit of Heads of State and of Government of the Council of Europe member States, (Vienna, October 1993), and considerably strengthened by the second Summit (Strasbourg, October 1997), ECRI represents on many levels an original and unique example of the development of an independent human rights monitoring mechanism in a practical and progressive way.

Ever since its founding declaration of "Never Again", the Council of Europe has been continually active in the fight against all forms of intolerance. It has offered a well-adapted framework for the creation and operation of ECRI. It is through a global and multidisciplinary approach that ECRI analyses and proposes solutions to the problems of racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance faced by member States of the Council of Europe. Today, ten years after its creation, ECRI can take stock of its achievements. Of course, much remains to be done, and ECRI's task is far from being completed. However, its solid and positive contribution to the fight against contemporary expressions of racism in Europe is undeniable. ECRI's work on the prevention of and solutions to problems related to racism and intolerance has always been firmly anchored to the protection and promotion of human rights. In this respect, ECRI's place within the Council of Europe has been very important.

This publication, whose author is an independent consultant, has been prepared in honour of ECRI's tenth anniversary. It provides a synthesis of the gist of ECRI's work. It draws out the main messages of ECRI's country-by-country reports, takes into account ECRI's General Policy Recommendations and describes its relations with civil society. It provides a sort of "state of play" of ECRI's work, highlighting how ECRI has contributed to the fight against racism in Europe, and evaluates the impact of its action.

This publication contains a considerable amount of information and constitutes a rich source of inspiration. I hope that it will be widely used by all those involved in the fight against racism, whether it be national authorities, non-governmental organisations or ordinary citizens interested in working towards a Europe free from racism and racial discrimination.

Walter Schwimmer Secretary General of the Council of Europe

# I INTRODUCTION

# BACKGROUND

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) was established in 1993 by the first Summit of Heads of State and Government of Council of Europe member States.<sup>1</sup> It operates under the auspices of the Council of Europe, an intergovernmental organisation based in Strasbourg, France.



Heads of State and Government of Council of Europe member States, Vienna, October 1993

Established in 1949, the role of the Council of Europe is to strengthen democracy, human rights and the rule of law in its member States. Through its activities, the Council of Europe aims: to protect human rights, pluralist democracy and the rule of law; to help consolidate democratic stability in Europe by backing political, legislative and constitutional reform; to seek solutions to problems facing European societies, including discrimination against minorities, xenophobia and misuse of drugs and to enhance Europe's cultural heritage in all its diversity.

Within the Council of Europe, ECRI works to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance in Europe. It takes a "rights-based" approach to its work and undertakes activities aimed at ensuring that the right to freedom from discrimination is enjoyed by all persons present on the territory of Council of Europe member States. It works to prevent violence, discrimination and prejudice faced by persons or groups of persons on grounds of "race", colour, language, religion, nationality and national or ethnic origin.

<sup>1.</sup> The decision to establish ECRI is contained in the Vienna Declaration adopted by the first Summit of Heads of State and Government of the member States of the Council of Europe on 9 October 1993.

ECRI works at both international and national level, co-operating with other international organisations active in the field and undertaking activities in respect of each of the 45 member States of the Council of Europe.<sup>2</sup> ECRI is composed of independent members from the member States of the Council of Europe, and a Secretariat based in Strasbourg. There are currently 42 members of ECRI.<sup>3</sup> In accordance with the Statute of ECRI, the members serve in their individual capacity and must act independently and impartially in exercising their mandate. The members are appointed by their governments on the basis of their high moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance.<sup>4</sup>

ECRI exercises its mandate through its programme of activities which consists of three main strands: country-by-country work, work on general themes and relations with civil society.<sup>5</sup> In the context of its *country-by-country work*, ECRI visits all member States of the Council of Europe and prepares country-specific reports on matters falling within its competence. ECRI's *work on general themes* includes developing General Policy Recommendations; the collection and publication of examples of "good practices" in the field of combating racism; action aimed at broadening the scope of the non-discrimination provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights and active participation in the European and World Conferences against Racism. ECRI has also developed a detailed Programme of Action aimed at enhancing and strengthening its *relations with civil society* and raising awareness within civil society of its work and activities.

# **RECENT DEVELOPMENTS**

ECRI has been active in the field of combating racism throughout Europe for just over 10 years. A number of significant developments in recent years have re-shaped, to a certain extent, the arena in which ECRI operates and the issues with which it is engaged.

# European and World Conferences against Racism

The European and World Conferences against Racism, held, respectively, in October 2000 and September 2001, set a new agenda for the fight against racism and intolerance at global and regional level. ECRI prepared a position paper for the European Conference and its Secretariat was responsible for organising the Conference and co-ordinating the General Conclusions and the Political Declaration of the Conference, which formed the European contribution to the World Conference. Both conferences called on States to adopt specific measures to enhance legal protection, policies and practices aimed at combating racism and intolerance and to undertake education and awareness-raising

<sup>2.</sup> As of 1 November 2003, there were 45 member States of the Council of Europe. For an up-to-date list of member States, consult the website of the Council of Europe: www.coe.int

<sup>3.</sup> As of 1 November 2003, there were 42 members of ECRI. For an up-to-date list of members, consult the website of the ECRI: www.coe.int/ECRI

<sup>4.</sup> See Article 2, Statute of ECRI, Resolution Res (2002) 8 of the Committee of Ministers on the Statute of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance.

<sup>5.</sup> ECRI and its programme of activities, May 2003, CRI (99) 53 rev. 4.

activities aimed at the general public and specific groups, such as law enforcement agencies and the media.

One of the recommendations of the European Conference was of particular significance for ECRI; it called upon member States of the Council of Europe to consider "how to best reinforce the action of ECRI". As a result, a new Statute for ECRI was adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe in June 2002.<sup>6</sup> Article 1 of the Statute lists the objectives of ECRI as follows: "to review member States' legislation, policies and other measures to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, and their effectiveness; to propose further action at local, national and European level; to formulate General Policy Recommendations to member States; to study international legal instruments applicable in the matter with a view to their reinforcement where appropriate". The principle of the independence and impartiality of the members of ECRI is guaranteed in Article 2 of the Statute and terms of reference for ECRI's country-by-country monitoring work, work on general themes and relations with civil society are set out in Articles 11 to 13.

ECRI considers that its new Statute consolidates its role as a monitoring mechanism in the field of human rights as regards the fight against racism and intolerance and guarantees the independence and impartiality of its members. It also considers that the adoption of its Statute by the Committee of Ministers demonstrates the determination of the member States of the Council of Europe to continue to co-operate in the fight against racism in Europe.<sup>7</sup>

In the period since the conferences, ECRI has been working to translate the general political commitments undertaken at the conferences into concrete action to combat racism and intolerance.

For example, key conference recommendations regarding national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, and the adoption of national action plans against racism have been reflected in ECRI's recent General Policy Recommendation No. 7. The Recommendation calls upon member States to assume their political responsibilities by enacting legislation against racism and racial discrimination (if such legislation does not already exist or is incomplete). In order to assist States to develop the content of such legislation, GPR 7 provides a detailed account of the "key components" which it should contain, including as regards constitutional law, civil and administrative law and criminal law.

# Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights

The European Convention on Human Rights is one of the principal human rights instruments upon which ECRI bases its 'rights-based' approach to combating racism and intolerance. In its Article 14, the Convention prohibits discrimination in relation to the

<sup>6.</sup> Council of Europe, Committee of Ministers, Resolution Res(2002)8 on the Statute of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (adopted on 13 June 2002).

<sup>7.</sup> ECRI, Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, at paragraph 20.

enjoyment of the rights set out in the Convention. ECRI proposed that the scope of this protection should be broadened to include a more general prohibition of discrimination encompassing additional rights not listed in the ECHR (for example; economic, social and cultural rights). Further to ECRI's proposal, and after four years of deliberations, Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR, which broadened the protection afforded under Article 14 of the Convention, was opened for signature in June 2000. The Protocol will enter into force once ten Council of Europe member States have ratified it.<sup>®</sup> ECRI has actively pursued the ratification of the Protocol by member States in the context of its country-by-country work – in particular in its reports on member States – and its work on relations with civil society.

# 11 September 2001

The tragic events of 11 September 2001 had a significant impact on the consideration of issues related to international terrorism and the international human rights framework. In December 2001, ECRI adopted a Declaration in relation to these events in which it recognised the need for effective measures to be taken to combat terrorism and stated its view that such measures should not become a pretext under which discrimination and intolerance would be allowed to flourish.<sup>9</sup> The Declaration called on member States to remain vigilant as regards hostile reactions towards particular groups of the population.

In particular, in its Annual Report for 2002, ECRI noted an escalation of the problem of Islamophobia following 11 September 2001.<sup>10</sup> Manifestations of this problem include an increase in prejudice against Muslim communities involving acts of violence, harassment, discrimination, negative attitudes and stereotypes. In response to this escalation, ECRI has noted the need for enhanced vigilance of possible discrimination against Muslims and called on member States to implement its General Policy Recommendation No. 5 on combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims.

# TIME TO TAKE STOCK

In March 2002, ECRI decided that the time had come to commission an independent review of its work. Given that ECRI completed the visits of the second round reports on member States in December 2002, and that the last of the reports on those visits was published in November 2003, the period of ECRI's second round of reports – January 1999 to December 2002 – was selected as the review period.

Focussing on this period also enabled the review to take account of recent developments in ECRI's work as a result of the European and World Conferences against Racism, ECRI's new Statute, Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR, and the aftermath

<sup>8.</sup> The current state of ratifications of Protocol No. 12 can be found at http://conventions.coe.int.

ECRI, Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2001, CRI (2002) 19.
 ECRI, Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, at paragraph 7.

of 11 September 2001. It is hoped that this stocktaking of ECRI's activities during its second round of reports will also prove useful as ECRI considers how best to proceed during the third round of reports to member States which has now begun.

# The content of the Review

The review is divided into two sections: Section II is a review of ECRI's substantive work and Section III is an assessment of the impact of that work.

Section II reviews all three strands of ECRI's programme of activities; country-by-country work, work on general themes and relations with civil society. As regards country-by-country work, ECRI has produced second round reports on 43 of the member States of the Council of Europe. This part of the Review highlights the "main messages" which ECRI has sought to convey during its visits to this diverse range of States. In doing so, it aims to highlight messages of potentially general application which have been developed by ECRI in these country-specific contexts. All aspects of ECRI's work on general themes are explored as is its work on relations with civil society.

Section III of the report contains an assessment of the impact of ECRI's work across the three main strands of its programme of activities. The impact assessment was compiled by reviewing the responses to a detailed questionnaire sent to key non-governmental organisations, national human rights and anti-racism institutions and national authorities in three Council of Europe member States. The questionnaires invited respondents to comment on their familiarity with ECRI's work and to assess its impact. The responses to the survey included sufficient detail to enable a qualitative assessment to be made of the impact of ECRI's activities in these countries.

# **II REVIEW OF ECRI'S SUBSTANTIVE WORK**

# A COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY WORK

# 1. Preliminary remarks

Country-by-country work is one of the three main strands of ECRI's programme of activities, the other two being work on general themes and relations with civil society. These three strands of ECRI's work are closely linked and are intended to be mutually reinforcing. It is therefore essential not to consider ECRI's country-by-country work in isolation, but rather in the context of its work on general themes and relations with civil society as described below in sections B and C of this report.

Country-by-country work involves scrutiny by ECRI of the situation in each and every member State of the Council of Europe on an "equal footing". As ECRI puts it in its most recent annual report: "this is a method whereby ECRI closely examines the situation in each of the member States of the Council of Europe and draws up, following this analysis, suggestions and proposals as to how the problems of racism and intolerance identified in each country might be overcome. The aim of this exercise is to formulate helpful and well-founded proposals which may assist governments in taking practical and precise steps to counter racism and intolerance".<sup>11</sup>

ECRI's reports on its "second round" of country-by-country work were compiled after "contact visits" to 43 Council of Europe member States. ECRI has specified that "the aim of the contact visits is to obtain as detailed and complete a picture as possible of the situation regarding racism and intolerance in the countries being examined. The visits provide an opportunity for the rapporteurs and co-rapporteurs to meet officials from the various ministries and national public authorities dealing with issues within ECRI's remit. They also allow the rapporteurs and co-rapporteurs to meet representatives of NGOs working in the field, as well as some of ECRI's other partners and other parties concerned with matters within ECRI's remit".<sup>12</sup>

On foot of the "contact visits", a draft report prepared by ECRI is sent to the national authorities of the member States for a brief process of confidential dialogue. The report is reviewed in the light of that dialogue and then adopted by ECRI in its final form. The report is then formally transmitted to the member State and made public two months after the transmission unless the government in question expressly opposes its publication.

<sup>11.</sup> ECRI, Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, at page 13.

<sup>12.</sup> ECRI, Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, at page 14.

Each second round report produced by ECRI noted progress – or lack of progress – concerning the proposals set out in its first round report; updated the substantive content of the report; and reviewed issues of particular concern in each member State.

This section of the Review extracts and summarises the *main messages* in ECRI's fortythree second round country-by-country reports.

# 2. Main messages of ECRI's second round reports; issues monitored and standards developed.

# a. International legal instruments

ECRI encourages all member States to ratify the full complement of international instruments concerning racism and intolerance and to refrain from lodging any reservations to the provisions of such instruments.

In pursuance of this goal, ECRI actively monitors the ratification and incorporation by member States of the key international human rights instruments concerning racism and intolerance. These include: the European Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and its Protocols; the Council of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities; the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and other international instruments elaborated by the Council of Europe, the United Nations and the International Labour Organisation.

ECRI works to ensure that member States have ratified and incorporated into domestic law all of the relevant instruments in this field.

ECRI emphasises that information concerning the principles, purposes and complaints mechanisms available under these instruments should be disseminated widely among the general public and the legal profession.

# Pursuing ratification of international instruments

Where there is a national impediment to ratification or incorporation of an international instrument (for example on the grounds that a provision of the instrument is incompatible with the State's constitution) ECRI urges member States to pursue ratification and incorporation of the instrument in question, including through proposing enabling constitutional amendments.<sup>13</sup>

In addition to monitoring the ratification of international instruments by States, ECRI *examines the operational status* of such instruments in the domestic law of member States. It places the onus upon member States to ensure that ratified international instruments have effect. This issue is of particular importance with regard to member States which follow a so called "dualist system".

<sup>13.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on France, at paragraph 2.

In a "dualist" state, ratified international treaties do not automatically become part of the domestic law of the state, but generally must be transformed into the domestic law in order for the treaty to have effect at domestic level. In respect of such dualist states, ECRI recommends that steps be taken to transpose relevant international instruments into the domestic law of the state. The dualist member States of the Council of Europe include Ireland, Norway, and the United Kingdom.

#### Incorporation of international instruments

In its second report on Norway, ECRI noted that a number of international instruments, including the European Convention on Human Rights had been incorporated into the domestic law of the State. ECRI encouraged the Norwegian authorities to proceed with the incorporation of other international human rights conventions and to ensure that all international human rights instruments enjoy the same status within the domestic legal order.<sup>14</sup>

In "monist states", once ratified, international instruments become part of the domestic law.

#### Awareness raising \_

Azerbaijan is a "monist" State. ECRI has encouraged the Azerbaijani authorities to ensure that the legal community is aware of the provisions of the international instruments which are binding upon States.15

In respect of both dualist and monist states, ECRI emphasises that the national authorities should ensure that the primacy of international instruments over domestic law is upheld in practice.

# b) Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions

İ. Constitutional provisions

Many member States have written constitutions which formally guarantee equality before the law and protection from discrimination to individuals within the jurisdiction of the State. ECRI carefully examines the substantive content, practical application and implementation of such constitutional provisions in member States and makes recommendations aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of such provisions.

As regards the substantive provisions, in general these should include a guarantee of equality before the law for all persons and a prohibition of discrimination against all persons on a number of enumerated grounds including, at a minimum; race, colour, language, national or ethnic origin, sex, religion and nationality. The effect of the provisions should be the prohibition of all possible discrimination against individuals present on the territory of member States. ECRI is supportive of the introduction and retention of supplementary constitutional protections for members of particularly vulnerable

ECRI second report on Norway, at paragraph 2.
 ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 5.
 For example, see ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 8.

groups.<sup>16</sup> ECRI also supports constitutional provisions which provide a legal basis for the adoption of positive action in favour of disadvantaged individuals and groups.<sup>17</sup>

#### Enumerated grounds .

In Sweden, the "Instrument of Government" states that no act of law or other provision may imply the unfavourable treatment of a citizen by reason of race, colour or ethnic origin. A foreign national within the realm shall be equated with a Swedish citizen in respect of protection against unfavourable treatment on these grounds. ECRI noted, however, that there is no constitutional provision specifically protecting all persons against discrimination on the grounds of race, colour, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin and recommended that such provisions be introduced.18 -

ECRI encourages member States to refrain from providing for extensive restrictions on human rights and fundamental freedoms in constitutional provisions. In particular, ECRI is concerned that any restrictions on the peaceful expression of ethno-cultural identity may impact disproportionately upon particular groups.

#### Restrictions on the exercise of rights

In its second report on Turkey, ECRI noted that the Turkish Constitution makes possible wide limitations on the exercise of fundamental rights in order to safeguard, inter alia, public order, public interest and public morals. Specific restrictions are also set forth in relation to specific fundamental rights and freedoms. Furthermore, Article 14 of the Constitution provides that the exercise of rights with specified aims is prohibited. ECRI expressed concern that the scope of limitations to fundamental rights and freedoms contained in the provisions mentioned above made possible the imposition of wide restrictions on non-violent expression of ethno-cultural identity and considered that this situation impacted negatively on the possibility to guarantee more pluralism in Turkish society.<sup>19</sup>

However, ECRI also acknowledges that, in certain situations restrictions on the exercise of rights through constitutional provisions may be required in the interests of combating racism. In this regard, ECRI encourages States to ensure that a balance is struck between competing rights. For example, ECRI notes that restrictions on the right of freedom of expression, assembly and association may be required in order to combat racism. In its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, ECRI calls on States to ensure that any such restrictions are in conformity with the European Convention on Human Rights. For further information on Recommendation No. 7, see Section II B 2 (g).

ECRI has noted that, in some member States, constitutional provisions provide for the protection of the human rights of citizens without making any explicit reference to the situation of non-citizens. In several member States, constitutional courts have held that all or certain human rights protections set out in constitutional provisions

ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 5.
 ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 5.
 ECRI second report on Turkey, at paragraph 5.

apply to non-citizens.<sup>20</sup> In order to clear up any ambiguity concerning this issue. ECRI recommends that member States make express provision for the application of constitutional provisions to all persons within its jurisdiction.

# Application of constitutional provisions to all individuals \_

In its second report on the Ukraine, ECRI noted that the Constitution guarantees freedom from discrimination for all "citizens". ECRI recommended that this protection be extended to all individuals, not just to Ukrainian citizens.<sup>21</sup>

ECRI monitors the enforcement of constitutional provisions at national level and calls on States to adopt legislation, where necessary, to ensure the *implementation* of constitutional provisions in practice.

# Enforcement of constitutional provisions

In its first report on Belgium, ECRI expressed concern that prosecutions regarding the publication of racist material were frustrated by the complex court procedures involved. In its second report, ECRI noted that a constitutional amendment had been made aimed at resolving this problem. ECRI encouraged the Belgian authorities to monitor the operation of the amended procedures and to ensure effective implementation of the relevant legal provisions.<sup>21</sup>

ECRI has also emphasised that, where a constitution provides for a complaints procedure through which an individual can challenge the constitutionality of legislation or practices, activities aimed at raising awareness of the existence of such complaints mechanisms should be undertaken.<sup>23</sup>

# ii. Other basic legal provisions

ECRI examines national legislative provisions in key areas such as electoral law, citizenship, language, culture, religion and political parties. In regard to the specific situation in each member State, ECRI evaluates the extent to which such legislative provisions adequately prohibit discrimination, promote integration and protect vulnerable groups in practice. Where ECRI identifies a gap in legal protection and/or a failure to implement existing provisions, recommendations are addressed to the State concerned to remedy the situation.

ECRI also urges States to ensure that such legislation is in line with relevant international standards.

# (a) Electoral law

Positive and proactive measures should be undertaken to facilitate access for members of minority groups and non-citizens to registration for voting in elections. ECRI supports

<sup>20.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 7.

ECRI second report on Ukraine, at paragraph 7.
 ECRI second report on Belgium, at paragraph 3.
 See, for example, ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 10.

measures aimed at promoting the representation of members of minority groups in political life including, where appropriate, the relaxation of requirements concerning proficiency in the official language.<sup>24</sup>

#### Some examples of positive and proactive measures that ECRI has welcomed

In Ireland, a flexible approach to the requirement of declaring a permanent address in voting registration has been adopted in order to facilitate access to the voting register by the Traveller community.25

In Lithuania, a constitutional provision limiting eligibility to vote to citizens was amended. All permanent citizens, irrespective of their citizenship, can now vote in elections.<sup>26</sup>

In Poland, electoral law affords preferential threshold requirements to candidates from minority groups.27

(b) Citizenship law

Citizenship legislation should provide clear, transparent and inexpensive procedures in respect of naturalisation and the granting of citizen status. Access to such procedures by long-term residents, children born and raised in a state, non-citizen spouses, members of minority groups and returning refugees or displaced persons should be actively facilitated.

#### Naturalisation procedures

In Italy, the attribution of citizenship lies within the discretion of the authorities and the eligibility criteria set out are non-exhaustive. ECRI has encouraged Italy to simplify and standardise its naturalisation procedures.<sup>28</sup>

The criteria required for citizenship should be clearly set out. Criteria should not include elements such as physical or mental health which, by their nature, may be applied in an arbitrary and discriminatory manner. In addition, member States should ensure that requirements relating to levels of income and employment records of applicants for citizenship do not adversely affect or discriminate against particular groups.<sup>29</sup>

As regards the requirement of knowledge of the official language and the national constitution, where such knowledge is tested by examination, language teaching should be provided free of charge. In addition, targeted information activities should be undertaken to raise awareness of the requirements of language examinations and the availability of free tuition.<sup>30</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to facilitate the naturalisation of non-citizens who have lived in the territory of a State for a substantial period of time. ECRI has noted that the European standard regarding the required period of residency is 10 years. However,

<sup>24.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 15.

ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 75.
 ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 8.

<sup>27.</sup> ECRI second report on Poland, at paragraph 8.

<sup>28.</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraphs 8-10.

See ECRI's second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", at paragraph 7.
 ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraphs 9-11.

ECRI continues to encourage member States to retain any shorter periods of time prescribed in domestic law in order to facilitate the integration of immigrant populations legally resident in a State.<sup>31</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to provide information on how to apply for citizenship status and on the benefits of obtaining such status. Information campaigns should be targeted at marginalised groups and other groups which may be unaware of their eligibility for citizenship status.

#### Awareness raising

ECRI has encouraged the Ukrainian authorities to ensure that repatriated members of the formerly deported population are aware of the ways in which they can apply for citizenship through naturalisation.32

The authorities must ensure that citizenship legislation is implemented consistently throughout the territory. In particular, the processing of applications by local authorities should be closely supervised by the central authorities in order to prevent any instances of discriminatory practices.<sup>33</sup> Member States should also ensure that, in their application, legislative provisions enable the authorities to take into account the special circumstances of applicants for citizenship status.

#### Special circumstances

In Croatia, an administrative decision was taken exempting returning refugees and displaced persons from the five years continuous residency in Croatia required for the granting of citizenship status. ECRI welcomed this measure and encouraged the authorities to ensure that the administrative decision was uniformly applied at the local level.<sup>34</sup>

In the Czech Republic, ECRI encouraged the authorities to adopt a flexible approach regarding proof of residence in respect of applications for citizenship from members of the Roma/Gypsy community holding Slovak citizenship.35

ECRI encourages member States to refrain from insisting that applicants for citizenship renounce their existing citizenship status before acquiring citizenship status from the state concerned. In other words, ECRI encourages States to make provision for dual citizenship status. ECRI notes that acceptance of dual citizenship status is a growing trend in Europe and is in line with the provisions of the European Convention on Nationality. Such provisions currently exist in several member States, for example, in Sweden.

# (c) Language law

ECRI encourages States to establish and maintain legal provision for the recognition of minority languages, where appropriate with regard to the population of such minorities

<sup>31.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Italy at paragraph 10 and ECRI second report on Denmark at paragraph 5.

<sup>32.</sup> ECRI second report on Ukraine, at paragraph 10.

ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 6.
 ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 11.
 ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 6.

in the territory. Minority aroups should be fully involved in the elaboration of such provisions. Legislation, policy and practice in this area should be kept under review to ensure that provisions are consistently implemented throughout the territory of the State. ECRI recommends that supervisory mechanisms be established to ensure the implementation of relevant legal provisions.

#### Supervisory mechanisms

Legislation which entered into force in Sweden in April 2000 establishes the right to use the Sami, Finnish and Meänkieli languages in contacts with administrative authorities and in courts of law. Sweden recognises five national minority languages. ECRI recommended the establishment of a supervisory mechanism to ensure compliance with relevant provisions.<sup>36</sup>

In the case of certain member States which were formerly part of the USSR – for example Latvia, Ukraine and Estonia – the authorities have introduced measures to establish and promote the national language as the sole language for certain administrative procedures and employment in the public sector. As regards employment in the private sector, legislative measures providing that employees must have a command of the State language where a "legitimate public interest" exists have been introduced. ECRI encourages States to monitor the operation of such legislative provisions in the private sector in order to ensure that their application is strictly limited to situations where a "legitimate public interest" is clearly established.<sup>37</sup> In addition, lessons in the official language should be provided free of charge and should be easily accessible.<sup>38</sup>

(d) Culture

ECRI supports the introduction and retention of legal provisions guaranteeing members of national, ethnic or other minority groups the freedom to maintain and develop their customs and traditions. Typically, such provisions may include establishing the right of minority groups to establish cultural institutions, cultural autonomy and to participate in the resolution of matters connected with their cultural identity.<sup>39</sup>

# Cultural autonomy

In Estonia, legislation sets out the right of "individuals belonging to a national minority to establish cultural autonomy in order to achieve the cultural rights given to them by the Constitution". ECRI has urged the authorities to develop this legislation and ensure its implementation in the interests of protecting the culture and identity of Estonia's minority groups.<sup>40</sup>

# (e) Religion

ECRI supports provisions guaranteeing freedom of faith and religion for all. Any provisions restricting this freedom must not exceed the limits set out in Article 9 of the European Convention on Human Rights, which provides that any such limitations must be prescribed by law and necessary in a democratic society. In particular, ECRI

<sup>36.</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraphs 8-10.

See, for example, ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 48. 37.

<sup>38.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 14.

See, for example, ECRI second report on Poland at paragraph 5.
 ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 16.

encourages member States to undertake measures to ensure that all religious groups can apply for registration of their status and that such measures are implemented without discrimination.41

#### Registration of religious groups \_

In Armenia, the Jehovah's Witnesses were refused registration as a religious organisation, on the grounds that their general refusal to perform military service was contrary to the Constitution and national legislation. ECRI encouraged the authorities to fulfil an outstanding undertaking to introduce 'alternative service' provisions for conscientious objectors in the interests of resolving this difficulty.<sup>42</sup>

# (f) Political parties

The existence of political parties and organisations which incite and support racial, religious, regional or ethnic hatred is prohibited in constitutional provisions and other legal provisions in several member States, including Albania<sup>43</sup> and Ukraine.<sup>44</sup> ECRI is broadly supportive of such measures. However, ECRI encourages States to ensure that restrictions on the establishment and operation of political parties do not infringe upon the right of minority and other groups to establish political parties or discriminate against legitimate political groupings.45

# c) Criminal Law

ECRI monitors the operation of the criminal law in member States with a view to ensuring that its provisions are both adequate and implemented effectively. As a general guide to ensuring best practice in this area, ECRI has elaborated standards concerning substantive legal provisions, implementation, the role of prosecution authorities, law enforcement agencies and third parties, training, awareness raising and data collection, which should be followed by all member States. These standards are described below.

Substantive provisions İ.

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, ECRI encourages member States to ensure that their criminal law provisions include adequate incitement to hatred legislation, define common offences of a racist or xenophobic nature as specific offences and consider racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance when sentencing.<sup>46</sup>

The substantive provisions of the criminal law in members States in this area typically cover: incitement to hatred, genocide, discriminatory practices in the public and private sector, racist or xenophobic defamation or insults, the establishment of racist organisations, destruction of religious sites and the desecration of graves.

ECRI second report on Bulgaria, at paragraph 8.
 ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraphs 13-14.

<sup>43.</sup> ECRI second report on Albania, at paragraph 3.

<sup>44.</sup> ECRI second report on Ukraine, at paragraph 8.

 <sup>45.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Bulgaria, at paragraph 6.
 46. For further information on this General Policy Recommendation, see section II B 2 (g).

At a minimum, ECRI urges all member States to include a prohibition of incitement to national, racial or religious hatred or intolerance within the criminal law. ECRI further recommends that legal provisions concerning incitement to hatred should address the common manifestations of racism and intolerance experienced in a particular State.<sup>47</sup> Additional recommendations concerning the content of criminal law provisions are set out in ECRI's General Recommendation No. 7, including, for example, the recommendation that the criminal law should penalise the expression of ideologies which aim to depreciate or denigrate a grouping of persons.

As regards the scope of the prohibition, States should ensure that it applies to all relevant media including audio-visual and electronic. In addition, States should ensure that criminal law provisions in this area apply to all persons present on their territory and not only to citizens.48

ECRI has noted that the criminal law provisions of many member States do not define common offences of a racist or xenophobic nature as specific offences or consider racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance when sentencing. ECRI strongly recommends the introduction of such provisions in order to ensure the consistent and systematic prosecution and sentencing of offences of a racist nature.

In some member States, the criminal law extends only a discretionary power to the courts to decide whether or not to consider racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance for offences.<sup>49</sup> ECRI encourages member States to replace discretionary provisions with strict legal measures providing for specific offences and requirements as regards sentencing.

#### Specific offences and sentencing \_

In the United Kingdom, in 1998, legislation was introduced which created new offences of racially aggravated violence and harassment and gave statutory force to case law requiring judges to consider evidence of racist motivation for any offence as an aggravating factor in sentencing. ECRI recommended that the UK authorities take a further step and introduce a legal provision "requiring the prosecuting authority to place before the courts any evidence tending to show that a specific offence has been committed on racial grounds"50

Member States should ensure that the penalties provided for in the criminal law are sufficient so as to provide a deterrent effect. In particular, the effect of fines imposed on service providers such as bars and restaurants should be to dissuade them from continuing discriminatory practices such as refusing access to members of specific groups.51

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7,52 ECRI supports the inclusion within the criminal law of a prohibition on the establishment, support of, or

See, for example, ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 24.
 ECRI second report on Ukraine, at paragraph 16.

<sup>49.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Portugal, at paragraph 11.

<sup>50.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 8.

ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraphs 7-8.
 See Section II B 2 (g) concerning ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7.

participation in, groups which promote racism.<sup>53</sup> ECRI considers that such measures send a clear signal that the behaviour of such groups will not be tolerated. However, ECRI urges member States to ensure that such provisions are not used to restrict the establishment of ethno-cultural or linguistic associations set up to facilitate the expression of cultural identity by minority groups.54

ECRI notes that the prohibition of discrimination in relation to the exercise of rights and the provision of services is dealt with by some member States in criminal law provisions and by others in civil law provisions. ECRI encourages member States to ensure that criminal law provisions are supplemented by an adequate parallel body of civil antidiscrimination legislation addressing matters that may fall outside of the ambit of the criminal law.55

ii. Implementation

In its second round reports on member States, ECRI noted a general lack of implementation of criminal law provisions concerning racist crime, despite reports of widespread incidents of racially-motivated crime and discrimination. To effectively counter non-implementation of legal provisions, ECRI encourages member States to actively review the implementation of criminal law provisions in this area.

In particular, the number of prosecutions brought under incitement to hatred legislation and other provisions relating to offences of a racist nature should be monitored. Where this number is low, States should examine possible reasons for the lack of prosecutions. Such an examination might include an assessment of "the actual extent of racial discrimination and racial insults and harassment within society and the attitudes of the police, prosecutors and courts in receiving and dealing with complaints".56

The practical application of legal provisions should also be examined. In particular, the clarity, adequacy and enforcement of the legal provisions in place should be assessed. As regards enforcement, member States should ensure that the high standard of proof required for criminal offences, and the application of any procedural rules attached to the prosecution of such offences, do not frustrate the prosecutions or the securing of convictions.

# Standard of proof

In Sweden, ECRI noted that the number of convictions secured under criminal law provisions prohibiting discrimination was very low. This was partly due to the high standard of proof required to establish a specific intent to discriminate. ECRI encouraged the Swedish authorities to introduce civil law provisions, where standards of proof are lower, in order to ensure that anti-discrimination provisions could be implemented effectively.57

ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 8 (see also ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 11).
 ECRI second report on Turkey, at paragraph 8.

<sup>55.</sup> See section II A 2 (d) on Civil and administrative law below.

<sup>56.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 11.
57. ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraphs 18 – 19 (see also, ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 11 and ECRI second report on Denmark, at paragraph 6).

#### Procedural rules

In France, ECRI expressed concern that the procedural rules for the prosecution of incitement to hatred, slander and libel offences were overly strict. ECRI encouraged the French authorities to introduce legislative reform aimed at ensuring that such offences could be effectively prosecuted.58

#### iii. Prosecution authorities

ECRI has elaborated a number of recommendations regarding the role of prosecution authorities in ensuring the implementation of criminal law in this area. First, where the decision to prosecute offences of a racist nature lies within the discretion of the public prosecutor, ECRI encourages the authorities to place an obligation on the public prosecutor to publish his/her reasons for not prosecuting a case. ECRI considers that such a measure will dissuade public prosecutors from not pursuing prosecutions for reasons of expediency.59

Secondly, the authorities should actively monitor adherence to any guidelines issued to public prosecutors regarding the prosecution of offences of a racist nature.<sup>60</sup>

Thirdly, ECRI encourages member States to enable prosecutors to pursue prosecutions of their own volition in the absence of a complaint from a victim.<sup>61</sup>

#### Enforcement of legal provisions \_

In the Netherlands, a National Discrimination Expertise Centre, attached to the public prosecution service, was established. The role of the Centre is to improve enforcement of criminal law provisions regarding racial discrimination. ECRI welcomed the establishment of the Centre and stressed the importance of its role in improving local law enforcement of criminal law in relation to discrimination.62

iv. Law enforcement agencies

ECRI supports the establishment of specific units within law enforcement agencies charged with countering incidents of racially-motivated offences and the activities of racist groups. Such units should also be tasked with ensuring that offences of racist nature are identified as racist incidents and treated as such during police investigations.

#### Anti-racism units

In the United Kingdom, a Racist and Violent Crime Task Group was established within the London Metropolitan Police to counter racist crimes. ECRI urged the authorities to consider establishing such task groups within police forces in other parts of the country.<sup>63</sup>

ECRI second report on France, at paragraph 6.
 ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 6.

<sup>60.</sup> ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 9.

<sup>61.</sup> ECRI second report on Greece, at paragraph 6.

<sup>62.</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 5.
63. ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 10.

v. Third parties

ECRI encourages member States to enable interested third parties, such as associations and individuals to initiate civil proceedings in respect of racist incidents.<sup>64</sup>

# vi. Training

In order to promote the effective operation of the criminal law in practice, ECRI advocates the delivery of training to all actors involved in the criminal justice system including the police, prosecuting authorities and the judiciary. Such training should focus on the investigation, prosecution and sentencing of racist crimes and address the ways in which racism and discrimination manifest themselves in practice.

Training \_

In Spain, where ECRI found that criminal law provisions in this field are rarely applied, it encouraged the authorities to provide training to the police, prosecution authorities and judges. ECRI indicated that the aim of the training should be to ensure that the racist element of offences is taken into account at all stages of the criminal process, and to impress upon the officials concerned the need to actively counter racist offences.<sup>65</sup>

Training and awareness raising delivered to law enforcement officers, the judiciary and members of the legal community should be focused on the need to combat institutional racism. Institutional racism has been defined as:

"the collective failure of an organisation to provide an appropriate and professional service to people because of their colour, culture or ethnic origin. It can be seen in processes, attitudes and behaviour which amount to discrimination through unwitting prejudice, ignorance, thoughtlessness and racist stereotyping which disadvantage minority ethnic people".<sup>66</sup>

vii. Awareness raising

Targeted awareness raising activities aimed at the general public, officials and vulnerable groups should be undertaken. With respect to the first focus group, the authorities should express clear condemnation of any incidents of racially motivated crime and declare a resolute commitment to combat such incidents.<sup>67</sup> As regards officials involved in the criminal justice system, in addition to the training described above, activities should be undertaken to increase awareness and promote partnership between all agencies involved in this field.

<sup>64.</sup> ECRI second report on Greece, at paragraph 6.

<sup>65.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 12 (see also, ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 5).

<sup>66.</sup> Excerpt from the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry Report, UK, 24 February 1999, cited in ECRI's second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 6.

<sup>67.</sup> ECRI second report on Slovakia, at paragraph 55.

#### Co-operation between relevant actors

In the Netherlands, a "Partnership Training Programme" aimed at improving co-operation between the police, public prosecution service, anti-discrimination centres and municipal authorities was set up. ECRI encouraged the authorities to ensure the participation of minority groups in the programme.<sup>68</sup>

With respect to vulnerable groups, measures aimed at encouraging victims of racist offences to come forward and lodge complaints should be undertaken. Such measures should include disseminating information concerning relevant criminal law provisions and encouraging victims to approach the police with complaints. Confidence building measures, aimed at demonstrating to minority groups that complaints will be properly handled and investigated, should be initiated.<sup>69</sup> Such measures might include the appointment of persons with particular responsibility for dealing with complaints of racist crime within the police force,<sup>70</sup> and the increased recruitment of members of minority groups into the police service.

viii Data collection

Data concerning racist incidents should be collected. The police and prosecuting authorities should set up and maintain systems of monitoring, classification and recording of racist incidents brought to their attention and the follow-up and outcome of the examination of such incidents.<sup>71</sup> Information collected should include the number of offences reported to the police, the number of cases prosecuted, the reasons for nonprosecution and the outcome of prosecutions pursued.<sup>72</sup>

As regards methodology, ECRI recommends that the following principles should apply to the collection of data. Information concerning the ethnic origin of victims should be recorded on the basis of self-identification of ethnic origin by the victim and confidentiality of the data recorded. Racist incidents should be defined as any incident which is perceived to be racist by the victim or any other person.<sup>73</sup> Finally, the police should be instructed to consider the possible racist nature of all crimes of violence reported to them as a matter of course.<sup>74</sup>

# d) Civil and administrative law

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, ECRI encourages all member States to adopt

<sup>68.</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 7.

ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 12.
 ECRI second report on Slovakia, at paragraph 57.

<sup>71.</sup> ECRI second report on Liechtenstein, at paragraph 14.

<sup>72.</sup> ECRI second report on Hungary, at paragraph 10.
73. ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 9.
74. ECRI second report on Hungary, at paragraph 10.

and maintain a comprehensive body of anti-discrimination legislation prohibiting discrimination in all fields of life.75

In countries where discrimination appears not to be a problem, the introduction of comprehensive legislation can reveal any instances of hidden discrimination and play a preventative role as regards any future social or demographic changes.<sup>76</sup> In its second round reports on member States, ECRI set a number of standards which should inform the elaboration and maintenance of anti-discrimination legislation in member States. These cover substantive legal provisions, implementation, awareness raising and data collection.

#### Substantive provisions İ.

ECRI considers that civil and administrative law should contain an express prohibition of:

- discrimination in all fields of life including employment, education, housing, health, goods and services intended for the public, access to public places, access to public and social services, contractual relations between individuals, exercise of economic activity; and
- discrimination on grounds such as: race, colour, religion, language, nationality, national and ethnic origin.77

Anti-discrimination legislation should be country specific and should address the specific manifestations of racism and intolerance in the state concerned, ensuring, for example, that membership of vulnerable groups in the state are included in the list of 'grounds' upon which discrimination is prohibited.

# Country-specific legal provisions \_

In its second report on Ireland, ECRI welcomed the introduction of a body of anti-discrimination legislation prohibiting discrimination in employment, education, provision of goods, services, accommodation and disposal of property. Discrimination is prohibited on nine grounds, including membership of the Traveller community, an ethnic minority group in Ireland.78

Member States of the European Union should ensure that anti-discrimination legislation is in conformity with the EU Directive on implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin, and the EU Directive on establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.<sup>79</sup> These Directives require the introduction of legal provisions prohibiting direct and indirect discrimination in all fields and providing for the "sharing of the burden of proof" between

<sup>75.</sup> See Section II B 2 (g) concerning ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7.

<sup>76.</sup> ECRI second report on Albania, at paragraph 9.

<sup>77</sup> See for example, ECRI second report on Spain at paragraph 14

<sup>78.</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, paragraphs 14-17.

EU Directive 2000/43/EC and EU Directive 2000/78/EC.
 "A shared burden of proof means that the complainant should establish facts allowing for the presumption of discrimination, whereupon the onus shifts to the respondent to prove that discrimination did not take place", Explanatory memorandum to ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, at paragraph 29.

<sup>81.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 21.

alleged victims of discrimination and the accused.<sup>80</sup> Non EU member States should also elect to follow the standards set out in both Directives.<sup>81</sup>

Anti-discrimination legislation should apply to both the public and private sectors. ECRI encourages member States to give consideration to extending the application of such legislation to law enforcement agencies.82

#### Scope of application of legislation -

In its second report on the United Kingdom, ECRI welcomed a legislative proposal pending before Parliament which proposed to bring public authorities, including the police, within the ambit of anti-discrimination legislation.83

ECRI supports the introduction of provisions within anti-discrimination legislation providing for positive action such as promotion of equality. Where a positive duty is placed on public authorities to promote equality, States should ensure compliance with such duties including through establishing adequate enforcement mechanisms.<sup>84</sup>

#### Positive action

In its second report on Romania, ECRI welcomed the introduction of anti-discrimination legislation which allows for positive action "for persons and groups of persons belonging to national minorities and, for the communities of national minorities, with a view to protecting disadvantaged groups which do not enjoy equal opportunities".85

The protection afforded by anti-discrimination legislation should apply to non-citizens and citizens alike, except where restrictions on the rights of non-citizens are justified.

Only those instances of differential treatment which have an objective and reasonable justification are considered not to be discriminatory. ECRI's position on this issue, which is based on the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights, is set out in its General Policy Recommendation No.7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination.<sup>86</sup> For further information concerning this Recommendation see Section II B 2 (g).

ECRI encourages States to ensure that identity documents and birth certificates do not include information regarding ethnic, religious or other minority group origin.87

ECRI encourages States to periodically review the provisions and operation of their anti-discrimination legislation in order to ensure the continuing relevance and effectiveness of the legislation in practice.

<sup>82.</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 12.

<sup>83.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 15.

ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 18.
 ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 11.

<sup>86.</sup> See ECRI General Policy Recommendation No.7, at paragraphs 1(b) and (c) and the Explanatory Memorandum to the Recommendation, at paragraph 8.

See ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 16 and ECRI second report on Turkey, at paragraph 10.
 ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 17.

ECRI encourages member States to view the process of adopting comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation as a positive process through which research and debate concerning the extent of direct and indirect discrimination in the State, and how to combat it, will be stimulated.<sup>88</sup>

Any exemptions on the application of anti-discrimination legislation to legislation or ministerial orders in the immigration field should be kept under close review. Such exemptions should be reconsidered in light of any evidence that they lead to discriminatory practices.<sup>89</sup>

# ii. Implementation

Member States should ensure that anti-discrimination legislation is fully and consistently implemented throughout the jurisdiction of the State. In particular, States should ensure that the application of local or regional rules, for example concerning registration of residence, do not operate to frustrate the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation.<sup>90</sup>

# (a) Enforcement mechanisms

It is axiomatic that, in order to be effective, anti-discrimination legislation must be coupled with an effective implementation mechanism. ECRI therefore encourages member States to establish specialised bodies to combat racism and racial discrimination, with specific mandates to ensure the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation.<sup>91</sup> In addition, ECRI encourages member States to ensure the implementation of any preexisting civil and administrative law provisions in this field.<sup>92</sup>

As regards specialised bodies, ECRI encourages member States to monitor the procedural requirements of the anti-discrimination legislation under which such bodies operate. In particular States, should take measures to ensure that, in practice, all persons have access to complaints mechanisms. Such measures might include ensuring that restrictive time limits in respect of submitting a complaint, do not apply. For further information concerning specialised bodies, see section II B 2 (b).

# (b) Burden of proof

In some member States, a victim must prove that the respondent intended to discriminate against them or discriminated against them on unjustifiable grounds. ECRI urges all member States to ensure that burden of proof requirements do not operate to frustrate or impede the processing of complaints of discrimination. In particular, ECRI

<sup>89.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 19.

<sup>90.</sup> ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 35.

<sup>91.</sup> For further information, see ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 2 concerning specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level. See also Section II B 2 (b) of this report, which examines General Policy Recommendation No. 2.

<sup>92.</sup> ECRI second report on Andorra, at paragraph 10.

urges all member States to make provision for the sharing of the burden of proof between alleged victims of discrimination and the accused, in line with the European Union Directives 2000/43/CF and 2000/78/CF.93

#### Shared burden of proof \_

In Finland, under employment law provisions, victims must prove that the accused discriminated against them "without acceptable reason" for the difference in treatment to constitute discrimination. ECRI recommended that this burden of proof be shifted in the context of the implementation by Finland of EU Directive 2000/78/CE.94

# (c) Role of third parties

ECRI is supportive of measures which enable non-governmental organisations to bring complaints of discrimination before the national courts on behalf of victims.<sup>95</sup> Measures allowing representative organisations to instigate proceedings before specialised bodies on behalf of victims are also welcomed.<sup>96</sup>

iii. Awareness raising

Awareness-raising activities aimed at promoting knowledge of the existence of antidiscrimination legislation should be undertaken. Such activities should be targeted at specific groups, including employers and employees, persons offering public services, members of the legal community and judiciary and members of minority groups.

As regards the substance of awareness raising activities – in particular, those activities targeted at actors in the employment, legal and law enforcement sectors - the nature of direct, indirect and institutional discrimination should be addressed.

Activities targeted at the general public should focus on existence of complaints mechanisms<sup>97</sup> and the application of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation to relationships between individuals, for example in employment and access to public places, should also be highlighted.98

iv. Data collection

Comprehensive statistical information concerning the application of anti-discrimination legislation in the area of civil and administrative law should be collected.99

<sup>93. &</sup>quot;A shared burden of proof means that the complainant should establish facts allowing for the presumption of discrimination, whereupon the onus shifts to the respondent to prove that discrimination did not take place", Explanatory memorandum to ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, at paragraph 29.

 <sup>94.</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 10.
 95. See for example, ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 11.

<sup>96.</sup> See for example, ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 11.

ECRI second report on Slovenia at paragraph 15.
 ECRI second report on Andorra, at paragraph11.
 ECRI second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", at paragraph 14.
# e) Administration of justice

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that instances of discrimination do not occur at any stage during the administration of justice. As a starting point, States must ensure the existence of an independent judicial system founded on the rule of law and the enforcement of judicial decisions. As regards more specific safeguards against discrimination by actors involved in the administration of justice, ECRI has set out a number of measures which States should undertake and implement in order to prevent discriminatory practices from occurring. These include training, awareness raising, monitoring sentencing and prosecution practices, facilitating access to the justice system, ensuring consistency in the administration of justice and data collection.



"All different, all equal"

i. Training and awareness raising

Training and awareness raising activities concerning racism, intolerance, prejudice and discrimination and relevant legal provisions should be delivered to all actors involved in the administration of justice including judges, lawyers, prosecutors, the police and prison officers.

With respect to the police, officers should receive systematic and ongoing training regarding racism and discrimination and how to deal with complaints about racist and discriminatory incidents. Border and immigration officials should receive specific training on receiving immigrants and asylum seekers and informing them as to their rights and the asylum application process.<sup>100</sup>

Any reports of racially-derogatory comments made by judges in the course of a case or in public should be examined and measures taken to prevent any further incidences.<sup>101</sup>

<sup>100.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland at paragraph 19.

<sup>101.</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 10.

ii. Sentencing and prosecution practices

ECRI urges States to monitor sentencing practices and undertake measures to prevent the imposition of disproportionately harsh sentences on members of specific groups. It has suggested that such measures might include:

- · delivering relevant training for judges and prosecutors;
- undertaking research into the representation of non-nationals and members of minority groups in the detainee population of States. Where such representation is disproportionately high, additional research should be undertaken to examine issues such as access for these groups to non-custodial sanctions;<sup>102</sup> and
- ensuring that non-citizens are afforded the same rights as citizens as regards conditions for pre-trial detention.<sup>103</sup>

Member States should monitor prosecution practices with a view to identifying any instances of disproportionate rates of prosecution of members of minority groups. Any such practices should be combated by way of training and awareness raising initiatives.<sup>104</sup>

iii. Access to the justice system

ECRI recommends that member States undertake the following measures, where relevant, to ensure that all members of the public enjoy access to the justice system in practice as well as in theory:

- free legal aid should be made available to persons without means<sup>105</sup> and awareness raising activities publicising the availability of free legal aid (where available) should be undertaken, including in collaboration with non-governmental organisations working in the field;<sup>106</sup>
- adequate interpretation and translation facilities should be provided for all persons without a command of the official language at all stages of proceedings, including immediate access to counsel. Awareness-raising activities should highlight the availability of such services.<sup>107</sup>
- efforts should be made to promote the recruitment of members of minority groups into all institutions involved in the administration of justice.
  - iv. Ensuring consistency in the administration of justice

The administration of justice should be monitored in order to ensure consistent application of laws and sentencing provisions throughout the territory of member States. Such monitoring is of particular importance in member States with a federal system of government.

<sup>102.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 15.

<sup>103.</sup> ECRI second report on Hungary, at paragraph 16.

<sup>104.</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 23.

<sup>105.</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 11.

<sup>106.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 20.

<sup>107.</sup> ECRI second report on Moldova, at paragraph 14.

In its second report on the Russian Federation, ECRI expressed concern that relevant decisions of the Constitutional Court, including as regards residence permits, are not adhered to by federal authorities. ECRI urged the authorities to undertake measures to ensure that decisions of the Constitutional Court which are of relevance to its mandate are followed by the relevant authorities.<sup>108</sup>

v. Data collection

ECRI recommends that member States collect and retain information concerning the ethnic, minority group or national origin of all persons who come into contact with the criminal justice system. The assessment of such data can assist in the identification of any problem areas and of the measures best suited to tackle the specific problems identified.

## Monitoring \_

In its second report on the United Kingdom, ECRI welcomed the extensive ethnic monitoring of the criminal justice system including stops/searches, arrests, cautions, homicides and deaths in custody. ECRI encouraged the authorities to further extend such monitoring throughout all stages of the judicial process.<sup>109</sup>

# f) Specialised bodies and other institutions

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 2, ECRI encourages States to establish specialised bodies and other institutions to combat racism and discrimination.<sup>110</sup> In particular, ECRI urges member States to make provision for the establishment of such bodies in the context of the elaboration of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation, in view of the central role which such bodies can play in implementing anti-discrimination provisions.<sup>111</sup>

ECRI recognises that such bodies may take the form of an ombudsman, human rights commission, equality body or other institution. On occasion, ECRI has expressed a preference for the establishment of a single dedicated body charged with combating racism, discrimination and intolerance, as opposed to simply including or adding this function to the mandate of a larger body with a broad mandate to protect human rights in the State.<sup>112</sup>

In addition to the broad recommendations set out in General Policy Recommendation No. 2, ECRI has highlighted a number of operational standards regarding the work of such bodies.

<sup>108.</sup> ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 16.

<sup>109.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 22.

<sup>110.</sup> For further information, concerning General Policy Recommendation No. 2, see section II B 2 (b).

<sup>111.</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 20.

<sup>112.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 18.

i. Composition, mandate and powers

In its General Policy Recommendation No. 2, concerning specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, ECRI recommends that "the composition of specialised bodies taking the form of commissions and the like should reflect society at large and its diversity". For further information concerning this Recommendation, see Section II B 2 (b) of this report.

The mandates of specialised bodies should be robust and include the power to supervise the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation, provide effective means of redress for cases of discrimination, provide legal aid and assistance to victims of discrimination and have recourse to the courts.<sup>113</sup> Mandates should extend to combating discrimination in all fields of life.

ECRI welcomes provisions which give specialised bodies the power to make legallybinding decisions. In member States where such provisions do not exist, ECRI encourages the authorities to give consideration to enhancing the status of decision of such bodies.

#### Quasi-judicial powers \_

ECRI encouraged the Government of the Netherlands to enhance the status of decisions of the Equal Treatment Commission by requiring courts to follow the Commission's decisions in the absence of compelling reasons to the contrary.<sup>114</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to make provision for the exercise of a range of legally enforceable powers by specialised bodies.

## Legally enforceable powers

In its second report on the United Kingdom, ECRI recommended that the following powers be conferred on the Commission for Racial Equality: the power to initiate an investigation in the absence of prior evidence of discrimination and the power to serve legally enforceable non-compliance notices on public authorities which fail to comply with their statutory duty to promote racial equality.<sup>115</sup>

ii. Independence and impartiality

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 2, ECRI calls on States to ensure that specialised bodies are independent of government.<sup>116</sup> In practice, such bodies must be not only be independent in terms of their composition, mandate, functions, but must also be perceived as independent. Specialised bodies must be provided with adequate financial and human resources, in order to facilitate the execution of their work independent of government.

<sup>113.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 13.

<sup>114.</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 14.

<sup>115.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 27.

<sup>116.</sup> See section II B 2 (b) for further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 2.

#### Composition of specialised bodies

In its second report on Romania, ECRI expressed concern at reports that a proposed National Council to Combat Discrimination was to be established as an interministerial body. ECRI encouraged the authorities to consider the standards set out in General Policy Recommendation No. 2 as regards the requirement of independence of such bodies.<sup>117</sup>

The independence, continued existence and status of specialised bodies should be assured and enshrined in constitutional or other legislative provisions.<sup>118</sup>

- iii. Role of specialised bodies and other institutions
  - (a) Supervising the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation

ECRI considers that specialised bodies have a fundamental role to play in supervising the implementation of anti-discrimination legislation. In particular, ECRI supports the establishment of complaints mechanisms as an innovative way of facilitating access to justice for persons who have experienced discrimination. ECRI also encourages national institutions with broad human rights mandates to undertake activities in the field of racism and intolerance in complementarity with other specialised bodies active in the field.

(b) Investigating complaints of discrimination

ECRI encourages member States to establish specialised bodies which can "effectively and independently monitor the situation as concerns racism and racial discrimination in a particular country and assist in providing effective means of redress to victims". Where specialised bodies do not have any powers of investigation, member States should keep the need for such a provision under review.

The power to investigate allegations of discrimination is an important aspect of the work of quasi-judicial bodies.<sup>120</sup> In particular, ECRI welcomes provisions enabling specialised bodies to initiate investigations of their own volition, that is, even in the absence of a specific complaint.<sup>121</sup>

ECRI recommends that the ethnic or national origin of all complainants registering complaints of discrimination should be recorded.<sup>122</sup> The aim of gathering such information is to facilitate analyses of all complaints received with a view to identifying any patterns of discrimination or possible incidents of systemic discrimination.

<sup>117.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 21.

<sup>118.</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 21.

<sup>119.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 18.

<sup>120.</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 24.

<sup>121.</sup> ECRI second report on Cyprus, at paragraph 13.

<sup>122.</sup> ECRI second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", at paragraph 17.

ECRI has also recommended that specialised bodies should be in a position to award adequate remedies, including adequate compensation.<sup>123</sup>

## (c) Advisory and outreach role

ECRI encourages member States to mandate specialised bodies to prepare recommendations on law, proposed legislation, policy and practice both of their own volition and at the request of the authorities. In particular, ECRI welcomes the adoption of provisions obliging the authorities to seek the advice of specialised bodies on relevant matters.

#### Consultative role

In Hungary, ECRI expressed its support for the work of the Parliamentary Ombudsman for National and Ethnic Minorities and urged the Hungarian authorities to continue to act upon the observations and proposals of the Ombudsman in the field of legislation and policy.<sup>124</sup>

ECRI supports the establishment of advisory groups set up; to review, and advise the authorities on the situation of vulnerable groups in society, network with representatives of minority groups and provide information and advice to non-nationals and members of minority groups. In order to ensure maximum effectiveness, ECRI recommends that the outcomes of the work of such groups and the level of participation by representatives of minority groups be kept under review.<sup>125</sup>

(d) Awareness raising

ECRI notes that specialised bodies have a central role to play in raising awareness among the general public, official circles and minority groups of all aspects of racism and discrimination.<sup>126</sup> Targeted awareness raising campaigns concerning the existence of specialised bodies and complaints mechanisms should be undertaken.

#### Outreach work .

In it second report on Estonia, ECRI welcomed the work of the Ombudsman who participated in interviews with minority language media, planned visits to different counties and established regional offices in order to raise awareness of the existence of his office.<sup>127</sup>

#### Targeted materials and campaigns \_

In Ireland, the Equality Authority organised an Anti-Racism in the Workplace Week, and produced materials in a variety of languages and formats to highlight the existence of a new anti-discrimination legislative framework and complaints mechanism. Specifically designed materials were also prepared to raise awareness within the Traveller community, an ethnic minority in Ireland.<sup>128</sup> ECRI welcomed these initiatives.

<sup>123.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 20.

<sup>124.</sup> ECRI second report on Hungary, at paragraph 25.

<sup>125.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 13.

<sup>126.</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph13.

<sup>127.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 24.

<sup>128.</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 22.

ECRI encourages States to assign high political priority to the work of such bodies. The importance of raising awareness of the existence of specialised bodies among the general public, officials and members of the judiciary is also stressed.

iv. Co-ordination with other bodies and groups

ECRI encourages specialised bodies to ensure complementarity of action with other bodies active in the field of combating racism and discrimination, through on-going consultation and co-operation with relevant groups at local, national and international level.<sup>129</sup>

Members of minority groups should be actively involved in any initiatives aimed at ameliorating their situation.<sup>130</sup>

v. Conducting studies

Member States should ensure that a specialised or other independent body is tasked with carrying out research into racism and intolerance in the State.<sup>131</sup>

vi. Review of the work of specialised bodies

The performance and effectiveness of specialised anti-discrimination bodies should be kept under close and on-going review.<sup>132</sup> In particular, member States should ensure that, where specialised bodies are mandated to issue recommendations to public authorities, these recommendations are implemented in practice.<sup>133</sup>

# g) Education/training

i. Schools

In its second report on Croatia, ECRI stated:

"Educational processes are fundamental to ensure reconciliation in a long-term perspective. It is important that schools strive to break down negative sentiments and stereotypes about other ethnic and national groups and replace them with more impartial information both about minority groups and the majority."<sup>134</sup>

ECRI strongly recommends that member States make provision for the teaching of human rights education in schools on a compulsory basis. ECRI considers that human rights education must be delivered in a systematic fashion at all levels of education, including pre-school education, and has set out the following principles which should be incorporated into all educational systems operated by member States.

<sup>129.</sup> ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 24.

<sup>130.</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 16.

<sup>131.</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 19.

<sup>132.</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 33.

<sup>133.</sup> ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 19.

<sup>134.</sup> ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 70.



Prelude to the European Conference against Racism, October 2000

## (a) Content and delivery of human rights / anti-discrimination education

ECRI considers that human rights education should focus on the principles of equality, non-discrimination, the notion of tolerance and respect of difference.<sup>135</sup> Relevant national issues should be addressed in an atmosphere which promotes respect for diversity. In particular, school curricula should reflect the culture and background of both the children being taught and the wider society in which they live.<sup>136</sup>

As regards the national dimension of human rights education, ECRI encourages member States to pay particular attention to any specific manifestations of racism and/or intolerance in the country.

#### Country-specific materials \_

In its second report on the Russian Federation, ECRI noted that antisemitism was a persistent issue in the country and indicated that attention should be paid to this issue in the context of the development of human rights education text books and school curricula.<sup>137</sup>

Member States should keep curricula under regular review in order to ensure compliance with ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 1 on combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, which recommends that member States "ensure that school curricula, for example in the field of history teaching, are set up in such a way as to enhance the appreciation of cultural diversity".<sup>138</sup>

<sup>135.</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 22.

<sup>136.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 27.

<sup>137.</sup> ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 25.

<sup>138.</sup> For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 1, see Section II B 2 (a).

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that human rights education is not treated as an isolated subject. Rather, in addition to specific human rights education lessons, human rights concepts should be incorporated into other subjects at all levels of the education system.<sup>139</sup>

#### Mainstreaming human rights education

In Austria, ECRI noted that "intercultural education" takes the form of a recommendation to teachers to take relevant issues into account across all subjects. ECRI urged the authorities to ensure that all teachers received training in this regard and to monitor the application of this principle in the education delivered in practice.<sup>140</sup>

ECRI urges member States to take measures to combat the perpetuation of prejudice or stereotypes in schools. Such measures might include ensuring national curriculum guidelines are adhered to by all schools nationwide.<sup>141</sup> In particular, member States should monitor the integration of human rights education into teaching delivered in schools and should issue guidelines and encouragement in this connection where necessary.<sup>142</sup>

#### Consistency of education delivered

In its second report on Italy, ECRI encouraged the authorities to take measures, including enhancing existing evaluation systems, to ensure that cross-disciplinary intercultural education was consistently delivered in teaching in schools throughout the country.<sup>143</sup>

ECRI considers that any religious education lessons delivered in schools should embrace all religions. Where this is not the case, and instruction in a specific religion is delivered, children of other religious persuasions should not be obliged to attend such lessons. In addition, such lessons should promote understanding and knowledge of different faiths.<sup>144</sup>

In member States where children attend separate schools for reasons of religious affiliation or language, the authorities should undertake initiatives aimed at promoting understanding between students of different backgrounds.

#### Developing cross-cultural contacts \_

In its second report on Estonia, ECRI called on the authorities to deliver lessons on cultural diversity in all schools and to "continue and expand exchanges between pupils of different schools in order to foster contacts and friendships amongst children from all groups in society".<sup>145</sup>

45

<sup>139.</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 53.

<sup>140.</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 15.

<sup>141.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 20.

<sup>142.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 20.

<sup>143.</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 26. 144. ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 21.

<sup>145.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 27.

## (b) Teacher training and teaching materials

Teachers should be provided with on-going training concerning anti-discrimination issues. Member States should ensure that human rights education is taught in teacher training institutions as a compulsory subject.<sup>146</sup> As regards methodology, teacher training should focus on encouraging teachers to use interactive and participative methods of teaching.<sup>146</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to keep the content of teaching materials under review. In particular, history and other relevant textbooks used in lessons should be balanced and should reflect the contribution of minority, ethnic and other groups to the history of the State concerned. In addition, where appropriate, teaching materials should be made available in languages other than the official language and/or main language of instruction.<sup>148</sup>

ECRI urges member States to ensure that teachers receive training on how to teach in a multi-cultural environment and how to deal with any incidents of racism or intolerance which may arise within schools.<sup>149</sup> This is of particular importance in member States with an emerging multi-cultural society.<sup>150</sup>

## (c) Combating racism and harassment in schools

ECRI notes that several member States have experienced problems of harassment, racism and intolerance amongst school children, including clashes between students from different backgrounds and students wearing items associated with extremist groups.<sup>151</sup> ECRI recommends that member States take preventative measures in this connection.

## Measures to combat racism in schools

In Liechtenstein, the authorities introduced a new subject aimed at improving cultural understanding between children and undertook awareness raising activities targeted at students and teachers in order to combat and prevent incidents of racism and intolerance among students. ECRI recommended that the authorities focus on primary school education in order to prevent problems from arising at secondary level.<sup>152</sup>

## ii. Justice system and public authorities

ECRI recommends that human rights training be delivered to members of the police, prison service, legal community and public officials who come into contact with non-nationals, including immigrants and asylum seekers.<sup>153</sup>

<sup>146.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 20.

<sup>147.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 27.

<sup>148.</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 31.

<sup>149.</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 21.

<sup>150</sup> ECRI second report on Cyprus, at paragraph 20.

<sup>151.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second reports on Liechtenstein at paragraph 19 and ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 20.

<sup>152.</sup> ECRI second report on Liechtenstein, at paragraph 19.

<sup>153.</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 25.

As regards the police, ECRI urges member States to ensure that police officers receive systematic and on-going training regarding issues of racism and discrimination and how to handle complaints of racism and discrimination brought to their attention.

ECRI also underlines the need for specialised training for border officials dealing with non-citizens, including immigrants and asylum seekers. Training should address issues such as the reception of foreign nationals and clear guidelines on the information which should be transmitted to such persons, including information on their rights and how to apply for refugee status.<sup>154</sup>

As regards the legal community and public officials, members of these professional groups should receive training on the content and application of relevant criminal, civil and administrative law provisions.

# h) Awareness raising

ECRI encourages States to undertake awareness-raising activities aimed at addressing country-specific manifestations of racism and intolerance. Notwithstanding the "state-specific" nature of such activities, ECRI recommends that awareness-raising activities should include a number of common elements.

i. Aims and objectives

ECRI considers that awareness-raising activities should be aimed at achieving a change in the climate of opinion in member States, where the climate harbours negative sentiments towards specific groups or foreigners in general.<sup>155</sup> The objective of such activities should be the achievement of a genuine changing of mentalities and attitudes.

ii. Substance of awareness-raising activities

As regards the substance of awareness-raising activities, the existence of intolerance, racism and discrimination, the manner in which these phenomena operate in practice, their effects on certain groups and the need to take action to combat racism and discrimination should be highlighted.<sup>156</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that awareness-raising activities do not focus solely on visible forms of racism and discrimination in the country. Rather, research should be undertaken to identify all manifestations of racism and discrimination, including indirect and hidden forms of discrimination. Such research should inform the elaboration of activities aimed at raising awareness of the actual situation in the country and the need to take action to prevent discrimination.

<sup>154.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 19.

<sup>155.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 39.

<sup>156.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 19.

#### Indirect discrimination

In its second report on Azerbaijan, ECRI noted that measures and practices which appear benign may have a discriminatory effect in practice, for example, a legal provision may not, in itself, be discriminatory, but it may be applied in discriminatory fashion.<sup>157</sup>

Awareness-raising activities should highlight any new legislation or policy measures introduced to combat racism and intolerance.<sup>158</sup> In addition, the history, culture and contribution of minority groups and non-citizens to society should also be identified in such activities.

## (a) Challenging concepts of national identity

In member States where society is becoming increasingly diverse and multicultural, for example, as a result of immigration, the authorities should raise awareness of the features and benefits of multicultural society within society as a whole.<sup>159</sup> In particular, conventional notions relating to national identity should be explored with a view to encompassing all members of emerging multicultural societies.<sup>160</sup> In addition, any and every instance of discrimination should be highlighted and addressed, both as a matter of principle, and in order to send a message that any emergence of racism and intolerance will not be tolerated.<sup>161</sup>

In respect of member States where long established minority groups have been marginalised in society, ECRI encourages the authorities to undertake initiatives aimed at challenging notions that members of such groups do not fit within traditional concepts of national identity.

In its second report on the Czech Republic, ECRI called on the authorities to undertake initiatives aimed at promoting the acceptance of members of the Roma/Gypsy community as an integral part of society.<sup>162</sup>

## (b) Promoting reconciliation

In member States which have experienced intercultural conflict and tension, ECRI encourages awareness-raising activities to be undertaken as a means of promoting reconciliation and building a climate of trust.<sup>163</sup>

In Croatia, ECRI encouraged politicians, the media and other opinion formers to give careful consideration to the manner in which recent history would be addressed and portrayed. ECRI recommended that special training be given to members of the media and public figures in this connection.<sup>164</sup>

<sup>157.</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 48.

<sup>158.</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 78.

<sup>159.</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 18.

<sup>160.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 50.

<sup>161.</sup> ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 32.

<sup>162.</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 45. 163. ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 65.

<sup>164.</sup> ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 65.

# iii. Targeting specific groups

## (a) Public officials

ECRI recommends that all public officials involved in public services or the administration of justice should receive information and training concerning racism and discrimination and how these phenomena manifest themselves in practice.

Awareness-raising activities targeted at public officials should seek to raise awareness of any instances of discrimination in the fields of education, housing and employment and to train officials in ways to prevent such discrimination.<sup>165</sup>

Awareness-raising activities concerning any new anti-discrimination measures introduced should be aimed at civil servants, the judiciary and police officers, all of whom may be charged with the implementation of such measures. Efforts should also be made to ensure that vulnerable groups which may be in a position to benefit from any such new measures are made aware of their existence.

## (b) Politicians, political groups and the media

As mentioned above, politicians and the media have a crucial role to play in influencing the general climate of opinion within States. Member States should undertake measures, including awareness-raising activities, aimed at ensuring that politicians do not support racist and intolerant views with a view to enhancing their popularity, particularly in the context of elections.<sup>166</sup>

## Promoting networking

In its second report on Germany, ECRI welcomed the establishment of an "Alliance for Democracy and Tolerance" by the authorities. The Alliance is aimed at enhancing networking between politicians and representatives of civil society engaged in political activities.<sup>167</sup>

ECRI urges member States to undertake measures to combat the activities of extreme right wing groups, including through the implementation of legal provisions concerning incitement to hatred and other racist offences.<sup>168</sup> ECRI also encourages member States to undertake awareness raising activities aimed condemning the activities and views espoused by such groups and preventing recruitment into such groups.

#### Protecting young people \_

In its second report on Norway, ECRI welcomed the creation of the "Exit Project" aimed at helping young people to leave extreme right wing groups.<sup>169</sup>

<sup>165.</sup> ECRI second report on Slovakia, at paragraph 45.

<sup>166.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 50.

<sup>167.</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 50.

<sup>168.</sup> See section II A 2 (p) (ii) below.

<sup>169.</sup> ECRI second report on Norway, at paragraph 56.

## (c) Minority groups

ECRI encourages member States to target awareness-raising activities at minority and other groups with a view to informing such groups about their rights and about any redress mechanism of which they can avail to register complaints of discrimination. In addition, ECRI encourages member States to undertake initiatives aimed at encouraging members of minority groups to participate fully in national society.

#### Encouraging participation in society \_

In its second report on the Czech Republic, ECRI recommended that the authorities undertake efforts to raise awareness within the Roma/Gypsy community of the need to participate more actively in society, highlighting, in particular, the need to acquire citizenship and ensure their children receive regular education.<sup>170</sup>

Information campaigns concerning minority groups should also be targeted at the general public, with the aim of dispelling any misapprehensions concerning such groups, high-lighting their contribution to society and promoting integration.

iv. Bolstering awareness-raising activities

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that all activities aimed at highlighting and combating racism and intolerance receive high political priority and support. In particular, support for such activities should be twinned with strong official condemnation of any incidents of racism and discrimination. The message that racism and discrimination will not be tolerated should be delivered both through political leadership on the issue and targeted awareness-raising campaigns.<sup>171</sup>

#### Role of politicians

In its second report on Romania, ECRI stressed that "politicians have a responsibility not just to avoid using racist or intolerant rhetoric on their own part, but also to speak out consistently and publicly against such rhetoric when it occurs and to acknowledge the existence of intolerance and discrimination as problems which need to be addressed".<sup>172</sup>

ECRI also considers that religious organisations have a role to play in building a climate of opinion which embraces religious diversity. ECRI therefore encourages larger religious organisations in member States to give public support to the notion of religious diversity.<sup>173</sup>

v. Collaboration with civil society

Member States should seek to undertake awareness-raising activities in collaboration with non-governmental organisations and other local partners in order to enhance the credibility of such activities.<sup>174</sup> Civil society organisations should be involved in the

<sup>170.</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 47.

<sup>171.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 52.

<sup>172.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 58.

<sup>173.</sup> ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 66.

<sup>174.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 24.

elaboration and implementation of such activities. In particular, ECRI stresses that representatives of minority or other groups should be closely involved in the elaboration of any initiatives concerning themselves.<sup>175</sup>



European Youth Train

Member States should also support civil society initiatives in the fields of research and awareness raising and should ensure that such activities inform official policy development.<sup>176</sup>

vi. Impact assessment

ECRI encourages member States to regularly assess the impact of awareness-raising activities and adjust or extend such activities as required.<sup>177</sup>

## i) Reception and status of non-citizens

ECRI works to ensure that legislation, practice and policy in member States, relating to immigration, asylum and the status of non-citizens, respect the prohibition of non-discrimination and promote societal integration. While recognising the country-specific nature of reception and status of non-citizens issues and the right of member States to control their borders, ECRI has elaborated a number of common principles which should be followed in this field.

i. Immigration legislation

The principle of non-discrimination should be enshrined in immigration legislation, and provisions for the granting of refugee or asylum status should be formalised in the

<sup>175.</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 48.

<sup>176.</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 19.

<sup>177.</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 14.

constitution or national law in accordance with international standards including the 1951 UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees and its 1967 Protocol.<sup>178</sup>

The application of non-discrimination provisions in immigration laws should not be narrowed by restrictive regulations concerning their implementation. Similarly, any areas of discretion allowed for by legislation should not result in arbitrary or discriminatory practice.<sup>179</sup>

Law on regularisation

ECRI is concerned that opportunities provided under law for resident illegal aliens to become regularised can be curtailed by administrative rules on implementation. It has urged the French authorities to ensure that any instructions concerning the practical effect of the law on regularisation are in line with the spirit of the law and do not contain provisions which unnecessarily restrict regularisation.<sup>180</sup>

ii. Illegal immigration

ECRI encourages national authorities to increase transparency in the handling of individual cases at border controls, including by working closely with UNHCR officials and local NGOs.<sup>181</sup>

Different categories of illegal immigrants, for example, economic migrants or women being trafficked into prostitution, should be dealt with in a manner appropriate to their situation.<sup>182</sup>

While recognising the need to combat trafficking in human beings, ECRI encourages member States to ensure that any measures to combat trafficking do not compromise the integrity of the asylum determination process. In particular, the right of persons to seek asylum must not be frustrated by measures such as carrier liability sanctions or practices such as extra-territorial interception of "would be" asylum seekers.

All officials who deal with illegal immigrants should receive special training, especially in the areas of human rights and tolerance.

## Human trafficking law

In Italy, the law provides for the issuing of a "special temporary residence permit" for victims of human trafficking, and an Inter-ministerial Commission has been established to manage funds for local initiatives designed to counter such trafficking.<sup>183</sup>

iii. Asylum determination procedures

ECRI encourages member States which have not already done so to establish a comprehensive infrastructure to process asylum applications and to provide assistance for asylum seekers and refugees.

<sup>178.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 24.

<sup>179.</sup> ECRI second report on Switzerland, at paragraph 32.

<sup>180.</sup> ECRI second report on France, at paragraph 13.

<sup>181.</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 27.

<sup>182.</sup> ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 31. 183. ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 33.

As regards the operation of asylum determination procedures, officials charged with assessing applications for asylum should receive thorough training in human rights, cultural sensitivity and issues of racism and discrimination. Asylum determination procedures should operate in a manner which respects the various cultural backgrounds and experiences of asylum seekers. For example, as regards gender-related issues, female interpreters and interviewers should be provided where appropriate.

Authorities should ensure that the need to process claims quickly does not prevent applications from receiving in-depth and careful consideration. <sup>184</sup>

Appeals to the court in respect of asylum applications should have "suspensive effect" which means that until a final determination is made in the case, the appellant should not be deported.<sup>185</sup>

#### Delays in the Appeals Process

ECRI has highlighted that the processing time for asylum applications in Estonia can be approximately two years, partly due to an appeal system which refers all appeals back to the authority of first instance. ECRI considers that such long delays are undesirable and urges that a system be established under which a second-instance body can make a final determination on appeals against a negative decision.<sup>186</sup>

iv. Detention and deportation of asylum seekers and non-citizens

ECRI emphasises that the holding of asylum seekers in detention should be avoided to the greatest extent possible, particularly in the case of persons arriving with families, and that the freedom of movement of asylum seekers should be assured wherever possible.<sup>187</sup>

ECRI has elaborated a number of safeguards which should be followed by member States which engage in the detention and/or deportation of asylum seekers.

Authorities should offer international bodies and non-governmental organisations regular access to detention centres.<sup>188</sup>

Measures should be put in place to ensure that asylum seekers are not detained pending deportation for indefinite periods of time. Where a deportation cannot be carried out, measures should be taken to regularise the situation of a person concerned.

Member States must ensure that the principle of non-refoulement is respected in all cases including, in particular, as regards the operation of any accelerated asylum determination procedures. The operation of deportation procedures and practices should be closely monitored, and special training should be delivered to any law enforcement officers and other officials involved in this area.

<sup>184.</sup> ECRI second report on Portugal, at paragraph 31.

<sup>185.</sup> ECRI second report on Portugal, at paragraph 30.

<sup>186.</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 31.

<sup>187.</sup> ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 19.

<sup>188.</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 40.

#### Detained asylum seekers

ECRI has expressed concern about the detention of asylum seekers in the United Kingdom, where although mostly charged with no criminal offence, many are reportedly held in prisons. Asylum seekers can be detained at any time, for any reason and with no time limits. ECRI emphasises that asylum seekers should not be treated as criminals.<sup>189</sup>

v. Accommodation and provision for asylum seekers

Accommodation provided should be of a satisfactory standard. The location of accommodation should be sufficiently proximate to population centres in order to avoid the isolation of asylum seekers and to facilitate access to medical and other services.

Cultural sensitivity should be demonstrated with respect to the provision of meals, medical and other services. Adequate financial and linguistic assistance should provided in order to ensure full access to medical, legal and other services. Free legal assistance should be available to assist individuals to make a valid asylum application.<sup>190</sup>

#### Accommodation for asylum seekers \_

In certain cases, asylum seekers in Slovenia are accommodated in the same centre as illegal immigrants, which ECRI considers will curtail the freedom of movement of asylum seekers and lead to confusion about their status within the surrounding community.<sup>191</sup>

#### vi. Non-citizens status

In certain member States the law provides for a special legal status of "non-citizen", which may include those who have lived in the host country without official legal status or passports for most, if not all, of their lives.<sup>192</sup> ECRI works to ensure that such "non-citizens" are not subject to discrimination on the grounds of their status. In particular, ECRI recommends that any unjustified restrictions placed on the exercise of rights by non-citizens be removed. Where such "non-citizens" have been resident in a country for most or all of their lives, ECRI recommends that they be afforded citizenship through facilitated procedures.

#### Long-term residents without legal status \_\_\_\_\_

Long-term residents in Azerbaijan without legal status, many of whom are Afghan men married to Azerbaijani women, often with children, include those who do not possess personal documentation or cannot prove their marriage. Despite deep connections in the community and families ties, such individuals are particularly vulnerable, including to deportation. ECRI urges that all foreigners who are long-term residents should be able to secure citizenship.<sup>193</sup>

<sup>189.</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 63.

<sup>190.</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 40.

<sup>191.</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 25.

<sup>192.</sup> Examples include Latvia and Azerbaijan.

<sup>193.</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 26.

## vii. Integration strategies

ECRI encourages member States which have not already done so to adopt comprehensive integration strategies aimed at the integration of immigrants, refugees, asylum seekers and other non-citizens. Such strategies should include the provision of language training and support for any relevant local initiatives already underway. The participation of non-citizens in the elaboration and delivery of such strategies should be sought. As regards employment, in the light of the specific situation pertaining member States, ECRI has encouraged certain States to give consideration to permitting the lawful employment of asylum seekers in the State.<sup>194</sup>

Similarly, ECRI believes that the full and effective integration of non-citizens in society can be improved by according them some political rights, including the right to vote in local elections.<sup>195</sup>

Integration strategies are particularly important in the areas of economic and community life, health care and education, and special measures should be foreseen for vulnerable groups such as single women, one-parent families and unaccompanied minors.<sup>196</sup>

At the same time, it is important that immigrant communities are not systematically isolated from members of their own community, including by dispersing new arrivals throughout the country.<sup>197</sup>

Awareness-raising initiatives can be undertaken to demonstrate the benefits of citizenship and stimulate the integration of refugees as fully-functioning and accepted members of society.<sup>198</sup>

## Family support programme \_

The Icelandic Red Cross in co-operation with the Refugee Council of the Ministry of Social Affairs operates a family support programme where Icelandic families volunteer to assist refugees, who are granted work permits and assisted in finding jobs. Under the programme, refugees are also granted free accommodation, health care, a stipend and language training. ECRI recommends that such programmes be expanded and placed on a more formal basis.<sup>199</sup>

## viii. General climate concerning non-citizens

In a number of member States, the general climate towards non-citizens can be very harsh. This climate is often reinforced by the propagation of negative stereotypes and inflammatory political rhetoric, circulated by the media. ECRI emphasises that public figures and political parties bear a particular responsibility to promote tolerance and respect for different cultures. In some countries covered by ECRI,

197. ECRI second report on Denmark, at paragraph 20.

<sup>194.</sup> See ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 41.

<sup>195.</sup> ECRI second report on Germany at paragraph 17.

<sup>196.</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 31.

<sup>198.</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 34.

<sup>199.</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 21.

<sup>200.</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 39.

the rise of extreme right wing political parties has a deleterious effect on the public's reception of immigrants.

## Irresponsible political rhetoric

Political debate in Austria about non-EU citizens, including immigrants, asylum-seekers and refugees has contributed to a markedly negative climate. The widespread use of stereotypes and misrepresentations about these groups, notably by certain political parties, has played a large part in the creation of this problem. ECRI has indicated that it is essential to avoid such a climate in the elaboration of policy and legislation, as such hostility can easily spill over into intimidation and the threat of violence.<sup>201</sup>

# j) Access to public services

ECRI works to ensure that all persons residing in a country have equal access to public services and public places. Clearly, the measures which are required to facilitate such access differ from country to country. However, ECRI has elaborated the following general standards and principles, adherence to which should facilitate equal access for all public services.

i. Legislative and other measures

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that a comprehensive body of antidiscrimination legislation addressing, *inter alia*, access to public services is adopted and enforced.<sup>202</sup> In particular, member States should ensure that non-citizens and persons without residence permits or other documentation are not refused access to public services.<sup>203</sup>

Legislative provisions should apply to public services provided by both the public and the private sector. As regards, more particularly, the public sector, ECRI recommends that member States take measures to ensure the implementation of relevant legislative provisions including at local level. Such measures might include: issuing guidelines to all relevant officials regarding relevant legislation and taking sanctions against officials who fail to apply legislative provisions, misuse provisions or apply them in a discriminatory fashion.<sup>204</sup>

Member States should also ensure that members of minority groups who participate in the delivery of public services are closely involved in any decisions taken concerning them as a group.

ii. Housing

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No 1 on combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, ECRI calls on member States to initiate research into discriminatory practices and barriers or exclusionary mechanisms in public

<sup>201</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 21.

<sup>202</sup> See sections II A 2 (b) and (d) of this report for further information concerning legislative measures.

<sup>203</sup> See ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraphs 30-32 and ECRI second report on Croatia, at paragraph 32.

<sup>204</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 41.

and private sector housing.<sup>205</sup> ECRI also encourages member States to set up a system of monitoring to identify any discriminatory practices and develop measures to end those practices.<sup>206</sup>

As regards the private sector in particular, the general public should be informed that provisions prohibiting discrimination, for example in relation to the rental of private property, apply to the private sector.<sup>207</sup> ECRI encourages States to take measures to prevent the emergence of segregation in the housing sector, while paying due respect to the wish of members of minority groups to chose to live together with other members of their group.

#### Combating segregation

In its second report on Sweden, ECRI encouraged the authorities to examine the contribution of social disadvantage or discrimination against minority groups to segregation in residential housing.<sup>208</sup>

Member States should ensure that members of minority groups are closely involved in decision making at local level concerning housing.<sup>209</sup>

iii. Access to public places

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that access to public places is guaranteed for all. Legal provisions prohibiting discriminatory practices in this connection should be adopted and implemented in full.<sup>210</sup> The authorities should clearly state that refusing access to public places on discriminatory grounds is unacceptable and awareness-raising activities targeted at proprietors of venues such as bars and clubs should be carried out.<sup>211</sup>

iv. Access to health services

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that members of linguistic minorities and persons without residence permits do not experience difficulties in accessing public services such as health and housing.<sup>212</sup>

#### Awareness raising and recruitment \_

In its second report on Norway, ECRI urged the authorities to undertake pro-active measures to facilitate access to health services by members of minority groups including providing information about the availability of services in minority languages and recruiting staff from minority groups.<sup>213</sup>

- 205 See section II B 2 (a) for further information concerning General Policy Recommendation No. 1.
- 206 ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 24.

<sup>207</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 42.

<sup>208</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 45.

<sup>209</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 40.

<sup>210</sup> See sections II A 2 (b) and (d) of this report for further information concerning recommended legal provisions.

<sup>211</sup> ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 22.

<sup>212</sup> ECRI second report on Turkey, at paragraph 17.

<sup>213</sup> ECRI second report on Norway, at paragraph 27.

v. Training

ECRI recommends that training be provided for all officials who come into contact with members of minority or other groups or non-citizens.<sup>214</sup>

vi. Targeting marginalised groups

The provision of social services should be monitored in order to ensure that access for all to such services is guaranteed. In particular, the situation of national, ethnic and other minority groups should be kept under review.

Where a particular group experiences difficulties in accessing social services, baseline data and research concerning the situation of the group concerned should be undertaken.<sup>215</sup> Such research should also examine any instances of multiple identity discrimination, including on grounds of gender or disability. This information should then inform strategic and targeted initiatives aimed at ensuring equal access to services by the group in question.

#### Targeting of financial resources

In Lithuania, ECRI welcomed the adoption of a "Programme for the Integration of the Roma into Lithuanian Society 2000-2004", which, *inter alia*, envisaged the allocation of funding to address the specific health problems of the Roma/Gypsy community. ECRI encouraged the authorities to implement this and other measures aimed at improving access to public services.<sup>216</sup>

ECRI recommends that member States actively include members of minority groups in the management of public services, for example, participation on local health and accommodation boards.<sup>217</sup> ECRI also encourages members States to undertake targeted activities aimed at raising awareness amongst members of minority groups of their rights as regards access to public services such as health and housing.<sup>218</sup>

vii. Access to education

States should ensure that adequate provision is made for the education of members of minority groups. Legislation, policy and practice in this field should be kept under review in order to ensure that the standard of education delivered to minority groups in practice is equivalent to that delivered to members of the majority population. ECRI has elaborated the following standards aimed at ensuring equal access for all to education.

(a) Prevention of discrimination in schools

Safeguards should be put in place to prevent discrimination against members of national minority, ethnic or other groups. Teachers working with children from minority

216 ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 60.

<sup>214</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 41.

<sup>215</sup> All data collection and research activities should pay due respect to the principle of confidentiality and the voluntary self-identification and communication of personal data on the part of the persons concerned.

<sup>217</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 33.

<sup>218</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 42.

groups should receive specialised training and sanctions should be imposed in respect of any instances of discrimination which occur.

## (b) Integration of students from minority backgrounds

ECRI welcomes regulations which provide that all children of school age must be enrolled in school, irrespective of their parents' status.<sup>219</sup> ECRI also encourages member States to take measures to facilitate the integration of non-citizen children or children from minority groups into the school system.<sup>220</sup>

#### Intercultural mediators

In its second report on Luxembourg, ECRI welcomed the fact that the authorities had appointed intercultural mediators from the countries of origin of the children of asylum seekers in order to facilitate contact between teachers, families and children.<sup>221</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to take measures to prevent the emergence of de facto segregation in schools. Such measures might include supporting local schools and encouraging parents from all backgrounds to send their children to their local schools and ending any discriminatory practices which may operate to exclude certain groups from particular schools.<sup>222</sup>

Member States should ensure that children from linguistic minorities do not end up attending "special needs classes" or classes of an inappropriate level simply because they are not fluent in the official language.<sup>223</sup> Such measures might include providing preparatory lessons in the official language to non-mother tongue students in advance of their entry in the school system.<sup>224</sup>

#### Preparatory courses

In the Czech Republic, in areas with a high population of Roma/Gypsies, the authorities run year-long educational programmes to prepare disadvantaged children for entry into the school system.<sup>225</sup>

Member States should ensure that members of minority groups are closely involved in their children's education; parents should be encouraged to participate in making decisions concerning their children and should be made aware of the importance of mainstream education for their children's future.<sup>226</sup>

## (c) Linguistic issues

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that discrimination against members of linguistic minorities does not occur. In particular, ECRI recommends that States

<sup>219</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 44.

<sup>220</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 32.

<sup>221</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 46.

<sup>222</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 27.

<sup>223</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 31.

<sup>224</sup> ECRI second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", at paragraph 27.

<sup>225</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 34.

<sup>226</sup> ECRI second report on the Czech Republic, at paragraph 37.

undertake a two-pronged approach to this issue: on the one hand, providing specialised teaching of the national language as a second language to such students, and, on the other, providing instruction in minority languages for students of a mother-tongue other than the national language.

As regards the first approach mentioned above, ECRI recommends that States encourage educational institutions to provide specialised teaching of the national language as a second language.

#### Training in official languages for non-mother tongue speakers

In its second report on Iceland, ECRI welcomed the fact that, by law, students with mother tongue languages other than Icelandic are entitled to special tuition in Icelandic. In the capital, "reception classes" for children of immigrant origin are provided.<sup>227</sup>

As regards the second approach mentioned above, where there is sufficient demand, ECRI encourages member States to adopt and maintain legal measures providing for instruction in minority languages in schools and universities.<sup>228</sup> Member States should ensure that such measures are applied consistently throughout the country and that the quality of the instruction provided is adequate.<sup>229</sup> In addition, ECRI encourages member States to provide instruction in mother tongue languages to non-national children, for example immigrant children.<sup>230</sup>

In this connection, ECRI encourages member States to undertake measures to promote and maintain minority languages. Such measures might include: training mother tongue teachers, maintaining schools which offer instruction in national minority languages and developing, and ensuring the provision of textbooks written in national minority languages.<sup>231</sup>

In order to guard against the possible segregation of students from different linguistic backgrounds, ECRI encourages schools to provide bi-lingual classes incorporating relevant minority languages as a means to enhance interaction between children of majority and minority groups.<sup>232</sup>

(d) Positive measures

ECRI has noted that some member States have introduced positive measures aimed at promoting access for members of minority groups to the educational system.

#### Quota system

In its second report on Armenia, ECRI noted with approval that the authorities had established a quota system aimed at guaranteeing access for members of certain national minorities to higher education.<sup>233</sup>

<sup>227</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 30.

<sup>228</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 46.

<sup>229</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 33 and ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 43.

<sup>230</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 31.

<sup>231</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 45.

<sup>232</sup> ECRI second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", at paragraph 26.

<sup>233</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 44.

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 3 on combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, ECRI encourages member States to make special efforts to encourage children from the Roma/Gypsy community to attend schools.<sup>234</sup> ECRI also encourages member States to provide special assistance, including financial assistance, to less well off children in order to facilitate their full participation in schooling.<sup>235</sup>

## (e) Recruitment and training<sup>236</sup>

Efforts should be made to recruit or increase recruitment of members of minority groups into the teaching profession.<sup>237</sup> ECRI encourages member States to set targets regarding the recruitment of members of minority groups and to take measures to retain such individuals within the profession.<sup>238</sup>

ECRI encourages relevant member States to ensure that teachers are provided with adequate training in teaching minority languages and in teaching the official language to non-mother tongue speakers.<sup>239</sup>

#### Specialised linguistic training

In its second report on Latvia, ECRI welcomed the work of the "National Programme for Latvian Language Training", which was designed by the United Nations Development Programme at the request of the Latvian Government. The Programme focussed on training teachers in bilingual teaching and teaching Latvian as a second language, adults' language training and developing teaching material.<sup>240</sup>

## (f) Flexibility of legal provisions

Legal and administrative education provisions should be sufficiently flexible to provide for the needs of nomadic children and other children or adults who may have missed out on education. For example, part-time school attendance, education at home and distance learning should be facilitated.<sup>241</sup>

#### School ID Cards

In its second report on Portugal, ECRI welcomed the introduction of "School ID Cards" which enable children of nomadic families to attend any school by obliging schools to admit such children at the grade level indicated on the ID card.<sup>242</sup>

<sup>234</sup> ECRI second report on Albania, at paragraph 21. For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 3, see Section II b 2 (c).

<sup>235</sup> ECRI second report on Albania, at paragraph 23.

<sup>236</sup> See section II A 2 (g) for further information concerning education and training.

<sup>237</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 23.

<sup>238</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 33.

<sup>239</sup> ECRI second report on "the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, at paragraph 26.

<sup>240</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 76.

<sup>241</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 35.

<sup>242</sup> ECRI second report on Portugal, at paragraph 38.

# (g) Research regarding the situation of minority groups

ECRI recommends that, where members of particular groups underperform in the educational system, research assessing their situation *vis-à-vis* the system should be carried out.<sup>243</sup> In particular, statistics identifying the involvement, achievements and progress of students from minority groups should be collected. ECRI further recommends that targets should be set regarding the levels of attainment of students from minority groups and that monitoring of racist incidents, school exclusions and harassment should be carried out.<sup>244</sup>

## Targeting specific groups

In its second report on the Netherlands, ECRI noted with approval that the authorities had adopted a "Higher Education and Research Plan" which aimed to improve the situation of ethnic minority students, reduce drop-out rates and improve access to university education.<sup>245</sup>

# (h) Issues regarding religion

Where religious education is provided in denominational schools, ECRI encourages the authorities to ensure that a form of religious education which embraces all religions or alternative religious education is delivered.<sup>246</sup> In addition, all religious groups should have equal opportunities to open private religious schools.<sup>247</sup>

Member States must also ensure that instances of discrimination, for example, refusing entry to school to Muslim girls wearing headscarves, are prohibited.<sup>248</sup>

## (i) Reviews of legislation, policy and practice

Legislation, policy and practice in this field should be kept review in order to ensure that practice is consistent in all areas within the State, particularly as regards access to education for members of national or ethnic minority groups.

# k) Employment

ECRI monitors the employment situation in member States with a view to ensuring that measures are taken to protect against discrimination in the workplace and as regards access to employment. ECRI has recommended the adoption of the following common safeguards aimed at combating discrimination in the field of employment.

i. Adoption and implementation of anti-discrimination legislation

As noted in section (d) above, ECRI encourages member States to adopt and maintain a comprehensive body of anti-discrimination legislation. ECRI has stressed that employment should be one of the areas covered by such legislation.<sup>249</sup>

<sup>243</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 31.

<sup>244</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraphs 30-31.

<sup>245</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 29.

<sup>246</sup> See section II A 2 (g) of this report concerning education and training.

<sup>247</sup> ECRI second report on Norway, at paragraph 34.

<sup>248</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 46.

<sup>249</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 30.

ECRI further recommends that member States take measures to ensure the implementation of such legislation including through the establishment of supervisory bodies and effective complaints mechanisms and the delivery of training to relevant officials and members of the legal community.

ii. Awareness raising

Information campaigns should be undertaken to promote awareness of the prohibition of discrimination in employment and of the availability of complaints mechanisms. Such campaigns should be targeted at employers, relevant officials and any potentially vulnerable groups.<sup>250</sup> In addition, awareness-raising initiatives should be undertaken to highlight the contribution of non-nationals and members of national minority, ethnic minority and other groups to the economy and to society in general.

iii. Targeting members of particular groups

Member States should pay particular attention to the specific situation of non-nationals, members of national and/or ethnic minority groups and other groups. Where a group appears to be experiencing difficulties, a proactive strategic approach aimed at ameliorating the situation of the particular group concerned should be initiated.

(a) Data collection

Member States should collect data aimed at identifying any difficulties faced by particular groups including any instances of indirect, direct or multiple identity discrimination.<sup>251</sup> Data concerning the retention of employees from minority or other vulnerable groups should also be gathered, including through systematic exit interviews.<sup>252</sup>

## (b) Positive measures

Where necessary, positive measures should be undertaken to promote the employment of members of non-nationals, members of national and/or other ethnic minority groups and other groups.

## Examples of positive measures welcomed by ECRI

In its second report on Ireland, ECRI recommended that the authorities facilitate continuing access to free medical services for members of the Traveller community entering employment until they have reached a prescribed level of income and job security.<sup>253</sup>

In its second report on Slovenia, ECRI welcomed the 2000 "Programme for the Employment of Roma in Slovenia" under which Roma co-operatives, a public work scheme, subsidised employment and preparatory courses for employment and training were initiated.<sup>254</sup>

<sup>250</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 32.

<sup>251</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 50.

<sup>252</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraphs 54 and 57.

<sup>253</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, paragraph 69.

<sup>254</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 37.

In its second report on the Netherlands, ECRI welcomed the adoption of the Act on the Promotion of Labour Participation of Ethnic Minorities. Under the Act, companies with more than 35 employees must explicitly strive for a proportional representation of minority groups in their workforce. The Act makes provision for reporting procedures and a framework for enforcement. ECRI encouraged the authorities to ensure compliance with the Act and to raise awareness of the need for this measure among the general public.<sup>255</sup>

In its second report on the United Kingdom, ECRI welcomed the introduction of race equality employment targets in the areas of recruitment, retention and career progression. ECRI encouraged the authorities to extend the application of these targets in the public sector and to pay particular attention to the representation of ethnic minorities in senior positions.<sup>256</sup>

ECRI has also welcomed the introduction of a statutory obligation on public authorities in Northern Ireland to promote equality of opportunity and good relations between groups of people of different racial or religious background.<sup>257</sup>

(c) Language training

ECRI encourages member States to provide language training for adults specifically designed to assist non-mother tongue speakers to enter the labour market.<sup>258</sup> A targeted approach to such training should be taken, including the tailoring of language programmes to particular groups and ensuring training is available for isolated groups such as women in the home.<sup>259</sup>

#### Training in official languages

In Portugal, the authorities initiated a "Portugal Welcome" scheme, aimed at immigrants, which offered courses in the Portuguese language and education in workers rights. ECRI welcomed this and other initiatives and urged the authorities to keep the effectiveness of such schemes under review.<sup>260</sup>

iv. Migrant workers

With respect to permit and visa arrangements for non-citizens, including migrant workers, ECRI encourages States to offer a range of work permits and visas to meet the needs of workers in different situations and to offer possibilities for family reunification.<sup>261</sup>

ECRI also encourages member States to ensure that complications or delays as regards the validation of qualifications obtained abroad are avoided in practice.<sup>262</sup>

Member States should take measures to ensure that migrant workers are not subject to rates of remuneration inferior to those applied to citizens workers in respect of the same work.<sup>263</sup>

<sup>255</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 51.

<sup>256</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 38.

<sup>257</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 56.

<sup>258</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 49.

<sup>259</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 51.

<sup>260</sup> ECRI second report on Portugal, at paragraph 41.

<sup>261</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 50.262 ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 51.

<sup>263</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 28.

v. Linguistic issues

As regards the legal requirement of proficiency in the national language for employees in the public sector, ECRI recommends that this requirement be strictly limited to professions in respect of which there is a legitimate public interest in favour of such a requirement.<sup>264</sup> Limited application of such language requirements and the availability of training in the national language are necessary in order to prevent discrimination against national minorities.

# I) Religious groups

ECRI encourages member States to take a targeted approach to ensuring the prohibition of discrimination against minority groups. Such an approach should include the adoption and implementation of the following measures: basic legal provisions concerning religious groups, a comprehensive body of anti-discrimination legislation listing religion as a ground for discrimination and criminal law provisions banning incitement to hatred.<sup>265</sup>



Poster of the European Conference against Racism, October 2000

264 ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 48.

265 See Sections II A 2 (b), (c) and (d) of this report for further information concerning legal provisions.

In addition, ECRI encourages member States to ensure that the particular situation of religious groups is addressed in respect of the following issues: education, training, access to public services, employment and the media. The situation of religious groups should be specifically addressed in awareness-raising activities and the work of specialised bodies and other institutions. All of these issues are dealt with elsewhere in this Section (Section II A 2) of the report above. Specific additional standards elaborated by ECRI as regards religious minorities are set out below:

Member States should ensure a *proactive response by law enforcement* authorities to any incidences of discrimination or persecution. Incitement to hatred law should be enforced and the authorities should move swiftly to enforce the law in the event of any violations of the law.<sup>266</sup>

ECRI has noted the significance of the issues of *registration of religious groups*. Registration can enable a religious group, *inter alia*, to open a bank account and acquire premises.

Member States should ensure that legal provisions concerning the registration of religious groups facilitate the registration of all religious groups which wish to practice their religion through lawful means.<sup>267</sup> ECRI has noted that some member States may refuse to register religious groups on the grounds that registration may lead to conflict or tension *vis-à-vis* registered groups. In this connection, ECRI has highlighted the judgement of the European Court of Human Rights in the case of Metropolitan Church of Bessarabia and Others v. Moldova. In that case, the Court held that the Government's refusal to recognise the Church of Bessarabia was in violation of Article 9 of the European Convention on Human Rights as it was not proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued and therefore was not necessary in a democratic society.<sup>268</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that discriminatory practices do not occur as regards the administration of the registration of religious groups.

*Awareness-raising activities* should be initiated to inform the public that incidences of racial discrimination and intolerance will not be allowed and will be subject to the requisite legal sanctions. All efforts should be undertaken to combat the normalisation of religious intolerance in society.<sup>269</sup> Awareness-raising initiatives reflecting the contribution of religious groups to society and noting any instances of persecution of religious groups in the past should be carried out.

Member States should also ensure that *suitable premises* are allocated to religious groups.<sup>270</sup>

<sup>266</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 51.

<sup>267</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraphs 35-36.

<sup>268</sup> ECRI second report on Moldova, at paragraph 35.

<sup>269</sup> ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 52.

<sup>270</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 14.

# m) Monitoring the situation in the country

ECRI encourages member States to monitor the situation of vulnerable groups within the State and to keep under review the effectiveness of measures aimed at combating racism and direct and indirect discrimination. ECRI has set out a number of standards for effective monitoring in this field.

i. Collection of baseline data

ECRI encourages member States to establish and maintain reliable systems of data collection to identify the situation of minority groups in all fields of life, including access to employment, education, accommodation and health. In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 1 on combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, ECRI calls on member States to ensure that data collection systems adhere to national law and European regulations and recommendations concerning data protection and the protection of privacy.<sup>271</sup> In particular, data should be collected, in collaboration with relevant minority groups, on the basis of voluntary self-identification and with due respect to the principle of confidentiality.<sup>272</sup>

ii. National surveys

ECRI encourages member States to undertake national surveys in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 4 on national surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims.<sup>273</sup>

As regards national censuses, at a minimum, censuses should provide information on the number of national, ethnic and other minority groups in the country and the population and location of such groups.

## Collecting data

National censuses should be conducted in accordance with relevant international methodology and should include the voluntary self-identification of individuals as members of minority groups.<sup>274</sup>

ECRI has encouraged States to undertake awareness raising aimed at encouraging members of minority groups to correctly indicate their membership of a specific group in national censuses.<sup>275</sup>

iii. Monitoring the implementation of legal provisions and other measures

ECRI encourages member States to monitor the effectiveness of criminal law provisions by developing and maintaining systems to record incidences of racism, intolerance and discrimination.<sup>276</sup> In particular, the following information should be recorded: the number

<sup>271</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 55. For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 1, see Section II B 2 (a) of this report.

<sup>272</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 58.

<sup>273</sup> For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 4, see Section II B 2 (d).

<sup>274</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 43.

<sup>275</sup> See ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 43.

<sup>276</sup> ECRI second report on Ireland, at paragraph 61.

of complaints under criminal and civil law registered, details of any legal investigations initiated, and the outcomes of such complaints in terms of any decisions rendered and/or redress or compensation awarded.<sup>277</sup>

Such monitoring systems might be operated by specialised bodies such as ombudsmen, human rights commissions, and/or equality institutions. As regards racist crimes, the national police force should systematically record any apparent racist elements of crimes, even in the absence of legislation providing for the definition of racist crimes.

In its second report on the Netherlands, ECRI noted that a national police "discrimination officer" had been designated. The officer is tasked with improving the expertise of the police in handling discrimination cases and registering such incidents. ECRI supported the proposal of the officer that an expertise centre be set up to enhance initiatives in this field.<sup>278</sup>

iv. Monitoring and "proofing" proposed legislation

Thirdly, proposed and existing legislation and practices should be 'equality proofed' to test their impact on all members of society and protect against the introduction or retention of discriminatory measures.

# n) Conduct of law enforcement officials

ECRI monitors the conduct of law enforcement officials in member States, and, in particular, interactions between law enforcement officers and members of minority groups. ECRI has set out a number of common standards aimed at preventing discriminatory treatment and preparing police officers for policing in multi-cultural societies.

- i. Accountability of law enforcement officials
  - (a) Rule of law

ECRI urges member States to ensure that law enforcement officials operate within the law at all times. In particular, member States should ensure that such officials strictly adhere to national legislation concerning identity checks and national and international standards on protection from arbitrary arrest and detention.<sup>279</sup> In addition, any instances of engagement in unauthorised activities, such as unlawful raids on Roma/Gypsy communities should be sanctioned.<sup>280</sup>

## (b) Independent complaints mechanisms

In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 1 on combating racism, xenophobia and antisemitism, ECRI recommends the establishment and maintenance of independent mechanisms to consider complaints against law enforcement officials.<sup>271</sup>

<sup>277</sup> ECRI second report on Denmark, at paragraph 33.

<sup>278</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 5.

<sup>279</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 44.

<sup>280</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 46.

<sup>281</sup> See section II B 2 (a) concerning General Policy Recommendation No. 1.

It is axiomatic that, to be effective, such mechanisms must be independent of law enforcement agencies.

Independent complaints mechanisms should be mandated to investigate complaints of unlawful behaviour including racist or discriminatory behaviour, discriminatory checks, abusive speech, excessive use of force, ill-treatment and violence which may result in death.<sup>282</sup> Such mechanisms should be empowered to initiate criminal and disciplinary proceedings,<sup>283</sup> and to award effective remedies to complainants.

#### Independent Police Complaints Board

In its second report on Luxembourg, ECRI welcomed the establishment of an independent Police Complaints Board. On the basis of investigations into complaints carried out by the Board, the police authorities may be required to take disciplinary action against officers or cases may be forwarded to the Office of the Attorney General in order to determine whether police officers ought to face criminal proceedings.<sup>284</sup>

ECRI also considers that member States ought to undertake measures to encourage victims of racist or discriminatory treatment by law enforcement officials to come forward. Such measures might include the appointment of mediators from minority groups and increased recruitment of members of minority groups into law enforcement agencies.<sup>285</sup>

## (c) Internal discipline

ECRI has stressed the need to combat prejudice and stereotypes within police forces in order to establish sustainable multiethnic police services.<sup>286</sup> Therefore, ECRI encourages member States to ensure that disciplinary action is taken against police officers who engage in discriminatory behavior, display negative attitudes or make negative statements about particular groups.<sup>287</sup> Police authorities should also clearly and publicly condemn any such behaviour by police officers.<sup>288</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to take measures to ensure that law enforcement officers do not release information concerning the ethnic origin of alleged perpetrators of crimes to the media.<sup>289</sup>

ECRI considers that members States ought to ensure that policy direction in this field filters down from the central authorities to local law enforcement agencies.<sup>290</sup>

ii. Combating racist crime

In respect of many member States, ECRI has noted that victims of racism or racial discrimination do not report offences to the police because the police response to

<sup>282</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraphs 38-39.

<sup>283</sup> ECRI second report on Azerbaijan, at paragraph 40.

<sup>284</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 53.

<sup>285</sup> ECRI second report on Poland, at paragraph 50.

<sup>286</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 43.

<sup>287</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 33.

<sup>288</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 40.

<sup>289</sup> ECRI second report on Slovakia, at paragraph 26.

<sup>290</sup> ECRI second report on France, at paragraph 30.

complaints of racism and racial discrimination is unsatisfactory. In accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 1, ECRI calls on member States to "ensure that criminal prosecution of offences of a racist or xenophobic nature is given a high priority and is actively and consistently undertaken".<sup>291</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to take measures to improve the police response to racist crime. Such measures might include the establishment of specialised anti-racism units, ensuring that due attention is paid to the racist motivation of crimes and the development of a victim's perspective of race crime.<sup>292</sup>

iii. Training

The best possible guarantee against racism by law enforcement officials is for such officials to be properly trained. ECRI considers it to be vital that member States deliver human rights training, with a focus on issues of racism and discrimination, to law enforcement officers in training colleges and during service.<sup>293</sup> Training programmes should promote awareness of the diverse nature of the society in which they operate and an understanding of all aspects of discrimination.

Specialist training should be delivered to all officers who come into contact with persons of foreign origin including, in particular, officers responsible for border controls and deportations. ECRI emphasizes that such officers should receive on-going training enabling them to receive and deal with asylum requests correctly.<sup>294</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to support the involvement of civil society in human rights training delivered to law enforcement officers.<sup>295</sup>

The effectiveness of human rights training delivered to trainees at police colleges and during police service should be properly evaluated. In particular, the authorities should ensure that training delivered has a real impact on everyday policing practice.<sup>296</sup>

iv. Awareness raising

ECRI considers that member States have a duty to raise awareness among law enforcement officials of the need to tackle racist and discriminatory offences. In particular, the identification of racist elements of crime and the need to respond to and record racist elements of crime should be highlighted.<sup>297</sup>

ECRI stresses the importance of tackling any communication problems between law enforcement agencies and specific groups. Measures should be taken to improve relations between immigrant and minority communities and law enforcement officials.<sup>298</sup>

<sup>291</sup> ECRI second report on Poland, at paragraph 49. For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 1, see section II B 2 (a).

<sup>292</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 67.

<sup>293</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 55.

<sup>294</sup> ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 12.

<sup>295</sup> ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 38.

<sup>296</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 40.

<sup>297</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 38.

<sup>298</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 51.

Such measures might include the appointment of cultural mediators to promote communication between law enforcement officers and members of particular communities.<sup>299</sup>

#### Enhancing relations with minority groups \_

In Romania, ECRI noted that the police authorities had organised seminars in collaboration with minority groups aimed at improving relations between the police and minority groups. ECRI welcomed this and other initiatives.<sup>300</sup>

v. Recruitment

ECRI encourages member States to remove potential obstacles which may prevent members of minority groups from joining law enforcement agencies.<sup>301</sup> In addition, ECRI considers that member States ought to take measures to promote the recruitment of members of minority groups into law enforcement agencies.

Positive measures .

In its second report on Estonia, ECRI noted that, during recruitment, extra points were awarded to members of minority groups to compensate for any disadvantage due to the fact that Estonian was not their mother tongue. Classes in the Estonian language were also provided. ECRI welcomed these measures.<sup>302</sup>

In its second report on Slovakia, ECRI welcomed the preparation of a two-year preparatory training course for members of the Roma/Gypsy community wishing to apply to the police academy.<sup>303</sup>

ECRI also invites member States to take measures to ensure the retention of officers from minority groups and the presence of officers from minority groups in senior ranks within law enforcement agencies.<sup>304</sup>

#### Targets \_

In its second report on the United Kingdom, ECRI welcomed the establishment of targets for the recruitment, retention and promotion of ethnic minority police officers.<sup>305</sup>

vi. Linguistic and cultural issues

ECRI considers that member States ought to ensure that professional interpretation services are provided, in order that non-mother tongue speakers can communicate properly with law enforcement officials.<sup>306</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that, in prisons provision is made for the particular requirements of non-national detainees.<sup>307</sup>

<sup>299</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 54.

<sup>300</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 45.

<sup>301</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 34.

<sup>302</sup> ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 54.

<sup>303</sup> ECRI second report on Slovakia, at paragraph 25.

<sup>304</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 43.

<sup>305</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 50.

<sup>306</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 52.

<sup>307</sup> ECRI second report on Malta, at paragraph 11.

## vii. Data collection

It is important that systems are in place to record information concerning complaints of racism and/or racial discrimination. In particular, ECRI considers that the following information should be collected: the number of complaints, subsequent investigations and outcomes from judicial assessment of such complaints.<sup>308</sup>

ECRI also recommends that the frequency of stops and searches carried out on members of minority groups should monitored where there is suspicion that such checks are carried out in a discriminatory manner.<sup>309</sup>

## o) Media

ECRI considers that the media can play a crucial role in influencing the climate of opinion within States concerning minority groups and non-nationals. In order to encourage the media and political groups to fulfill this role in a positive manner, ECRI has set out a number of legal and operational standards with which it urges the media and member States to comply.

General standards regarding relevant civil and criminal law provisions and awareness raising are set out in sections (b), (c) and (d) above. Additional standards elaborated by ECRI as regards the media are set out below.

i. Implementation of legal provisions and other measures

ECRI encourages the authorities to ensure that incitement to hatred and other antidiscrimination legal provisions are enforced. In addition, member States should ensure that such legislation covers dissemination of racist material through the Internet and, in this connection, ECRI encourages States to consider its General Policy Recommendation No. 6 on combating the dissemination of racist material via the Internet.<sup>310</sup>

ECRI supports the establishment of supervisory mechanisms to oversee the implementation of relevant legal provisions.

ECRI is also supportive of additional measures which aim to prevent the use of disparaging language in the media.

#### Measures to prevent the use of inappropriate language

In its second report on Spain, ECRI noted with approval that the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs had taken initiatives to prevent the use of inappropriate language in references to the Roma/Gypsy community. ECRI also noted that some of the Autonomous Communities in Spain had concluded agreements with the media concerning the protection of the culture and image of minority groups.<sup>311</sup>

<sup>308</sup> ECRI second report on Denmark, at paragraph 33.

<sup>309</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 45.

<sup>310</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 45. For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 5, see section II B 2 (f).

<sup>311</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 42.
#### ii. Self-regulation

ECRI encourages media organisations to draw up and operate within codes of selfregulation. These codes should aim to prevent the negative stereotyping of minority groups and the sensationalising of conflict between minority groups. In particular, ECRI stresses the need to end the practice of highlighting the racial or ethnic background of persons accused or convicted of criminal offences where this factor is irrelevant.<sup>312</sup>

#### Codes of self-regulation for the media -

In the Netherlands, the code of self regulation of the Dutch Organisation of Journalists states that a person's background, including their race, nationality and religion, should only be mentioned if relevant; racist or prejudiced statements should only be reported if relevant, and that migrants should be quoted on issues additional to "migrant issues". ECRI called for stricter compliance with these regulations.<sup>313</sup>

In its second report on the United Kingdom ECRI recommended that codes of self regulation should prohibit not just prejudicial or unnecessary reference to a person's background but should also prohibit general racist assumptions and stereotypes.<sup>314</sup>

As regards the Internet, ECRI supports efforts by internet service providers to regulate, to the extent which they can, material disseminated on the Internet.

#### Codes of self-regulation for internet service providers \_

ECRI has noted with approval that, in Germany, 400 internet service providers adopted a voluntary self-regulation mechanism, which provides for a hotline for the communication of complaints, the imposition of sanctions against members disseminating racist materials, and the withdrawal of websites.<sup>315</sup>

iii. Training

ECRI encourages media organisations to provide training to staff in order to promote responsible reporting and to raise awareness of the existence and content of any codes of self-regulation and relevant legal provisions.<sup>316</sup>

iv. Minority and other groups

In respect of countries with a significant population of minority language speakers, measures should be undertaken to prevent the further polarisation of society through the delivery of substantively diverse media services. Such measures should include encouraging minority and majority language newspapers to carry the same articles and features.<sup>317</sup>

<sup>312</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 47.

<sup>313</sup> ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 44.

<sup>314</sup> ECRI second report on the United Kingdom, at paragraph 52.

<sup>315</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 37.

<sup>316</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 57.

<sup>317</sup> ECRI second report on Moldova, at paragraph 39.

ECRI supports the adoption of legal provisions which place an obligation on public broadcasters to reserve an adequate portion of air time for broadcasts in minority languages.<sup>318</sup>

#### Support for minority languages

In Slovenia, provisions guarantee the publication of newspapers and magazines in two national minority languages and access to television and radio broadcasting for members of minority groups. The authorities also co-finance publications and broadcasts for the Roma/Gypsy community. ECRI has welcomed these initiatives.<sup>319</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to undertake efforts to improve access for members of minority groups to the media and to increase representation of members of such groups in media organisations.<sup>320</sup>

### p) Other issues of country-specific concern

In its second round of country-specific reports, ECRI dedicates a section of each report to the examination of "a limited number of issues which, in its opinion, merit particular and urgent attention in the country in question".<sup>321</sup> This approach enables ECRI to highlight specific issues of concern within member States, examine the nature of the issues concerned and recommend remedial measures which member States should undertake at the earliest opportunity.

Highlighting issues of particular concern *enables ECRI to underline the importance of a targeted approach* to tackling racism and intolerance at national level. Notwithstanding the fact that a different set of "issues of concern" are treated in the second reports on each member State, ECRI sets out a number of common principles which should be considered when tackling such issues.

ECRI's main messages concerning the reception and status of non-citizens are dealt with in section (i) above.

i. Minority or vulnerable groups

Accurate data regarding the situation of minority or other vulnerable groups across all fields of life should be collected. This data should then be used to inform the development of a co-ordinated strategic plan aimed at ameliorating the situation of the groups concerned. Remedial legal and other provisions should be adopted and structures established to oversee their implementation.

Involvement of members of minority or other vulnerable groups should be secured in respect of all efforts to ameliorate their situation from the planning to the implementation phase. In parallel with these efforts, additional efforts should be undertaken to increase representation of members of minority groups in public life (where such groups are under represented) and to improve the climate of opinion regarding such groups, including through the initiation of awareness raising activities.

<sup>318</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 57.

<sup>319</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 46.

<sup>320</sup> ECRI second report on Armenia, at paragraph 57.

<sup>321</sup> See the introduction to the section "Issues of particular concern" in ECRI's second round reports on member States.

A targeted approach to preventing discrimination against minority groups in all fields of life including; education, access to public services, employment and the administration of justice should be undertaken. In addition, awareness-raising initiatives, specialised bodies and the media should pay particular attention to the situation of minority groups in their work. All of these issues are elaborated upon above.

*ECRI's General Policy Recommendations* should be taken into consideration in the context of the development of strategies to ameliorate the situation of minority groups. For example, General Policy Recommendation No. 5 on combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims and General Policy Recommendation No. 3 on combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies both propose a range of measures governments can take to counter discrimination and intolerance against these groups.

ECRI stresses the importance of ensuring that *adequate anti-discrimination legislation is implemented*.<sup>323</sup> In particular, States must ensure that officials and private persons, such as employers and service providers, are fully aware both of the existence of legislation prohibiting discrimination and of a commitment to ensure compliance with that legislation, including the punishment of any offending acts or omissions.<sup>322</sup>

In Romania, the national "Strategy for Improving the Condition of the Roma" provides for the employment of Roma representatives in each prefecture responsible for implementing the measures set out in the Strategy. <sup>323</sup>

Member States must also undertake measures to ensure that legal protection against discrimination is extended to non-citizens. Such measures might include expediting the granting of citizenship status to minority groups and ensuring that legal protection is provided in respect of non-citizens.<sup>325</sup>

In addition to measures prohibiting discrimination, ECRI recommends that States undertake *pro-active measures* to ameliorate the situation of members of vulnerable groups.

In Latvia, the authorities initiated pilot projects aimed at delivering education and training to the Roma/Gypsy community and the establishment of information centres to service members of the community.<sup>326</sup>

In Romania, ECRI encouraged the authorities to undertake enhanced measures to ensure that all members of the Roma/Gypsy community obtain identity cards, birth certificates and other documentation necessary for accessing services and the protection of the law. The measures proposed included awareness-raising campaigns aimed at members of the Roma/Gypsy community and training for officials charged with processing applications for such documentation.

323 For further information, see ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination. See also Section II B 2 (g) of this report with examines the content of General Policy Recommendation No. 7.

<sup>322</sup> For further information on ECRI's General Policy Recommendations, see Section II B 2.

<sup>324</sup> ECRI second report on Romania, at paragraph 53.

<sup>325</sup> ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraphs 40-41.

Member States develop global strategies to *promote the integration of marginalised groups* into society. Such measures might include; awareness raising activities aimed at combating any negative climates of opinion, official language lessons for non-mother tongue speakers, training for professional groups such as civil servants and teachers, outreach activities to inform non-citizens and/or members of minority groups of their rights, extension of eligibility and voting rights and facilitating access to citizenship

ECRI welcomed the drafting of a "Blueprint for Integration" by the government of Liechtenstein, in collaboration with non-citizen groups, setting out guidelines for the development of a national integration policy.<sup>328</sup>

ECRI welcomed the adoption by the Lithuanian Government of a "Programme for the Integration of the Roma into Lithuanian society 2000-2004. The programme provides for specific initiatives in the education, health, employment and cultural fields.<sup>328</sup>

In its second report on Sweden, ECRI set out some advice regarding the elaboration of integration policy. Firstly, the concept of 'successful integration' should be defined and this definition should inform the formulation of the goals of the integration policy. Secondly, effective implementation methodology should be developed and the effectiveness of the policy should be kept under close review. Thirdly, the concept of integration as a process which involves members of both majority and minority communities should be highlighted.<sup>328</sup>

In it second report on Latvia, ECRI welcomed the adoption by the authorities of the "National Programme for the Integration of the Society in Latvia". The programme focuses on civic participation and political integration, social and regional integration of society, education, language, culture, naturalisation and information. The programme is to be implemented through projects designed by civil society organisations and implementing machinery for the programme has been established. ECRI encourages the authorities to afford a high level of priority to the programme.<sup>330</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to develop dedicated national integration strategies or to include the issue of integration in the National Action Plans against Racism being drawn up by States as a follow-up to the Durban World Conference against Racism.<sup>331</sup>

Finally, ECRI encourages member States to actively tackle *discrimination in daily life*. Member States should ensure that measures such as those listed above are undertaken to combat the normalisation of discriminatory practices and to impress on the majority population that discrimination will not be tolerated.<sup>332</sup>

<sup>326</sup> Second report on Latvia, at paragraph 55.

<sup>327</sup> ECRI second report on Liechtenstein, at paragraph 46.

<sup>328</sup> ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 56.

<sup>329</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraphs 81-82.

<sup>330</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraphs 73-75. Similar initiatives have been undertaken in other members States; see for example, ECRI second report on Estonia, at paragraph 59.

<sup>331</sup> ECRI second report on San Marino, at paragraph 33. For further information on the World Conference against Racism, see Section II B 4 of this report.

<sup>332</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraphs 54-57.

#### (a) Roma/Gypsy communities

ECRI has identified the situation of Roma/Gypsy communities as an area of particular concern in respect of many member States. ECRI has noted that, in many countries, Roma/Gypsy communities suffer from severe socio-economic disadvantage. They also are subject to prejudice, discrimination and violence from members of the majority population and sometimes from public officials.

In addition to the standards set out above regarding minority groups, ECRI encourages member States to adopt a global strategic approach to preventing discrimination against this community in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 3 on combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies.<sup>333</sup> ECRI has highlighted the following areas which should be targeted within such a strategic approach.

As regards *education*, member States should ensure access to mainstream education. including pre-school education and take measures to prevent absenteeism and high drop out rates. Efforts should be undertaken to prevent de facto segregation in schools and the inappropriate placement of Roma/Gypsy children in special needs classes.<sup>334</sup>

As regards *employment*, ECRI encourages member States to combat labour discrimination through research, awareness-raising initiatives and enforcement of legislative measures.

In its second report on Spain, ECRI welcomed the operation of the Roma Development Programme which provided training schemes, counselling to help young people integrated into the employment sector, vocational training and training for intercultural mediators. ECRI also welcomed the EU-sponsored "Acceder" programme which works to promote employment of persons from disadvantaged groups.<sup>335</sup>

As regards *housing*, ECRI urges member States to combat discriminatory legal provisions or administrative practices regarding the allocation of housing and/or land. In particular member States must take measures to end situations where Roma/Gypsy communities live in habitations without basic amenities such as running water, heating and sanitation.<sup>336</sup> Member States should also take measures to avoid the practical and de facto segregation of Roma/Gypsy communities in the area of housing.

As regards access to *health services* member States should undertake initiatives to ensure access to health care for Roma/Gypsy communities in practice. Such measures should include, preventing and sanctioning discrimination by health service workers and ensuring that health care systems can cater for the specific needs of the Roma/Gypsy community.337

As regards the conduct of law enforcement officers and the administration of justice, ECRI encourages members States to pay particular attention to the situation of

<sup>333</sup> See Section II B 2 (c) of this report for further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 3.

<sup>334</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 44.

<sup>335</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 45.

<sup>336</sup> ECRI second report on Moldova, at paragraph 30.
337 See, for example, ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraph 65.

members of the Roma/Gypsy community. In particular, States should undertake measures to ensure that they are not subjected to ill-treatment by law enforcement officers. For further information on this issue, see sub-section (N) above. In addition, member States should ensure that discriminatory practices do not occur in relation to sentencing practices. For further information on this issue, see sub-section (e) above.

As regards *access to public places*, member States should ensure that instances of discrimination in the public and private sector do not occur. Particular attention should be paid to the situation of Roma women wearing traditional costume.<sup>338</sup>

With respect to *the media*, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 3 on combating racism and intolerance against Roma//Gypsies, ECRI calls on member States to raise awareness among the members of the media of their responsibility to avoid using prejudicial language. Members of the media should also avoid reporting stories concerning individual members of the Roma/Gypsy community in a manner which reflects negatively on that community as a whole.<sup>339</sup>

As regards *citizenship and residence permits*, ECRI encourages members States to ensure that members of the Roma/Gypsy community are in a position to apply for such status and documents. In addition, activities aimed at raising awareness within Roma/Gypsy communities of the benefits of citizenship status and residence permits should be initiated (for further information see sub-section (b) regarding Citizenship Law above).

#### (b) Muslim communities

In addition to the standards set out as regards minority or other vulnerable groups above, ECRI encourages member States to take specific measures to tackle any emerging negative climates of opinion as regards Muslim communities in the wake of 11 September 2001. In particular, media reporting should be monitored with a view to ensuring responsible reporting in this connection.<sup>340</sup> ECRI encourages member States to consider its General Policy Recommendation No. 5 on combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims, which proposes a range of measures governments can take to counter discrimination and intolerance against Muslims.<sup>341</sup>

#### (c) Jewish communities

ECRI encourages member States to implement measures to actively combat any manifestations of antisemitism, whether latent or overt. Such measures should include implementation of incitement to hatred legislation other relevant legal provisions. In addition, the authorities should swiftly and unequivocally condemn any incidents of antisemitism.<sup>342</sup>

<sup>338</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 27.

<sup>339</sup> ECRI second report on Moldova, at paragraph 30.

<sup>340</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 61.

<sup>341</sup> ECRI second report on Spain, at paragraph 37. For further information on General Policy Recommendation No. 5 see Section II B 2 (e).

<sup>342</sup> ECRI second report on Latvia, at paragraph 56.

Awareness-raising activities aimed at increasing awareness of Nazi crimes, the Holocaust and the dangers of antisemitism should be initiated.<sup>343</sup> In addition, in relation to several member States, ECRI has called on the authorities to take action to combat the phenomenon of antisemitic chanting at football matches.<sup>344</sup>

#### (d) Indigeneous peoples

ECRI encourages member States with indigeneous populations to expedite the resolution of any outstanding issues regarding land rights, in accordance with the ILO Convention No 169 on Indigeneous Peoples and to acceed to this Convention for this purpose.<sup>345</sup>

#### (e) Formerly deported populations and returnees

ECRI encourages member States to ensure that formerly deported populations and returning refugees or displaced persons are not discriminated against. Such measures might include adopting a flexible approach to requirements concerning criteria for citizenship (see section (b) above for further information). All legal and policy initiatives aimed at protecting this group from discrimination in all field of life should be elaborated in close consultations with representatives of the communities concerned.

#### (f) Persons of immigrant origin or background

In addition to the standards set out as regards minority or other vulnerable groups above, ECRI encourages member States to pay particular attention to the following issues as regards persons of immigrant background and/or foreign workers.<sup>346</sup>

Member States should ensure that *visa and work permit arrangements* do not infringe upon the rights of such persons, particularly where work permits are issued to employers as opposed to employees. Efforts should be undertaken to raise awareness of their rights among persons of immigrant origin.<sup>347</sup> As regards immigrant women who come to a State to marry a citizen of the State, the authorities should ensure that the resident permit arrangements which apply to such women retain their validity in the event that the women concerned leave relationships as a result of abuse or violence.<sup>348</sup>

ECRI encourages member States to *combat illegal employment* through measures which target employers rather than employees. In addition, assistance should be provided to persons employed illegally should their source of income become blocked.<sup>349</sup>

Persons of immigrant background may become subject to *asylum procedures*, in member States. For an outline of ECRI's concerns and recommendation regarding this issue, please see sub-section (i) above entitled "Reception and status of non-citizens".

<sup>343</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 64.

<sup>344</sup> For example, see ECRI second report on the Netherlands, at paragraph 36.

<sup>345</sup> ECRI second report on Finland, at paragraph 33.

<sup>346</sup> ECRI second report on the Ukraine, at paragraphs 46-54.

<sup>347</sup> ECRI second report on Iceland, at paragraph 46.

<sup>348</sup> ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 54.

<sup>349</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 50.

In this connection, it is important to note here that ECRI encourages member States to take measures to prevent arbitrary deportations. Such measures should include ensuring that non-citizens threatened with deportation are given the possibility to exercise their rights under national and international law. Such rights should include the right to appeal against a deportation order and the right to legal aid and to an interpreter free of charge. In addition, member States should ensure national procedures are in compliance with the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights under Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights which provides that the deportation of a foreigner should not infringe upon his/her right to family life.<sup>350</sup>

ii. Extremist political and other groups

In response to the prevalence of extremist groups in some member States, ECRI has identified a number of specific issues which should be addressed in efforts to combat the activities of such groups.

#### (a) Implementation of legislation<sup>351</sup>

Adequate incitement to hatred legislation should be implemented vis a vis political groups which publish racist and other material aimed at inciting hatred and intolerance. Member States should ensure that such legislation covers all media through which extremist messages can be spread, including the Internet, electronic mail and white power music.<sup>352</sup>

Where general incitement to hatred provisions have proved ineffective, ECRI encourages member States to consider adopting specific legal provisions concerning the activities of extremist political groups. The aim of such legal provisions should be to counter the activities of political parties which resort to extreme nationalist, racist and xenophobic propaganda which could incite or lead to acts of violence and discrimination.<sup>353</sup> In addition, consideration might be given to providing for the partial or total suppression of public financing for political parties which engage in racist or discriminatory acts.<sup>354</sup>

#### (b) Additional measures to combat extremism

In additional to the implementation of legal measures, ECRI encourages member States to undertake additional measures in order to combat the activities of extremist groups. Such measures might include: monitoring the activities of extremist groups, ensuring a co-ordinated response from the police and other authorities to racist activities, undertaking awareness-raising campaigns, dissuading local authorities from renting venues to extremist groups and promoting the public debate on the issue of extremism.<sup>355</sup>

- 351 See also section II A 2 (b) of this report concerning Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions.
- 352 See, for example, ECRI second report on Sweden, at paragraph 71.
- 353 ECRI second report on the Russian Federation, at paragraph 61.
- 354 ECRI second report on Lithuania, at paragraph 42.

<sup>350</sup> ECRI second report on Slovenia, at paragraph 54.

<sup>355</sup> ECRI second report on Liechtenstein, at paragraphs 50-51.

In its second report on Germany, ECRI noted that the Federal Border Guard has been charged with assisting the State Police in dealing with extremist violence and with receiving information concerning extremist groups via a hotline. ECRI welcomed this initiative and urged the authorities to provide adequate training to law enforcement officials as regards the implementation of legal provision and other measures aimed at combating the activities of extremist groups.

#### (c) Leadership

ECRI urges political parties to resist the temptation to approach the issue of minority groups in a negative fashion.<sup>357</sup> In particular, "ECRI stresses that politicians have a responsibility to speak out firmly against manifestations of hostility and xenophobia, but also to avoid using terms or discourse which may have negative connotations in the public consciousness".<sup>358</sup>

Where extremist political groups are active, ECRI encourages governments and mainstream political parties to provide leadership and to clearly condemn the activities of such groups. In this connection, ECRI encourages all political parties to adhere to the principles set out in the Charter of European political parties for a non-racist society.<sup>359</sup>

ECRI has expressed concern at the electoral success of political parties which espouse racist and xenophobic views and propaganda and at the influence such groups have had on mainstream or traditional political groups in the States concerned. In addition, ECRI has expressed particular concern at the inclusion of such political parties in coalition governments.

#### Participation in coalition government of groups which have espoused racist views

In its second report on Italy, ECRI expressed concern at the participation in coalition government of extremist political parties. In this connection, ECRI has called on member States to ensure that incitement to hatred legislation provisions are effectively implemented.<sup>360</sup>

iii. Situations resulting from internal or external conflict

ECRI encourages members States which have experienced or are experiencing conflict to pursue constructive dialogue with all relevant national and international actors in order to achieve pacific settlement of disputes. In particular, ECRI encourages States to resolve issues concerning the return of refugees and internally displaced persons to their homes and to focus on the need to achieve full reconciliation and build mutual confidence between different communities residing in the state.<sup>361</sup>

<sup>356</sup> ECRI second report on Germany, at paragraph 46.

<sup>357</sup> ECRI second report on Austria, at paragraph 37.

<sup>358</sup> Second report on Ireland, at paragraph 79.

<sup>359</sup> ECRI second report on Luxembourg, at paragraph 54.

<sup>360</sup> ECRI second report on Italy, at paragraphs 73 and 75.

<sup>361</sup> See, for example, ECRI second report on Georgia, at paragraph 47.

## **B WORK ON GENERAL THEMES**

### 1. Preliminary remarks

Work on general themes is another of the three main strands of ECRI's programme of activities, the other two being country-by-country work and relations with civil society. As already mentioned, the three strands of ECRI's work are closely linked and are intended to be mutually reinforcing. It is therefore important not to consider ECRI's work on general themes in isolation, but rather in the context of its country-by-country work and work on relations with civil society, as described in Sections A and C of this review.

ECRI's work on general themes comprises four principal areas; the production of General Policy Recommendations, collecting and disseminating of examples of "good practices", work to broaden the scope of the non-discrimination provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights, and the follow-up to the European and World Conferences against Racism.

To date, ECRI has produced seven General Policy Recommendations (GPRs) regarding: combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance (GPR 1); specialised bodies at national level to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance (GPR 2); combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies (GPR 3); national surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims (GPR 4); combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims (GPR 5); combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobia, antisemitic material via the Internet (GPR 6); and national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination (GPR 7).

This section includes a synopsis of the substantive content of all seven General Policy Recommendations.

ECRI has also produced four publications identifying "good practices". Of these, three recent publications have focussed on examples of good practice in the areas of: the fight against racism and intolerance in the European media, specialised bodies, and combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies. An earlier publication, produced in 1996 provided a "basket" of examples of "good practice" across a number of thematic areas.<sup>362</sup> For its series of publications on "good practices", ECRI has selected examples which could, potentially, be replicated elsewhere, particularly in other member States. In order to enhance this potential, ECRI has made efforts to disseminate this series of publications as widely as possible.

In this section, edited examples of the "good practices" identified by ECRI have been interspersed throughout the text describing ECRI's General Policy Recommendations. This approach has been adopted in order to provide real-life illustrations of the manner

<sup>362</sup> Examples of "good practice" to fight against racism and intolerance in the European media, CRI (2000) 19; Good Practices: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, CRI (99) 43; Practical examples in combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, CRI (2001) 28; Combating Racism and Intolerance: A basket of good practices, CRI (96) 38.

in which the precepts outlined in the General Policy Recommendations can be carried into practice.

Other general thematic activities undertaken by ECRI, and outlined in this section, include work to broaden the scope of the non-discrimination provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights and to follow-up the European and World Conferences against Racism.

## 2. General Policy Recommendations and examples of "good practices"

## a) Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance

Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and related intolerance has been recognised as a major priority by the international community. Alarmed by the resurgence of racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, the Heads of State and Government of Council of Europe member States adopted at their first Summit held in Vienna in October 1993 a Declaration and Plan of Action to combat those scourges. As a result of the Vienna Declaration, ECRI was created. ECRI's distinctive contribution in this area has been the formulation of specific proposals to assist States in combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, both in its country-by-country work and its General Policy Recommendations. ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 1 (GPR 1) sets out concrete proposals as regards the policy approach which States should adopt in respect of legal measures, education, training and research, the behaviour of police officers and other public officials, and access to public services and employment.

i. Legal measures

ECRI considers that the adoption and enforcement of clear legal standards prohibiting discrimination is a crucial component of any national anti-discrimination strategy. GPR 1 emphasises that an important first step is for governments to sign and ratify relevant international legal instruments, and to incorporate measures aimed at combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at a fundamental level in the national legal order. The importance of ratification of international standards is also underlined in ECRI's country-by-country work, which stresses that States should refrain from lodging reservations to such instruments, and should make available to the public information concerning the protection afforded by international standards which have been ratified.<sup>363</sup>

For fundamental norms to be fully effective, detailed provisions should also be elaborated in criminal, civil and administrative law. Under the criminal law, it is important that those responsible for racist acts or incitement to hatred, discrimination or violence be systematically held to account for their actions, and that their racist motives be taken into account by the courts. In civil and administrative law, specific measures prohibiting

<sup>363</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (a) on International legal instruments.

discrimination in the provision of public services and in employment should be adopted and maintained. Proper records should be kept on the occurrence of racist incidents and on the number and outcome of related prosecutions. Such offences have a very serious effect on the victims, who should be provided with appropriate assistance and compensation.

Many of the worst racist attacks and abuses of human rights are the result of deliberate and organised campaigns by racist organisations or media outlets. ECRI's GPR 1 recommends that legal measures should be taken to combat racist organisations, including, where necessary, banning offending organisations and taking action against those who produce, distribute and store racist material. In its country-by-country work, ECRI monitors the operation of criminal law and encourages member States to ensure that racist and discriminatory acts are prohibited and penalised.<sup>364</sup> A number of standards have also been set out in ECRI's country-by-country work on civil and administrative law, including the introduction of anti-discrimination legislation prohibiting discrimination in the provision of goods and services.<sup>365</sup>

ii. Education, training and research

#### Anti racism and equality education pack

The National Youth Council of Ireland created an education pack, designed for working with young people to explore concepts of identity, belonging and difference, racism and exclusion, social awareness and participation in changes. It includes a series of fact sheets, question-naire, hand-outs, role-playing games and other activities for young people. The National Youth Council of Ireland also conducts training programmes using the pack.

Negative attitudes about minority groups are often formed early in life and reinforced by popular culture. In GPR 1, ECRI suggests that education in schools and general awareness raising in society are needed to promote the appreciation of cultural diversity.

School curricula should include accurate information on multiculturalism and the problem of racism particularly with regard to instruction in history subjects. Education at a more advanced level can help to prevent institutional racism and discrimination. GRP 1 recommends that specialised training courses on cultural sensitivity and non-discrimination should be delivered to those who have professional responsibilities which bring them into contact with minority groups or non-citizens. Such training is also appropriate for individuals within organisations responsible for recruitment.

With a view to the effective monitoring of racist incidents, GPR 1 indicates that research should be conducted into the nature and causes of racism, and that data should be collected on racist offences and the experiences of groups particularly vulnerable to racism.

<sup>364</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (c) on Criminal law. 365 For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (d) on Civil and administrative law.

#### iii. Police and public officials

For many people, including members of minority groups, police officers and other public officials are the "face" of the State. As such, they ought to stand in the front line of the fight against racism. Unfortunately, in many States in which ECRI is active, the behaviour of police officers and public officials does not positively contribute to combating racism and intolerance.

GPR 1 emphasises that police officers should actively promote the equal treatment of minority groups and should engage in constructive and frequent dialogue with them. In the interests of justice and transparency for all concerned, independent mechanisms of enquiry into racist incidents should be established.

ECRI's Recommendation also makes clear that all public officials should promote tolerance in their public comments, and the recruitment of minorities as public officials, including as police officers, should be encouraged.

In order to assist police officers and other public officials to deliver the quality of service which members of minority groups are entitled to expect, GPR 1 recommends that such officials should be provided with specialist training in non-discriminatory practices. In its country-by-country work, ECRI further emphasises the crucial role of those responsible for the administration of justice in combating racism. In this context, it encourages member States to ensure that public officials, including police officers, should receive systematic and ongoing training regarding racism and discrimination.<sup>366</sup>

#### Encouraging a more representative police force, Netherlands

The project aimed to achieve a more representative police force by appointing police officers from ethnic minorities. It involved the revision of examination material and methods in order not to exclude candidates from minority backgrounds. Training was provided for police on intercultural management skills and inter-ethnic communication, and training opportunities for police from minority backgrounds were improved.

iv. Access to public services and employment

The effective prohibition of discrimination will often require the introduction of positive measures to promote equality of opportunity. GPR 1 stresses that all members of the public should have equal access to public services including healthcare, social services, education and housing. In order to create a "level playing field", special training measures may be required to assist members of minority groups to enter the labour market. GPR 1 recommends that States should live up to their responsibility to ensure that, where necessary, such measures are put in place.

<sup>366</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (e) on Administration of Justice.

# b) Specialised bodies at national level to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance

ECRI is convinced that specialised national bodies can make a significant contribution to combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, including through the protection and promotion of the rights of individuals belonging to minority groups and by providing advice and information to national authorities. In General Policy Recommendation No. 2 (GPR 2), ECRI invites member States to consider setting up such specialised bodies, where they do not already exist, and outlines a number of basic principles concerning their nature and composition, functions and specific activities.<sup>367</sup> The standards elaborated in ECRI's country-by-country work have provided useful practical guidelines on the role and functioning of specialised bodies, including the need for close and ongoing reviews of the work of such bodies.<sup>368</sup>

i. Statutes establishing specialised bodies

The composition, areas of competence, statutory powers, accountability and funding of specialised bodies should be determined by terms of reference clearly set out in a constitutional or other legal text.

ii. Alternative forms of specialised bodies

Specialised bodies may take various forms, according to the legal and administrative traditions of the country concerned, for example, national commissions for racial equality, ombudspersons against ethnic discrimination, and centres or offices for combating racism and promoting equal opportunities.

GPR 2 also reflects the fundamental principle that, if the potential impact of such bodies is to be maximised, their composition should reflect the diversity of wider society.

#### Federal Commission against Racism, Switzerland

The Federal Commission is mandated to investigate racial discrimination and encourage understanding between different ethnic and religious groups. It provides advice and support to the federal authorities concerning legislation, legal provisions and policy. It also offers support, guidance and mediation services to individuals.

iii. Functions and responsibilities of specialised bodies

According to GPR 2, the functions and responsibilities of specialised bodies should include:

- monitoring the content and effect of legislation and executive acts, advising the authorities on these matters and, where necessary, making proposals for modifications;
- providing aid and assistance to victims, including legal aid;

<sup>367</sup> See also, in this respect, the Principles laid down by the first international meeting of National Institutions for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, Paris, 7-9 October 1991.
368 For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (f) on Specialised bodies

<sup>368</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (f) on Specialised bodies and other institutions.

- obtaining evidence and information, considering specific cases and seeking settlements either through conciliation or by having recourse to courts;
- providing advice and training to relevant groups, and awareness-raising generally on discrimination;
- supporting organisations with similar objectives and taking account of their concerns.

ECRI has noted that the activities of specialised bodies, which exercise competently the functions and responsibilities listed above, can complement the work of international bodies – such as ECRI – in combating racism and intolerance at national level.

#### Equal Treatment Commission, Netherlands

The Equal Treatment Commission is an independent institution with the mandate to receive and deal with individual complaints about unequal treatment. It has the right to actively investigate its cases and all concerned parties are obliged to provide requested information. Though its decisions are not legally binding, they have a high moral authority and are usually followed.

iv. Administration and functioning of specialised bodies

GPR 2 makes clear that the composition of specialised bodies should reflect the diversity of society in the member State concerned. Independence and accountability are also crucial operating principles for the effective operation of such bodies. Such bodies should operate without the interference of the State and be provided with sufficient funds to properly carry out their functions. They should have the freedom to appoint their own members and staff, and safeguards concerning the dismissal or non-renewal of appointments of members should be set out clearly in the terms of reference of the body.

Specialised bodies have a responsibility to ensure that they are meaningful institutions for those whose rights they are established to protect. They should ensure that their offices and services are accessible, including through setting up local offices where required, in order to reach those most affected.

Specialised bodies should also be accountable for the impact and political independence of their work. While member States should ensure that specialised bodies have an appropriate level of access to government departments and information, the bodies themselves should seek to preserve their credibility vis a vis both national authorities and civil society by maximising the quality of research, information and advice provided.

#### c) Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies

Members of Roma/Gypsy communities are particularly vulnerable to racial discrimination and intolerance. Persisting prejudices against them throughout Europe lead to many forms of exclusion from economic and social life, and to regular violations of their fundamental rights. ECRI has made specific recommendations advocating the development of adequate protection for this group in General Policy Recommendation No. 3 (GPR 3). It suggests that racism and intolerance against this group be combated in a number of ways, including through legal measures, training and enhanced participation of members of Roma/Gypsy communities in civil society.

As a starting point, ECRI has recommended that members of Roma/Gypsy communities be guaranteed the right to choose the name by which their community is officially referred to.



Roma/Gypsy camp in Kosovo

GPR 3 also underlines that that the provisions of GPR 1 are particularly relevant to members of Roma/Gypsy communities, notably in relation to measures set out in national criminal, civil and administrative law to counter racism. GPR 3 emphasises that relevant international instruments should be signed and ratified by member States, including the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities and the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages.

Discrimination and discriminatory practices, particularly in the areas of housing, education and employment, should be combated through legislation. Appropriate steps should also be taken to prevent discrimination against Roma/Gypsies with regard to access to citizenship and the right to asylum. Discrimination against members of Roma/Gypsy communities by public representatives or public authorities should be subject to appropriate legal action under criminal or civil law. Members of Roma/Gypsy communities who experience such discrimination should have access to the courts, including through the provision of free legal aid. No degree of impunity as regards discrimination against Roma and Gypsies should be tolerated, and justice must be fully and promptly done in cases involving violations of their fundamental rights.

#### Combating inter-ethnic violence, Romania

To address a rising tide of violence and intimidation against Roma communities, a Romanian NGO brought together key local actors, including Roma, police, mayors, local government officials and NGOs to promote a more co-ordinated response to the abuse suffered by Roma. In many areas these informal discussion panels have developed into permanent structures with an enhanced capacity to engage with public authorities and to launch new projects in favour of Roma. The initiative had a strong campaigning function and provided legal support to Roma victims of racism and intolerance.

GPR 3 also recommends that positive measures should be taken with a view to preventing future violations of the rights of this vulnerable group. In this context, arrangements should be made for dialogue and training to promote cultural understanding, and awareness of prejudice, for persons involved in the administration of justice, including the police and local authorities. Training should also be provided for members of the Roma/Gypsy community, in particular on their legal rights and the functioning of the legal system. Roma/Gypsy children should be guaranteed equal access to education and the curricula of schools should accurately reflect the history and culture of this group.

Awareness-raising about Roma/Gypsies should be encouraged in the public at large and in the media in particular, as the perpetuation of negative stereotypes can help sustain discrimination against members of these communities.

Questions related to travelling within a country, including town planning issues should be resolved in a way which does not hinder the lifestyle of those concerned. Institutional arrangements should be developed to ensure that Roma/Gypsy communities can play an active role in the decision-making process at national, regional and local level.

GPR 3 also emphasises that the activities of Roma/Gypsy civil society organisations should be supported, including those NGOs which provide legal assistance. Confidence-building measures can help to foster genuinely pluralistic societies and to promote peaceful co-existence. Particular attention should be paid to the situation of Roma/Gypsy women who may be affected by "double discrimination" on account of both their community affiliation and their gender.

#### Roma self-help bureau, Bulgaria

Several self-help bureaus have been established throughout Bulgaria by local Roma/Gypsy organisations with the aim of developing an integrated programme of community-based work. The objectives of the initiative are to increase the educational level of Roma children, address the high levels of unemployment among Roma/Gypsies and develop solutions with local authorities and other civic associations. Activities have included the establishment of a youth centre, counselling and mediation, and assistance with training and recruitment.

Many of ECRI's country-by-country reports have identified the situation of Roma/ Gypsies as an area of particular concern and have stressed the importance of training and counselling to help integrate Roma/Gypsies and facilitate access to employment and education.<sup>369</sup>

# d) National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims

Victim or potential victim surveys are increasingly seen as a methodologically-sound way of establishing a fuller understanding of the nature and causes of crime. The importance of reliable data on racist and discriminatory acts and on the situation of minority groups is underlined in ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 4 (GPR 4).

Building on the suggestion in General Policy Recommendation No. 1 that relevant data be collected, ECRI proposes that statistical data should be supplemented by surveys among the general population and targeted surveys which ascertain the experiences and perceptions of potential victims of racist and discriminatory acts. The aim of such surveys is to gain a picture of the problems of racism and intolerance including from the perspective of various vulnerable groups. GPR 4 contains detailed suggestions concerning the organisation, design and follow up of such surveys.

#### Poll of immigrant groups, Sweden

An opinion poll was conducted by the Swedish Ombudsperson against Ethnic Discrimination on the experience of immigrants and their perceptions of attitudes towards them. The poll focussed on the experiences of victims and potential victims selected from four separate immigrant groups and the subsequent report was presented to various bodies including police and labour organisations. The exercise was subsequently repeated targeting different groups, in addition to the same control groups, to provide a comparative measurement of statistics on changing levels of discrimination.

i. Organisation of surveys

The selected target groups may include immigrants, national minorities and other vulnerable groups, based on information already available about discrimination faced by such groups. However, some of the most vulnerable groups may also be the most difficult to reach and GPR 4 stresses that, if reliable statistics about such groups are not available, alternative means of identifying and reaching the pertinent respondents should be found.

ii. Survey design

To a large extent, the quality of a survey's design will determine the credibility of its findings, and the extent to which those findings can be deployed to address any lacunae

<sup>369</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (p) (i) on Roma/Gypsy communities.

identified. GPR 4 suggests that questions for minority groups raised in the surveys should include topics such as:

- the experience of unfair treatment in contacts with public authorities such as police, health, welfare and education authorities and housing agencies, and private institutions such as banks, restaurants and shops;
- perceived opportunities to participate equally in society, awareness of measures designed to improve the situation of the group and success achieved in areas such as education, training and employment;
- general attitudes of the selected groups towards wider society, including the trust placed in institutions, attitudes towards immigration and asylum policies, relationships with other groups and their overall identification with the host country and/or country of origin.
  - iii. Follow-up

The impact of potential victim surveys can be maximised if they are part of a datagathering strategy which includes follow-up surveys to gauge changing patterns of discrimination or to address the situation of different target groups.

More generally, the follow up to potential victim surveys should include using the findings to evaluate and elaborate polices which take into account the situation of the target groups, and to increase awareness and understanding about the problems faced by such groups.

#### Study of the root causes of xenophobia, Austria

This scientific study was supported by the Austrian Ministry of Science, Research and Art. The study included a demographic analysis of migration movements, and an examination of political and economic trends including unemployment patterns. On the basis of this research, counter strategies and positive measures to overcome xenophobia were elaborated.

In the course of its country-by-country work ECRI has highlighted the importance of gathering accurate base-line data and conducting national surveys to ensure the effective monitoring of the situation of vulnerable groups.<sup>370</sup>

## e) Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims

The freedom of religion guaranteed by international human rights instruments extends to all religions and includes a prohibition of discrimination towards particular religions and religious communities. ECRI is concerned by indications that religious intolerance and prejudice against minority Muslim communities is increasing in European countries, and that Islam is sometimes portrayed inaccurately on the basis of hostile stereotyping, which can reinforce discrimination.

<sup>370</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2( m) on Monitoring country situations.

General Policy Recommendation No. 5 (GPR 5) proposes a number of measures to address discrimination against such communities, including those set out below.

- steps should be taken to ensure that Muslim communities are not discriminated against and that unnecessary obstacles to the practice of their religion are removed, including any administrative bars to the construction of places of worship;
- sanctions should be imposed in cases of discrimination on the grounds of religion and measures taken to eliminate such discrimination in the areas of access to citizenship, education and employment;
- employers' "codes of conduct" to fight religious discrimination in the workplace should be encouraged;
- steps should be taken to combat the social exclusion of Muslims and particular attention paid to discrimination against Muslim women;
- attention should be paid to the image portrayed of Islam and Muslim communities in the media and in school curricula;
- dialogue between minority Muslim communities and wider society should be facilitated, and measures designed to combat discrimination against members of this community should be monitored and evaluated.

GPR 5 was published some eighteen months before the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001. Since then, as ECRI notes in its Annual Report on activities for 2002, the problem of Islamophobia has become more acute in several countries, including within certain public institutions.<sup>371</sup> It follows that the implementation of the measures proposed in GPR 5 remains crucially important.

In addition to its general country-by-country work on minorities and other religious groups, ECRI's country reports have encouraged member States to take specific measures to tackle any emerging negative climates of opinion concerning Muslim communities.<sup>372</sup>

# f) Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet

Despite the positive potential of new information technologies, there are disturbing trends in the use which is being made of the Internet. Although it offers the opportunity to spread information about human rights to all corners of the world, a single click can now also send messages of racial hatred and incitement to violence to a virtually unlimited number of recipients. ECRI is concerned, for example, about the growing dissemination of antisemitic material via the Internet. General Policy Recommendation No. 1 underlines that incitement to racist acts through the electronic media should be categorised as a criminal offence under national law.

<sup>371</sup> Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, ECRI, 20 March 2003, CRI (2003) 23, at p 8.

<sup>372</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (p) (i) (b) on Muslim Communities.

This issue has been expanded upon in General Policy Recommendation No. 6 (GPR 6), which deals specifically with the distribution of material via the Internet. GPR 6 acknowledges the truly international nature of the Internet and the fact that those in a position to influence the content of websites can contribute to the fight against racism and intolerance. It emphasises that all international work and instruments concerning the regulation of the Internet should include specific reference to the elimination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material. Moreover, international co-operation, including between law enforcement agencies, should be strengthened and sustained efforts made to train law enforcement officials in this area. National legislation should deal specifically with racist offences committed via the Internet and those responsible should be prosecuted.

As ECRI's own website demonstrates, the Internet also provides a powerful medium for the communication of positive, anti-discrimination messages.<sup>373</sup> GPR 6 recognises this and urges that, whenever possible, anti-discrimination initiatives on the Internet should be supported. As is also emphasised in ECRI's country-by-country reports, self-regulation by the Internet industry should be encouraged and the responsibility of website providers clarified with respect to the distribution of racist material.<sup>374</sup>

## g) National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination

In all of its General Policy Recommendations and country-by-country work, ECRI attaches a very high degree of importance to the adoption and implementation of effective legal and administrative measures at a national level to combat racism and racial discrimination. General Policy Recommendation No. 7 (GPR 7) proposes that member States enact such legislation where it does not already exist or is incomplete. The Recommendation calls for a strengthening of legal tools to protect individuals from acts of racism and discrimination.

Relevant international legislation and pre-existing international standards were taken into account by ECRI when drawing up GPR 7. While GPR 7 draws upon the guidance to be found in such norms, it adopts a distinctive, and sometimes innovative, approach. Among the most significant innovations are the inclusion of nationality, religion and language among the grounds upon which discrimination should be prohibited. The Recommendation proposes that the application of the prohibition of discrimination be extended to a very broad range of areas, including "the activities of the police and border control officials; the attribution of more extensive powers to national specialised bodies to combat racism and racial discrimination; the establishment of a positive duty on public authorities to promote equality and to prevent discrimination in carrying out their functions".<sup>375</sup>

<sup>373</sup> www.coe.int/ecri.

<sup>374</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (o) (ii) on Self-regulation. 375 Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, paragraph 20, page 17.

Such a comprehensive approach is fully consistent with ECRI's mission to support and promote national legislation which offers sufficient protection against all contemporary forms of racism and racial discrimination. Given that certain Council of Europe member States are reforming their current anti-discrimination legislation, GPR 7 offers a template for future legislation which could provide the widest possible degree of protection for potential victims of racism and racial discrimination. As Joseph Voyame, the Chair of the working group which drafted GPR 7 has commented, "the Recommendation is a reference text, which sets out all that needs to be done if we want to go as far as possible and be truly effective."<sup>376</sup>

GPR 7 initially sets out a series of definitions used in the Recommendation. It defines "racism" as meaning the belief that a ground such as race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin justifies contempt for a person or a group of persons, or the superiority of a person or group of persons. The explanatory memorandum of GPR 7 makes clear that the term "racism" should be understood as including xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance. The inclusion of the grounds of language, religion and nationality in this definition ensures that it encompasses all the phenomena covered in ECRI's mandate. GPR 7 also provides further clarity on the definition of "direct racial discrimination", which is taken to mean any differential treatment on the grounds of race, colour, language, religion, nationality or ethnic origin, which has no objective or reasonable justification. "Indirect racial discrimination" is defined by GPR 7 as meaning cases where an apparently neutral factor such as a provision, criterion or practice cannot as easily be complied with, or disadvantages, persons belonging to a group designated by the grounds of race, colour, language, religion, nationality or ethnic origin, which as no objective or reasonable justification.

The measures proposed by ECRI in GPR 7 are intended to be compatible with all types of legal systems, and are set out in an integrated series of components covering constitutional, civil and administrative, criminal and other legal provisions. ECRI has indicated that it believes that such an integrated approach is essential if States are to engage with these issues "in a manner which is as exhaustive, effective and satisfactory from the point of view of the victim as possible".<sup>377</sup>

i. Constitutional law

National Constitutions can provide a bedrock of legal protection against racism and intolerance. They should enshrine the principle of equal treatment, the commitment of the State to promote equality and the right of individuals to be free from discrimination on grounds such as race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin. Exceptions to the principle of equal treatment may be established by law provided they do not constitute discrimination. However, GPR 7 makes clear that any restrictions on the exercise of freedom of expression, assembly and association, even those purportedly designed to combat racism, must themselves be in accordance with

<sup>376</sup> Interview with Joseph Voyame, Swiss member of ECRI.

<sup>377</sup> Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002, CRI (2003) 23, paragraph 19, page 17.

the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights. ECRI's country-by-country reports underline the requirement of adequate substantive content, practical application and implementation of constitutional provisions to prohibit discrimination.<sup>378</sup>

ii. Civil and administrative law

Anti-discrimination provisions should be accorded a prominent place in the laws which govern the practice of institutions and relations between citizens. In particular, the law should clearly define and prohibit direct and indirect racial discrimination, while allowing for the adoption of temporary special measures to compensate for disadvantages suffered by particular groups. Acts of discrimination should be designated as including acts such as segregation; discrimination by association; announced intention to discriminate; and instructing, inciting or aiding another to discriminate.

The prohibition on discrimination should apply to public bodies, private persons and institutions, including in the fields of employment, education, training, housing, health and the provision of goods and services. Public authorities should have a particular duty to promote equality, and to prevent discrimination. The law should place public authorities under an obligation to ensure that third parties to whom they award contracts, loans, grants or other benefits respect and promote anti-discrimination policies. Violation by third parties of such conditions may permissibly result in the termination of such awards.

Easily accessible judicial and/or administrative procedures should be available to all victims of discrimination, including fast-track procedures in urgent cases. If a court can make a prima facia presumption from evidence presented that an act of discrimination has taken place, it should be incumbent on the person or organisation accused of such discrimination to prove that it did not take place. The law should provide for appropriate sanctions in cases of discrimination and for the compensation of victims.

GPR 7 also emphasises that laws and administrative provisions should be regularly reviewed and those found to be discriminatory should be amended. Discriminatory provisions in individual or collective agreements should be declared null and void and, when violations present themselves, judicial and/or administrative remedies should be available to all victims of discrimination.

GPR 7 also recognises that civil and administrative law can play a role in combating organisations which promote racism. It emphasises that such organisations should not benefit from public funding, and indicates that the law should provide for the possible dissolution of such organisations.

Through its country-by-country reports, ECRI examines the civil and administrative law of member States and encourages States to periodically review the provisions of their anti-discrimination legislation.<sup>379</sup>

<sup>378</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (b) on Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions.

<sup>379</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (d) on Civil and administrative law.

iii. Criminal law

According to GPR 7, the criminal law should penalise public incitement to violence, hatred and discrimination. When committed intentionally against a person or group on the grounds of race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or racial origin, public insults and defamation or threats against an individual or group on any of the above grounds should also be criminalised. Similarly, the public expression with a racist aim of a 'superiority ideology' which denigrates a groups or groups on any of the above grounds should be sanctioned by the law.

Genocide, the most extreme manifestation of racial hatred, should be penalised by the criminal law and the public denial, trivialisation, justification or condoning on racist grounds, of genocide, crimes against humanity, or war crimes should be treated as a criminal offence and action taken accordingly.

Clearly, participation in proscribed activities of racist organisations should be penalised by law, as should the distribution of racist material and aiding or abetting the commission of racist offences. In GPR 7, as in its country-by-country work, ECRI insists that, for all other criminal offences, racist motivation should constitute an aggravating circumstance. Racial discrimination in the exercise of public office is a serious abuse of power and should be prohibited by law.

To be meaningful, the standards set out in the criminal law should be accompanied by effective, proportionate and dissuasive sanctions, in addition to ancillary and alternative sanctions. The potentially-deterrent effect of the existence of effective criminal sanctions in this area has also been emphasised in ECRI's country-by-county work.<sup>380</sup>

iv. Other legal provisions

In line with ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 2 on specialised bodies, GPR 7 suggests that the law should provide for the establishment of national specialised bodies to combat racism and discrimination. It underlines the requirement of competence in the areas of assistance to victims; investigation powers; the right to initiate and participate in court proceedings; monitoring legislation and giving advice to national authorities; awareness-raising and the promotion of policies and practices to ensure equal treatment. Other interested organisations, such as trade unions, should be similarly entitled to make civil or criminal complaints. Independent bodies mandated to investigate alleged acts of discrimination committed by police officers, border officials, army personnel and prison officials should also be established.

Free legal aid should be provided for victims of racism or discrimination, including the provision of a court appointed lawyer and (where necessary) an interpreter. Victims of racial discrimination and/or those giving evidence in such cases should be protected from acts of retaliation.

<sup>380</sup> For further information on this aspect of ECRI's country-by-country work, see Section II A 2 (c) on Criminal law.

## 3. Broadening the scope of the non-discrimination provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights

Article 14 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) only prohibits discrimination in relation to rights already guaranteed by the Convention.<sup>381</sup> In consequence, a number of other rights, including many economic and social rights, are excluded from its scope. The purpose of Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR, which was adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe in June 2000,<sup>382</sup> is to include a more general prohibition of discrimination in the ECHR.

ECRI was instrumental in providing the impetus for this reinforcement of the ECHR. Following a review of international instruments dealing with all forms of discrimination, ECRI suggested to the Committee of Ministers that the protection afforded by the ECHR be strengthened by an additional protocol broadening the scope of the application of Article 14 of the ECHR. ECRI argued that the establishment of a right to protection from racial discrimination as a fundamental human right would be a necessary counterpart to its efforts to combat racism and intolerance. Having regard to the ECRI proposal, in April 1996 the Committee of Ministers instructed the Steering Committee for Human Rights to examine the feasibility of introducing such an additional protocol into the ECHR. In October 1997, the Steering Committee recommended that the adoption of an additional protocol was advisable and feasible.



The Committee of Ministers consequently approved the drafting of an additional protocol to the ECHR which would broaden in a general manner the field of application of Article 14 and include a non-exhaustive list of discrimination grounds. The Steering Committee elaborated the draft protocol in close consultation with ECRI. The new provision, which was opened for signature by Council of Europe member States on 4 November 2000 significantly widens the scope of the protection offered by the ECHR and has the potential to make an important contribution to the fight against racism and intolerance in Europe.

<sup>381</sup> Article 14 of the ECHR States that "the enjoyment of *the rights and freedoms set forth in this Convention* shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association with a national minority, property, birth or other status" [emphasis added].

<sup>382</sup> Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, Council of Europe, 4 November 2000, ETS 177.

Protocol No. 12 contains a formal guarantee that "any right set forth by law" may be enjoyed without discrimination.<sup>383</sup> According to the explanatory report to the Protocol, the notion of any right "set forth by law"<sup>384</sup> refers to "any right specifically granted to an individual under national law". The explanatory report also indicates that, although the word "law" may also cover international law "this does not mean that this provision entails jurisdiction for the European Court of Human Rights to examine compliance with other international instruments".<sup>385</sup>

The other significant innovation in Protocol No. 12 is that it places a specific duty on States to ensure that no one is discriminated against by a public authority.<sup>386</sup> The explanatory report to the Protocol specifies that this is intended to prohibit discrimination:

- (ii) "in the enjoyment of a right which may be inferred from a clear obligation of a public authority under national law, that is, where a public authority is under an obligation under national law to behave in a particular manner;
- (iii) by a public authority in the exercise of discretionary power (for example, granting certain subsidies);
- (iv) by any other act or omission by a public authority (for example, the behaviour of law enforcement officials when controlling a riot)".<sup>387</sup>

Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol No.12 are to be regarded as additional articles to the ECHR.<sup>388</sup> Article 1 of the Protocol encompasses and goes beyond the scope Article 14 of the ECHR, but it will not amend Article 14 which will continue to apply. The Protocol will enter into force once ten Council of Europe member States have ratified it.<sup>389</sup>

In its country-by-country reports and discussions with national authorities, ECRI strongly urges member States which have not yet done so to ratify Protocol No. 12.

## 4. European and World Conferences Against Racism

Following a decision of the United Nations General Assembly, the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance was held in Durban, South Africa in September 2001. It represented an opportunity for the international community to reaffirm its commitment to the elimination of racism and to focus on those areas where action had been insufficient and more concerted efforts were required. In preparation for the World Conference, regional meetings took place in

<sup>383</sup> Article 1, paragraph 1 of Protocol No. 12 reads: "The enjoyment of *any right set forth by law* shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association with a national minority, property, birth or other status" [emphasis added].

<sup>384</sup> Explanatory report to Protocol No. 12, at paragraph 22 (i).

<sup>385</sup> Explanatory report to Protocol No. 12, at paragraph 29.

<sup>386</sup> Article 1, paragraph 2 of Protocol No. 12 reads: "No one shall be discriminated against by any public authority on any ground such as those mentioned in paragraph 1".

<sup>387</sup> Explanatory report to Protocol No. 12, at paragraph 22 (ii) to (iv).

<sup>388</sup> See Article 3 of Protocol No. 12.

<sup>389</sup> The current state of ratifications of Protocol No. 12 can be found at: http://conventions.coe.int/.

Santiago, Chile; Strasbourg, France; Tehran, Iran and Dakar, Senegal, with preceding NGO fora, all of which received funding from the European Union. ECRI prepared a position paper for the European Conference, and its secretariat was responsible for organising the Conference and co-ordinating the General Conclusions and the Political Declaration of the Conference, which formed the European contribution to the World Conference.

## a) Preparations for the European and World Conferences Against Racism



European Conference against Racism 11-13 October 2000

In preparation for the European Conference and the World Conference, position papers were prepared by ECRI and the European Union Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia. ECRI's position papers set out detailed analyses and recommendations for the four working groups of the Conference, as summarised below.<sup>390</sup>

i. Legal protection

Certain gaps in legal protection exist in the international standards, including in the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) which contains no general prohibition of discrimination. The adoption of a new Protocol to the ECHR containing a general clause prohibiting discrimination would demonstrate Europe's commitment to the fight against racism.

The recognition which the international legal order grants to opposing racism is not fully reflected at a national level in the day-to-day reality on the ground. In order to reduce this discrepancy, States should take positive measures to protect vulnerable people and report on the effectiveness of such measures. To ensure the effective implementa-

<sup>390 &</sup>quot;ECRI position papers" for the European Conference against Racism "All Different All Equal: From Principle to Practice", August 2000, EUROCONF (2000) 5.

tion of anti-discrimination measures, a good practice to follow is to ensure that the criminal prosecution of racist offences is consistently undertaken and that accurate statistics are collected on offences and cases prosecuted.

ii. Policies and practices

Racism in the criminal justice system, including within the police and prosecuting authorities, and in the provision of public services has not been matched with consistent and vigorous policies to counter such problems.

The creation of specialised bodies at a national level to combat racism can be an effective means of implementing anti-racism legislation and policies. Positive measures should be taken in the field of employment and housing to ensure equality of opportunity, including through "codes of good conduct" and special training programmes. Racially-motivated violence requires specific policies, including the development of an information policy for victims and potential victims, and the collection of reliable statistical data.

Practical measures should be undertaken to ensure that vulnerable groups such as Roma/Gypsies and minority religious groups such as Muslims are protected from racist violations, including through the establishment of national, regional and local consultative mechanisms.

iii. Education and awareness-raising

The importance of human rights and anti-racism education is not adequately reflected in terms of priorities and resources, and needs arising from religious, linguistic and other forms of diversity are rarely taken into account. Human rights education should be included in school curricula, and text books and syllabi should be revised to reflect diversity. Special training courses should be initiated to ensure that key professionals in contact with minority groups are aware of problems related to racism and discrimination. Organisations which carry out awareness raising in this area, such as human rights NGOs should be supported, and the Internet used to create education networks against racism.

iv. Information, communication and the media

Notwithstanding positive developments and examples of good practice, certain media outlets continue to diffuse negative racist messages and, in some cases, incitement to racial hatred. Particular emphasis should be placed on training for journalists in professional techniques and ethical principles, and on ensuring access to the media for minority groups. The use of new technologies, such as the Internet, by individuals and groups for the purposes of disseminating racist messages is a serious problem, addressed in detail by ECRI in its General Policy Recommendation No. 6.<sup>391</sup>

<sup>391</sup> For further information concerning General Policy Recommendation No. 6, see Section II B 2 (f).

## b) European Conference against Racism

The European Conference Against Racism, entitled "All different, all equal: from principle to practice", took place in Strasbourg, France in October 2000 and was organised by the Council of Europe. 570 participants attended, including government ministers and officials, representatives of intergovernmental organisations including the Council of Europe, the European Union and United Nations bodies, and representatives of NGOs and civil society. A Political Declaration and General Conclusions, forming the contribution of Europe to the World Conference, were adopted by ministers of Council of Europe member States. The principal elements of the Political Declaration and the General Conclusions are summarised below.



Ms Mary Robinson, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights at the European Conference against Racism, October 2000

#### i. Political Declaration

The Political Declaration identified racism and racial discrimination as serious violations of human rights which must be combated by all lawful means. The Declaration noted that violent incidents of racism continued to occur in Europe, normally targeting particularly vulnerable people including migrants, asylum-seekers, refugees, displaced persons, indigenous peoples and Roma/Gypsies. It drew attention to the problems of hostility expressed by some elements of the media and politicians towards vulnerable groups, support for xenophobic political parties and the use of new communication technologies in the dissemination of racist messages. Member States committed themselves to take further steps to eliminate racism, including through the following means:

*Legal measures*, including ratifying and implementing at a national level relevant international standards; assuring adequate support and assistance to victims of racism; bringing to justice those responsible for racist acts; and taking action against incitement to racial hatred. *Policy initiatives*, including establishing national action plans and national institutions to combat racism; integrating a gender dimension in policies on racism and empowering women from vulnerable groups; and countering social exclusion by providing for equal access to education, employment and housing.

*Education and training*, including implementing training and awareness-raising programmes for public officials such as the police, judges, prison officials and immigration officers.

#### ii. General Conclusions

*Legal protection*, including accepting and fully implementing relevant international instruments; providing comprehensive national anti-discrimination legislation; consistently applying the law and providing effective remedies; and imposing a positive duty on public authorities to promote equality and assess the impact of policies.

*Policies and practices*, including mainstreaming the fight against racism through developing comprehensive national action plans; integrating a gender perspective in all policies; ensuring the participation of vulnerable groups in public affairs and decision-making; refusing to support racist or xenophobic political parties; ensuring equality of opportunity in the fields of employment and social affairs; and monitoring policies and programmes to assess their effectiveness.

*Education and awareness-raising*, including ensuring access to education without discrimination; reinforcing human rights and anti-racist education in schools and other formal education; training professional groups frequently in contact with vulnerable groups; undertaking public information campaigns addressed in particular to young people; and working with NGOs to achieve these goals.

Information, communication and the media, including providing free access to public sources of information on legal rights; participating in national, regional and international monitoring mechanisms; supporting information networks against racism; encouraging media outlets accurately to reflect multicultural societies; developing self-regulatory codes of conduct; and combating hate speech and racist material on the Internet.

The General Conclusions of the European Conference make specific reference to the work of ECRI, including General Policy Recommendations No. 2 on specialised national bodies, No. 3 on combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies and No. 5 on combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims. The Conclusions encourage member States to take fully into account the recommendations of ECRI, particularly country-specific proposals. The European Conference also called on member States to consider 'how to best reinforce the action of ECRI'.

### c) World Conference against Racism

Together, the Political Declaration and General Conclusions of the European Conference represented the European regional input to the World Conference against Racism, in which ECRI participated as part of the Council of Europe delegation. From 31 August to 8 September 2001, 2300 representatives of 163 countries, officials of international and regional organisations, and over 4000 NGO representatives gathered in Durban to address the work which remained to be done to put an end to racism and intolerance. After difficult negotiations, the Declaration and Programme of Action of the World Conference were adopted by consensus in January 2001.<sup>392</sup>

The World Conference documents recognise that the primary responsibility for combating the evils of racism, xenophobia and related intolerance rests with States, who should therefore actively promote equality of opportunity, including through developing national action plans against racism. Detailed provisions cover issues such as improving assistance to victims of racism, including Africans and people of African descent, indigenous peoples, migrants and refugees. The Conference agreed on the need for strengthened national legislation and more effective remedies for victims of racism including through legal assistance, national support programmes and the provision of remedies and compensation.

Detailed measures of prevention, education and protection were identified including – at a national level – legislative, judicial and administrative provisions; education and awareness raising; and information and media strategies. The importance of basing corrective measures on accurate research and data was emphasised, as was the need to counter racism on the Internet. Strategies to achieve full equality were agreed by the Conference, including through the implementation of international instruments and co-operation with a wide variety of bodies including international organisations, civil society and non-governmental organisations, youth and the private sector.

Concerning the area of activities of bodies such as ECRI, the Declaration recognises the important role played by regional entities in monitoring and raising awareness about intolerance and discrimination. The Programme of Action urges States to support the activities of such bodies in their work of assessing the situation of racism, collecting and disseminating information, including through highlighting examples of good practice, organising awareness-raising campaigns and developing proposals, solutions and preventive measures.

As the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights commented at the time of the adoption of the Declaration and Plan of Action, "the real question now is the

<sup>392</sup> Report of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia, United Nations General Assembly Document A/CONF.189/12, 25 January 2002.

credibility of the international community in living up to the commitments... now is the time for implementation."<sup>393</sup>

### d) Follow-up to the European and World Conferences against Racism

ECRI has committed itself to "fully play its role within the Council of Europe in joining collective efforts at European level in ensuring the action needed to implement the recommendations of the World Conference".<sup>394</sup> In pursuance of this goal, ECRI has undertaken activities under each of the three main strands of its work: country-by-country work; work on general themes and work on relations with civil society, as described in Sections II A, B and C of this report. A number of ECRI's key achievements and activities to follow up the conferences are highlighted below.

The Political Declaration and General Conclusions of the European Conference called upon member States to reinforce the action of ECRI. In response, a new Statute for ECRI was adopted in June 2002, strengthening in particular its role as a human rights monitoring mechanism and guaranteeing the principle of the independence and impartiality of members of ECRI.

Both the European and World Conferences recommended that action be taken to enhance legal protection for victims and potential victims of racism. For its part, ECRI co-ordinated the finalisation and adoption of Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR, which includes a general prohibition of discrimination. When it enters into force, the Protocol will significantly boost the scope of legal protection afforded under the ECHR to all persons present on the territories of Council of Europe member States.<sup>395</sup>

As regards activities at national level to follow up the European and World Conferences against Racism, ECRI has encouraged member States to elaborate national action plans against racism, one of the key recommendations of both conferences. ECRI has provided encouragement and guidance concerning the elaboration of national plans through each of the three main strands of its work: country-by-country work; work on general themes and relations with civil society<sup>396</sup>.

In particular, in its second round reports on member States, ECRI noted efforts already underway in some member States to develop national action plans and encouraged those States not already involved in such an exercise to commence work on the elaboration of a plan. Specific suggestions concerning national action plans have been offered by ECRI in the context of its country-by-country work and information sessions held in member States in the context of its work on relations with civil society.

<sup>393</sup> Mary Robinson, 28 January 2002, United Nations press release on the General Assembly Third Committee, 28 January 2002, 56th Meeting.

<sup>394</sup> Annual Report on ECRI's activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 2001, CRI (2002) 23, Strasbourg, May 2002.

<sup>395</sup> For further information concerning ECRI's work towards the broadening of the scope of the application of Article 14 of the ECHR, see section II B 3 of this report.

<sup>396</sup> For further information concerning ECRI's country-by-country work and work on relations with civil society, see sections II A and II C of this report respectively.

In addition, ECRI's General Policy Recommendations and examples of "good practices" publications have provided a source of guidance and resource material to national authorities, NGOs and other bodies engaged in the preparation of national action plans. Of particular note in this connection is ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7, which contains specific proposals regarding national legislation to combat racism.<sup>397</sup>

A central concern of both conferences was developing activities in the area of education and awareness-raising. ECRI has organised information and awareness-raising campaigns on racism and intolerance, including through its website, and a package of educational materials for young people. ECRI has also participated in the formal training of human rights professionals, including in the European Masters Degree in Human Rights and Democratisation. Information sessions, as mentioned above, have been held in member States to coincide with the publication of country-by-country reports. The awareness-raising work of NGOs has been supported by ECRI and specialised consultations provided for such organisations.

<sup>397</sup> For further information concerning ECRI's General Policy Recommendations and examples of "good practices" see Section II B 2 of this report.

## **C RELATIONS WITH CIVIL SOCIETY**

## 1. Preliminary remarks

Work on relations with civil society is the final of the three main strands of ECRI's programme of activities, the other two being country-by-country work and work on general themes. As already mentioned, the three strands of ECRI's work are closely linked and are intended to be mutually reinforcing. It is therefore important not to consider ECRI's work on relations with civil society in isolation, but rather in the context of its countryby-country work and work on general themes, as described in Sections A and B of this review.

ECRI has developed a detailed Programme of Action aimed at enhancing and strengthening its relations with civil society and raising awareness within civil society of its work and activities. The Programme has been developed in recognition of the crucial role that national institutions, other civil society organisation and non-governmental organisations can play in combating racism and intolerance.

This section contains an overview of activities undertaken by ECRI, pursuant to its Programme of Action on relations with civil society.

## 2 ECRI's Programme of Action on relations with civil society

The Programme of Action was adopted at ECRI's 27th plenary meeting in March 2002. It represents a consolidation of the various strands of ECRI's work with civil society and provides a platform for the development of new activities. The Programme is intended to be complimentary to other activities of the Council of Europe related to the promotion of tolerance, including in areas such as education, culture and human rights awareness raising. The main elements of the Programme of Action are set out below, together with the recommendations for its implementation that have been drawn up by the ECRI working group on relations with civil society. ECRI suggests that member States play a full part in promoting dialogue with civil society and facilitate the practical application of the Programme.

#### a) Information sessions

ECRI has undertaken to organise information sessions in member States when its country-by-country reports are published.<sup>398</sup> These sessions have taken the form of "Round Tables", with the participation of various civil society partners including non-governmental organisations, journalists' associations, academic institutions and representatives of vulnerable groups. Representatives of the national authorities, national institutions and intergovernmental organisations have also participated. Presentations from key partners on problems identified in ECRI country reports are followed by

<sup>398</sup> See section II A 2 for a detailed analysis of the "main messages" of ECRI country-by-country reports.

open and participative discussions. These sessions are also a useful occasion for ECRI to introduce new General Policy Recommendations and explore other thematic issues.

ECRI's first national Round Table was held in Romania in October 2002. The principal concerns and conclusions to be drawn from the report on ECRI's second report on Romania were set out by members of ECRI and this presentation was followed by a debate. An explanation of Romania's new law on the prevention and punishment of all forms of discrimination was provided by the Department of Interethnic Relations of the Ministry of Public Information, and the National Council for Combating Discrimination, a newly created specialised body to combat discrimination, outlined how its work contributed to the implementation of the new anti-discrimination law. Underlining the importance of dialogue between member States and those citizens affected by their decisions, an exchange of views took place with the National Office for Roma and the NGO Romani CRISS on the "Government Strategy for improving the situation of Roma". In view of ECRI's conviction about the important role of the media in disseminating accurate information about diversity and fighting racial hatred, the role of the media and examples of "best practices" were discussed with the Media Monitoring Agency and the Centre for Independent Journalism.

A further Round Table was held in Portugal in February 2003. Presentations by ECRI and its national partners on ECRI's second report on Portugal were followed by debate with representatives of governmental authorities and civil society, including victims of discrimination. ECRI argued that the application of the country's anti-discrimination laws often falls short of what is set out in law, leaving groups such as Roma and religious minorities with insufficient protection. The situation of Roma/Gypsies was examined in more depth, with particular reference to practical initiatives at the local level, including education for Roma children. The implementation of the National Plan for Immigration and the issue of co-operation between the authorities and the Portuguese Council for Refugees were debated with the Deputy High Commissioner for Immigrants and Ethnic Minorities and the president of the Portuguese Council for Refugees. Recent developments in anti-discrimination legislation and the work of the Commission for Equality and against Racial Discrimination were also discussed.

In June 2003, a Round Table was held in Vilnius, Lithuania with representatives of relevant governmental agencies and victims of discrimination. It concentrated on: ECRI's second report on Lithuania; challenges ahead in the field of asylum and immigration; national legislation to combat discrimination; and the situation of Roma/ Gypsies in Lithuania.

ECRI's recent report on Lithuania highlights advances in combating racism and intolerance, including the adoption of a programme aimed at promoting the integration of members of the Roma/Gypsies communities into Lithuanian society and the granting of eligibility and voting rights in local elections to non-citizen permanent residents. ECRI drew attention to the continuing problems of racism faced by members of



ECRI's Round Table in Lithuania on 12 June 2003

the Roma/Gypsy community, asylum-seekers and refugees, including Chechens and Afghans. Issues such as the protection afforded by existing legal provisions aimed at countering manifestations of racism and racial discrimination, including in the media, were also discussed.

The Round Table also paid special attention to the need to implement one of the central recommendations of its recent country report, namely the creation of a specialised body to combat racism and intolerance.

Following the publication of ECRI's second report on Slovenia, a Round Table was held in Ljubljana in October 2003, with the aim of finding ways to improve the implementation of existing initiatives and encouraging further reform. The session included contributions from the Chair of ECRI and the Human Rights Ombudsman of Slovenia. In addition to examining the recommendations set out in ECRI's report, the Round Table addressed issues related to ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7 (on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination); the situation of minority groups in Slovenia; and the problems of racist and xenophobic public discourse. The meeting also discussed the establishment of a national specialised body to combat discrimination.

One of the main themes of the Round Table was the situation of ex-Yugoslav minority groups in Slovenia, which according to ECRI's second report on Slovenia encounter certain problems as regards access to citizenship and to social and economic rights. Representatives of all ex-Yugoslav minority groups were invited to the event and the presidents of their national cultural organisations used this occasion to make a joint declaration. This declaration urged the National Assembly of the Republic of Slovenia to initiate and propose an amendment to the Constitution of the Republic of Slovenia to nominally classify all ex-Yugoslav minority groups in the text of the constitution and determine them to be national communities/national minorities in the Republic
of Slovenia. The discussion on GPR 7 concluded that, despite positive individual measures, Slovenia still lacks a comprehensive body of anti-discrimination legislation. The Round Table also emphasised the important role of the media in portraying positive and accurate images of minority groups, in order to combat prejudice and racist public discourse.

# b) Thematic meetings and consultations with non-governmental organisations

ECRI is committed to strengthening its co-operation with NGOs, including through the exchange of information, organising meetings and consultations, and developing its network of partner NGOs. In addition to meeting civil society organisations in the Round Tables organised in member States, ECRI maintains contacts with NGOs on a regular basis in the preparation of its country-by-country reports and during visits to countries. NGOs are a vital source of information about the situation of vulnerable groups and racist incidents, and they help to publicise ECRI's work. Grassroots NGOs are particularly useful in reaching marginalised or isolated groups and spreading the anti-racism message to all corners of society.

ECRI emphasises that its relationship with NGOs should be a genuine two-way exchange, in that such organisations can also play an important role in helping to establish priorities for the work of ECRI. To this end, a consultation meeting with international NGOs took place in Strasbourg in November 2002. The overall purpose of the meeting was to update NGOs about progress in ECRI's work, including the entry into force of the new ECRI Statute, the results of the second round of country-by-country work, and the beginning of the third round of country monitoring in 2003. The meeting also provided an opportunity for a comprehensive exchange of views about future cooperation between NGOs and ECRI, including on ECRI's communication strategy, Programme of Action with civil society and consultation with NGOs on issues to be pursued in work on general themes.

ECRI has also developed priorities with civil society organisations and other partners in the framework of thematic round table meetings. On the occasion of the International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination in March 2002, ECRI organised a "dialogue against violence" in Strasbourg with leading NGOs and academic experts. Panel discussions on intercultural dialogue, extremist movements, and cultural diversity in the context of the universality of human rights were followed by open debates with invited members of civil society.

In March 2003, ECRI marked the International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination by organising a joint Round Table with the European Union Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia (EUMC) on local solutions to combat racism. The meeting acknowledged that problems of racism are often best dealt with at grass roots level, i.e. as close as possible to the potential victims and perpetrators. The discussion

focussed on how national legislation can be implemented on the ground, the role of youth groups in combating racism, and mechanisms for community-based dialogue and conflict resolution.



ECRI/EUMC Joint Round Table on 21 March 2003

#### c) Development of a communication strategy

The goal of ECRI's media strategy is to improve its communication with opinion-makers and the general public. ECRI has established a "think-tank" on its communication strategy, which has identified a number of central objectives, including enhancing participation in communication networks, developing exchanges of information, and involving partners as far as possible in ECRI's work. An important element of this strategy is identifying key communication partners. To be effective, communication with the media and civil society groups must be interactive. Therefore, in addition to national and international human rights NGOs, ECRI emphasises the importance of developing relationships with broader civil society including the media, universities, youth organisations, minority groups and religious communities. The exchange of information and dialogue with such groups should encourage a sense of commitment and ownership of the antiracism message, and active participation in the work of ECRI.

In implementing this strategy, ECRI has aimed for a broad distribution of its country-bycountry reports, General Policy Recommendations, and other publications. ECRI's work has been translated into as many of the national languages of the member States as possible. Key journalists and media outlets responsive to the message of ECRI have been identified, and a network of other civil society organisations has been developed at Round Table consultations in Strasbourg on thematic issues and briefing sessions in member States. The coherence of ECRI's message and accessibility of its materials has also been improved through the upgrading of its website. Progress has also been made in educational communication, including through a strengthened relationship with the Council of Europe Youth Section, developing educational materials and providing expert teaching for further education courses.

# d) Website development

The imaginative use of the Internet is an essential component of any modern communication strategy. As a matter of general policy, ECRI has underlined that the Internet should be better exploited to diffuse anti-discrimination material. For its part, ECRI has further developed its own website: www.coe.int/ecri. The website is available in English and French, and contains all of ECRI's country reports and General Policy Recommendations, in addition to press releases, reports on Round Table meetings and annual reports. From the perspective of civil society organisations, an important feature of the website is the section on "educational resources" which makes available campaign materials, education packs and image resources, including the "all different-all equal" cartoon book and video clips from a Europe-wide anti-racism campaign. The site includes a series of interviews with leading figures in the fight against racism and links to other relevant organisations, including other bodies within the Council of Europe. The ECRI CD-Rom, containing much of the information available on the website on a single disk, has become a useful addition to many human rights libraries throughout Europe.

# e) Activities targeted at the political bodies of the Council of Europe

As the Secretary General of the Council of Europe has made clear, the fight against racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance is "one of the primary raisons d'être" of the Organisation.<sup>399</sup> ECRI has made continuing efforts to inform the political bodies of the Council of Europe about its activities and recommendations. It lays particular emphasis upon effective communication with the Organisation's Committee of Ministers and Parliamentary Assembly. ECRI also co-operates on a regular basis with the Council of Europe's Commissioner for Human Rights, the Advisory Committee of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, and the Group of Specialists on Roma/Gypsies (MG-S-ROM).

Such interchange is required not only to promote an active flow of information, but also to ensure complementarity with the political activities of these bodies, and to maintain a coherent overall approach within the Council of Europe to the issue of combating racism.

# f) Contacts with the youth sector

Young people are often the most receptive to anti-racism messages. Misconceptions about diversity, if corrected at an early age, may not develop into hardened prejudices. Young people feature amongst the most vulnerable members of groups affected by racism and intolerance, and an understanding of their experience is essential in order to develop strategies aimed at improving the situation of such groups. ECRI has supported a number of youth campaigns against racism and provided educational materials to youth groups. Messages conveyed through entertaining campaigning

<sup>399</sup> Address by the Secretary General of the Council of Europe, Walter Schwimmer to the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, Durban, South Africa, September 2001.

material for younger children, such as cartoon books, which explain basic ideas about diversity and tolerance, can leave a lasting impression on growing minds.

Furthermore, ECRI devoted one of three working groups in its March 2003 joint Round Table with the European Union Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia (EUMC) to a discussion of the important role of youth in the fight against racism. The meeting, addressed by a representative of the European Youth Forum, underlined that value systems are significantly shaped in youth and childhood, and that the active involvement of young people and youth NGOs is crucial for building respect for diversity in local communities. In June 2002, the European Youth Centre in Strasbourg hosted a meeting between members of ECRI and representatives of the Youth Sector of the Council of Europe to discuss developing co-operation and possible future joint action in this field.

# III ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT OF ECRI'S SUBSTANTIVE WORK

# A. INTRODUCTION

The principal aim of all of ECRI's substantive work is to impact upon the problem of racism and intolerance in Council of Europe member States. Consequently, any review of ECRI's work over the last four years would be incomplete without some assessment of the extent to which it has achieved this aim.

It should be noted at the outset that, given the nature of ECRI's activities, attempting to measure its impact is a far from straightforward task. To take just one example, an increase in the number of violent crimes recorded as having a racist dimension could reflect an increased awareness of racism on the part of law enforcement officials, rather than an upsurge in the actual number of racist attacks. Moreover, establishing a direct causal connection between societal change and ECRI's work is an exercise which is fraught with difficulty. Even in apparently clear cut cases, where a State acknowledges that a particular measure has been introduced in response to one of ECRI's recommendations, the change concerned may also be the product of a variety of internal and external political pressures; attributing it to ECRI may be merely politically expedient. Conversely, there may well be situations where action by ECRI has directly driven change, but it is politically convenient for credit to be given to a national body, or to a particular minister. Given that this is true in respect of the targeted recommendations to be found in ECRI's country-by-country reports, it is evident that there will be even more imponderables where ECRI's work is seeking more generalised outcomes such as a "change in the climate of opinion" amongst the general public.

One approach to assessing impact where a direct causal connection is difficult to establish is to use "indicators": quantitative indicators can be useful in establishing the raw output of an activity, for example, "50 NGOs participated in an ECRI Round Table discussion"; qualitative indicators are required to gauge the impact on those who took part. Ideally, such indicators should be participative in nature, measuring the knowledge and opinions of key stakeholders through participant surveys, which examine the extent to which the target audience has been influenced by the work of an organisation and their opinions about how such work may have helped to achieve change.

This impact assessment of ECRI's work is based upon a detailed questionnaire, which was sent to key non-governmental organisations, national human rights and anti-racism institutions and national authorities. The questionnaires invited respondents to assess the impact of ECRI's country-by-country activities (including the recommendations made in its second round of country reports); its work on general themes (including

General Policy Recommendations<sup>400</sup> and compilations of "good practices"); and its relations with civil society. Participants were asked to comment on their familiarity with ECRI's work and for their views about the extent to which it has contributed to improvements in policy and implementation. They were also asked to provide detailed answers regarding the various ways in which they may have used ECRI's work.

Three "target" countries were suggested by ECRI: Ireland, Latvia and Romania. These Council of Europe member States were selected because they are diverse in terms of economic development, human rights infrastructure, and as regards the issues which ECRI has identified during its visits.

Geographically at the edge of Europe, **Ireland** was a founder member State of the Council of Europe in 1949, and has been a member State of the European Union since 1973. Until recently, it has been a relatively homogeneous society, with low levels of immigration and a proportionally small number of non-Irish citizens. Although members of the Irish Traveller Community have long experienced discrimination, problems of racism and intolerance against persons of non-Irish origin represent new challenges for this long-standing member State of the Council of Europe.

**Latvia**, which joined the Council of Europe in 1995, is part of the 'first wave' of EU accession countries scheduled for membership in 2004. With a population which includes a sizeable Russian speaking community, the transition to democracy has required it to confront a variety of difficult issues in the field of racism and intolerance, especially as regards linguistic and citizenship questions.

A Council of Europe member State since 1993, **Romania** is currently an applicant country to join the EU. It has a significant population of Roma/Gypsies, a community identified by ECRI as particularly vulnerable to racism. Recent developments in Romania of particular interest to ECRI include the establishment of a number of bodies with mandates to combat racism and intolerance.

ECRI's work in these three, distinctly different, Council of Europe States has been tailored to the specific problems which it has identified in its first and second round reports. Consequently – in co-operation with ECRI – country-specific questions were included in the questionnaires. Subject to the general caveats set out above, the responses to the survey included sufficient detail to enable a qualitative assessment to be made of the impact of ECRI's activities in these countries. The synthesis which follows indicates both the scale of impact reported by respondents and summarises their substantive comments and suggestions regarding ECRI's country-by-country activities, work on general themes, and relations with civil society.

<sup>400</sup> The questionnaire did not cover GPR 7 because its adoption by ECRI was too recent to assess its impact.

# **B. COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY WORK**

# 1. International legal instruments

ECRI encourages all member States to ratify the full complement of international instruments concerning racism and intolerance, and to refrain from lodging any reservations to the provisions of such instruments.<sup>401</sup>

If ECRI identifies significant ratification "gaps" in a given State, its visit report will recommend that the "missing" instruments be ratified by the State concerned. It is particularly attentive to the issue of whether or not a State has ratified certain key antiracism instruments, including the European Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and its Protocols; the Council of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities; the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination.

In order to assess the impact of such recommendations, the survey questionnaire invited respondents to indicate whether, in their view, ECRI's country-specific recommendations had positively influenced the ratification of the instruments concerned. The responses received indicate that the success which ECRI has enjoyed in this area varies from country to country.

In respect of **Ireland**, ECRI's second report on this country recommended the ratification of a range of instruments including Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights; the European Convention for the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level; the European Convention on Nationality; the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages; the UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education and the European Convention on the Status of Migrant Workers.<sup>402</sup>

Additional ratifications recommended in ECRI's second report on **Latvia** included the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages; the Revised European Social Charter; the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers; and the European Convention for the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level.<sup>403</sup>

Respondents from both of these countries indicated that they considered that the impact of ECRI's work in this area had been, at best, marginal. Several non-governmental respondents from Ireland suggested that the main impact of ECRI's recommendations had been to provide extra material with which to "put pressure" on the government and/or to highlight ongoing deficiencies in the State's ratification record. No respondents from either country considered that ECRI's recommendations had directly impacted upon the ratification of the instruments concerned.

<sup>401</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 a) (above).

<sup>402</sup> For further details, see paragraphs 1 to 5 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>403</sup> For further details, see paragraphs 1 to 7 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

ECRI's second report on **Romania** also contains a long list of instruments which ECRI recommends should be ratified by the Romania.<sup>404</sup>

In contrast to the responses received from Ireland and Latvia, a majority of respondents from Romania indicated that they considered that ECRI's recommendations had positively influenced the ratification by Romania of the instruments concerned.

Among the specific measures cited by respondents, and directly attributed to ECRI's work, are: the adoption of a declaration recognising the competence of the United Nations Committee for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination under Article 14 of the International Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination; and the ratification of the European Convention on Nationality.

# 2. Constitutional and other basic provisions

ECRI evaluates the extent to which constitutional and other basic provisions in the States which it visits adequately prohibit discrimination, promote integration and protect vulnerable groups.<sup>405</sup> Where it identifies gaps in legal protection and/or a failure to implement existing provisions, ECRI addresses country-specific recommendations to the State concerned.

In respect of **Ireland**, ECRI recommendations have *inter alia* highlighted the need for constitutional protection to be expressly extended to non-citizens.<sup>406</sup> A number of responses received from Ireland indicated that ECRI's work had helped to facilitate discussions on this issue by non-governmental organisations. However, there is no indication that ECRI recommendations have led to any substantive strengthening of constitutional guarantees offered to non-citizens.

In **Latvia**, ECRI's recommendations have highlighted the need for changes in legislation concerning citizenship, languages and elections.<sup>407</sup> Most responses received from Latvia suggested that ECRI's work has had a discernable impact in this area; one respondent suggested that, considered in conjunction with work by other international organisations, ECRI's recommendations have played a "crucial role" in encouraging the adoption of measures to increase the take-up of Latvian citizenship through naturalisation. However, some responses suggested that considerable progress remains to be made in the implementation of certain other ECRI recommendations (including as regards reviews of the State Language Law and the Administrative Violations Code, and the implementation of measures designed to increase the participation of non-ethnic Latvians in public life).

<sup>404</sup> These include: Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights; the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages; the European Convention on Nationality; the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers and the European Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level. For further details, see paragraph 1 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>405</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 b) (above).

<sup>406</sup> See paragraph 7 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>407</sup> See paragraphs 11 to 21 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

Measures recommended by ECRI in relation to **Romania** have included the widening of constitutional guarantees of equality and non-discrimination to explicitly cover noncitizens, and the implementation of legislation to prohibit political parties from engaging in incitement to hatred or discrimination.<sup>408</sup> Participants in the survey were invited to indicate whether they considered that these country-specific recommendations had made an impact. Respondents indicated that ECRI's recommendations had contributed to a debate on constitutional change and to the adoption of enhanced constitutional guarantees in Romania.

Specific improvements cited as having been positively influenced by ECRI's recommendations include a number of Government ordinances and laws, for example, concerning the prevention and punishment of discrimination, the prohibition of racist organisations, the reintegration of offenders, and gender equality.

# 3. Criminal law

ECRI monitors the operation of the criminal law in member States, and has drawn up standards concerning the substantive content of legal provisions in this area. It also examines the implementation in practice of criminal law provisions, the role of prosecution authorities, law enforcement agencies and third parties, training, awareness raising and data collection.<sup>409</sup> In its country-specific visit reports, ECRI uses these general standards to assess the extent to which the criminal law is playing an appropriate role in combating racism and intolerance.

In its second report on Ireland, Latvia and Romania, ECRI emphasised that the criminal law should include adequate incitement to hatred legislation, define common offences of a racist or xenophobic nature as specific offences and consider racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance when sentencing.

In **Ireland**, an official review of the Prohibition of Incitement to Hatred Act 1989 was taking place at the time of the survey, and respondents were asked whether issues raised by ECRI were being addressed by the review. If so, they were invited to comment upon whether ECRI's recommendations had impacted upon the discourse surrounding the review of the Act. A number of responses indicated that the review did encompass areas of concern to ECRI, and that ECRI's recommendations had impacted upon the review process. However, as one respondent made clear, the outcome of the review remains difficult to predict, in part because of the possible impact of parallel political discussions taking place within the European Union.

In respect of both **Latvia** and **Romania**, respondents were asked whether ECRI's specific recommendations concerning the definition of offences and sentencing had impacted upon the consideration of these issues by the relevant authorities.

<sup>408</sup> See paragraphs 3 and 6 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>409</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 c) (above).

Responses received from Latvia unanimously indicated that ECRI's recommendations have yet to be taken on board by the Latvian authorities. However, it appears that more positive steps have been taken in Romania, with all but one respondent indicating that ECRI's recommendations have impacted on the extent to which the Romanian authorities have given consideration to the definition of offences and sentencing practice in this area.

# 4. Civil and administrative law

Reference has already been made to ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, in which ECRI encourages all member States to adopt and maintain a comprehensive body of antidiscrimination legislation prohibiting discrimination in all fields of life.<sup>410</sup> In its second round reports, ECRI set a number of standards which should inform the elaboration and maintenance of anti-discrimination legislation in member States. These cover substantive legal provisions, implementation, awareness raising and data collection. As regards, more particularly, the substantive content of civil and administrative law, ECRI considers that it should consist of a comprehensive body of legislation prohibiting discrimination in all fields of life, including education, housing, access to public and social services.<sup>411</sup>

The visits to Ireland, Latvia and Romania enabled ECRI to produce a "snapshot" of relevant civil and administrative law provisions in each of those countries. On the basis of ECRI's findings-in-fact during those visits, country–specific questions regarding ECRI's impact on the development of civil and administrative law were included in the questionnaires.

In **Ireland**, the focus was placed upon the introduction of new anti-discrimination legislation (notably, the Employment Equality Act 1998 and the Equal Status Act 2002), and respondents were asked to qualify the impact of ECRI's work on the elaboration and development of that legislation. While all respondents indicated that ECRI's work had had some impact upon the development of this legislation, none considered that it had been of more than "informative" importance, and a number suggested that its impact had been only "marginal".

The version of the survey sent to respondents in **Latvia** highlighted ECRI's recommendation that the Latvian authorities adopt a comprehensive body of anti-discrimination legislation, which also provides for effective mechanisms of enforcement and redress. Responses suggest that ECRI's recommendations have made a positive contribution to discussions concerning the adoption of such legislation. Non-governmental respondents indicated that such debate tends to be initiated by the non-governmental or intergovernmental sectors, rather than the national authorities. However, they also suggested that, as a result of ECRI's work, the attitude of the national authorities is

<sup>410</sup> See Section II B 2 (g).

<sup>411</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 d) (above).

slowly changing, and that the issues raised by ECRI are being accorded greater prominence in public discourse. In this connection, one respondent specifically highlighted ECRI's impact upon the adoption in 2002 of an employment law containing "a number of articles prohibiting discrimination in employment" which, in the respondent's view, has "influence[d] the situation by providing the instruments for legal appeal against discrimination in employment".

As regards **Romania**, the questionnaire focused upon modifications which ECRI has suggested ought to be made to two recent laws. A new law on local public administration and local autonomy foresees special measures to protect the rights of persons belonging to national minorities at the local level. However, it only applies to minority groups which comprise 20% of the population of any given locality.

In its second report, ECRI pointed out that the dispersed nature of certain minority groups in Romania may mean that these new provisions do not always have their intended impact, and suggested that these arrangements be reviewed.

ECRI has also scrutinised the law which applies to local elections, which has been amended to include a 5% threshold for the election of candidates. The results of local elections held in 2000 suggested that this amendment had served to reduce minority group representation in political life at local level. Consequently, in its second report, ECRI recommended that the 5% threshold be reviewed.

The questionnaire invited respondents to indicate whether these two proposals have been taken into consideration by the Romanian authorities. Although a few responses suggested that ECRI's proposals had been discussed, respondents indicated that both the 20% threshold in the law on local public administration and local autonomy, and the 5% threshold in the law governing local elections remain firmly in place.

# 5. Specialised bodies and other institutions

ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No. 2 encourages States to establish specialised bodies and other institutions to combat racism and discrimination.<sup>412</sup> In its country-by-country reports, ECRI has complemented the broad recommendations set out in GPR No. 2 with a number of operational standards regarding the composition, mandate and powers, independence and impartiality, and role of such bodies.<sup>413</sup>

ECRI's second report on **Ireland** acknowledges the existence of a number of such specialised bodies and institutions,<sup>414</sup> representatives of which were included amongst the persons to whom questionnaires were sent. Respondents from Ireland were asked to indicate which, if any, of ECRI's main activities had proved to be of assistance to such bodies. Responses received from representatives of two of the main specialised bodies indicated that *all* of ECRI's activities – provision of reference material, hosting thematic meetings, visits to Ireland and production of reports, promulgation of General Policy

<sup>412</sup> See Section II B 2 (b).

<sup>413</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 f) (above).

<sup>414</sup> See paragraphs 21 to 27 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

Recommendations and publication of examples of "good practice" – had been of assistance to them in their work. Amongst respondents from other sectors who chose to engage with this question, the ECRI activities most prevalently selected as potentially beneficial to specialised bodies were the provision of reference material and visits to Ireland and the production of reports.

Although there is an independent National Human Rights Office (NHRO) in **Latvia**, there is no specialised body with specific responsibility in the field of combating racism and intolerance.<sup>415</sup> Survey respondents were asked to qualify the impact of ECRI's suggestions that the Latvian authorities address this issue, either by creating such a specialised body, or by allocating additional funds to enable the NHRO to establish a section dedicated to this area. The responses received suggest that ECRI's impact has been, at best, "informative", and a number of respondents suggested that ECRI has yet to make any impact on efforts to strengthen institutional arrangements to combat racism and intolerance in Latvia.

In its second report on **Romania**, ECRI focussed *inter alia* on the proposed creation of a National Council to Combat Discrimination. It emphasised that, ideally, the composition and mandate of this new specialised body should be developed along the lines set out in its General Policy Recommendation No 2.<sup>416</sup> Survey respondents were asked to reflect upon the impact which ECRI's views may have had on the subsequent decisions regarding the National Council. A majority of respondents, including those from the governmental sector, indicated that ECRI's views had played either a "persuasive" or "determining" role in finalising the composition and mandate of this new body.

#### 6. Education

ECRI considers that it is incumbent upon member States to make provision for mandatory human rights and diversity education in schools. This implies *inter alia* that human rights education should be taught as a compulsory subject in teacher training institutions.<sup>417</sup>

In its second report on **Ireland**, ECRI welcomed new initiatives undertaken to introduce human rights education into schools at primary and secondary level.<sup>418</sup> Respondents were asked to qualify the extent of the impact of ECRI's work on the development of these initiatives. A majority of respondents from Ireland considered that the impact of ECRI's work in this area had been "informative", with one respondent specifying that this had been especially true in the vocational education sector.

As regards **Latvia**, ECRI's report on this country recommended the extension of compulsory human rights education to secondary schools, and called on the Latvian authorities to ensure that relevant text books are available for Russian speaking students and teachers. ECRI also highlighted the need for balanced history text books in

<sup>415</sup> See paragraphs 29 and 30 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>416</sup> See paragraph 21 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>417</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 g) (above).

<sup>418</sup> See paragraph 28 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

schools.<sup>419</sup> The questionnaire sent to Latvia invited respondents to indicate the degree of impact which these proposals have had on the development and delivery of human rights education in schools. A majority of respondents indicated that the impact of these proposals had been no more than "marginal".

ECRI's findings during its visit to **Romania** led it to recommend the use of more interactive and participative methods of delivering human rights education to school children. It also recommended that the diverse nature of Romanian society and the contribution of minority groups be reflected in the teaching of Romanian history.<sup>420</sup> Respondents' views were sought on the impact of these recommendations on the development and delivery of human rights education in schools. Although some considered that ECRI's recommendations had been "informative", half of all respondents characterised their impact as either "marginal" or of no impact.

# 7. Reception and status of non-citizens

ECRI considers that legislation, policy and practice relating to immigration, asylum and the status of non-citizens must make an effective contribution to the prohibition of discrimination and the promotion of societal integration.<sup>421</sup>

A substantial portion of ECRI's second report on **Ireland** was devoted to the issue of the reception and status on non-citizens.<sup>422</sup> Survey respondents were asked if they considered that highlighting this issue had assisted ongoing efforts at national level to address concerns regarding the reception and status of non-citizens. More specifically, they were asked to indicate what impact, if any, ECRI's work may have had as regards the enhancement of protection of the rights of non-citizens with reference to five main areas identified in ECRI's report, namely: immigration, refugees and asylum seekers, processing of asylum applications, accommodation and provision for asylum seekers and integration strategies.

All respondents indicated that ECRI's highlighting of the issue of the reception and status of non-nationals had been of assistance at national level. As regards the five specific areas in respect of which their views were sought, a majority of respondents considered that ECRI's work had been "informative" as regards the issues of immigration, refugees and asylum seekers, processing of asylum applications, and accommodation and provision for asylum seekers. Asked to qualify the impact of ECRI's contribution as regards improving integration strategies, a majority of respondents expressed the view that this had been of "marginal" or "no" relevance.

In its second report on **Latvia**, ECRI recommended the extension of eligibility and voting rights in local elections to resident non-citizens, and the removal of any remaining unjustified legal provisions which restrict non-citizens' property, employment and economic and social rights.<sup>423</sup> Respondents were asked to describe the impact of these

<sup>419</sup> See paragraphs 31 and 32 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>420</sup> See paragraph 27 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>421</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 i) (above).

<sup>422</sup> See paragraphs 29 to 42 of ECRI's second report in Ireland.

<sup>423</sup> See paragraph 34 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

recommendations upon efforts to ensure equal protection of the rights of non-citizens. Most responses suggested that these recommendations had not been taken into account by the Latvian authorities.

In respect of asylum seekers and refugees, at the time of the publication of ECRI's second report on Latvia, a new draft asylum law was pending before parliament. ECRI expressed concern that the law might not provide adequate protection against non-refoulement and that safeguards concerning the use of detention had not been introduced.<sup>424</sup> The questionnaire queried whether the concerns raised by ECRI had been taken into consideration during the adoption of the new asylum law. Here again, a rather negative response was received, with only one respondent indicating that ECRI's concerns had been taken into consideration.

ECRI has also stressed that officials involved in the asylum application process in **Romania** should receive on-going human rights training.<sup>425</sup> Respondents were asked whether ECRI's view had been taken into consideration in the context of the development of the legal and administrative framework for dealing with refugees and asylum seekers. Positive, and highly-specific responses were received, which directly stated that there had been a connection between ECRI's report and the organisation of training courses for officials involved in the asylum process. Concrete examples of courses which had been provided for such officials were cited by respondents from both the non-governmental and governmental sectors.

# 8. Access to education

ECRI has stressed that States should ensure that adequate provision is made for the education of members of minority groups. Legislation, policy and practice in this field should be kept under review in order to ensure that the standard of education delivered to minority groups is equivalent in practice to that delivered to members of the majority population. More particularly, safeguards should be put in place to combat discrimination in schools and positive measures should be taken to promote the integration of students from minority backgrounds.<sup>426</sup>

In its second report on **Ireland**, ECRI encouraged the Irish authorities to consider ways of developing the provision of mother tongue teaching for children from minority groups. In order to address the needs of students of minority faiths, it also suggested that consideration should be given to providing alternative religious education or religious education which embraces all faiths.<sup>427</sup> Respondents in Ireland were asked to indicate whether they considered that the authorities had responded positively to these suggestions. While a majority of respondents suggested that there had been a positive response with regard to the provision of mother tongue teaching for students from minority groups, this was not the case in respect of measures to address the needs of

<sup>424</sup> See paragraph 37 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>425</sup> See paragraph 30 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>426</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 j) vii (above).

<sup>427</sup> See paragraphs 44 and 46 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

students of minority faiths. According to respondents, the "main Christian churches" retain firm control of the majority of the primary and secondary education which is delivered in Ireland.

ECRI has addressed a number of proposals to the authorities in **Latvia** concerning the transition to bilingual and Latvian language only instruction in schools.<sup>428</sup> Respondents were asked whether these recommendations have assisted efforts to ensure a smooth and equitable transition to bilingual/Latvian only instruction. Most responses suggested that this was not the case; one non-governmental respondent ventured the view that any shifts in attitudes regarding the transition to bilingual and Latvian only instruction were "less connected to the ECRI report" than to "everyday reality in society".

As regards **Romania**, ECRI's second report suggested that further measures are needed to ensure that all minority groups can avail of education in their mother tongue and to prevent discrimination against Roma/Gypsy children in the classroom.<sup>429</sup> The questionnaire sent to respondents in Romania invited them to consider whether these suggestions have led to any additional measures being taken to prevent discrimination in the classroom. The majority of respondents considered that this was the case, a governmental source making specific reference to the adoption of a series of recent ordinances and laws which penalise discrimination in the context of access to education, and seek to encourage respect for the traditions of national minorities.

# 9. Employment

ECRI closely scrutinises the employment situation in member States, with a view to assessing whether adequate measures are being taken to prevent discrimination in the workplace and to facilitate equal access to employment.<sup>430</sup>

ECRI's second report on **Ireland** advocated the introduction of a wider range of work permit types and greater possibilities for family reunification.<sup>431</sup> Respondents were asked for their views on the contribution, which these proposals may have made to the ongoing debate concerning the nature of work permits issued to non citizens. The majority of responses characterized ECRI's contribution to this debate as either "informative" or "persuasive".

As regards the employment situation in **Latvia**, ECRI has called on the authorities to ensure that the requirement of proficiency in the Latvian language can only be insisted upon in cases where there is a "legitimate public interest".<sup>432</sup> The questionnaire queried whether this has helped to ensure that the "legitimate public interest" principle is strictly applied in practice. Most respondents considered that this was not the case.

ECRI has also called on the Latvian authorities to conduct research aimed at identifying the ethnicity of the unemployed and to monitor the application of the new labour law

<sup>428</sup> See paragraphs 41 to 47 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>429</sup> See paragraphs 32 to 35 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>430</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 k) (above).

<sup>431</sup> See paragraph 50 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>432</sup> See paragraph 48 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

adopted in June 2001.<sup>433</sup> Respondents were asked for their views as to whether the relevant authorities have responded positively to ECRI's desideratum. Again, most responses received suggested there had been no such positive response.

In its second report on **Romania**, ECRI expressed concern at the publication in national newspapers of job advertisements specifying that Roma/Gypsies "need not apply".<sup>434</sup> The survey invited respondents to indicate whether they considered that highlighting this issue had contributed to efforts to tackle employment-related discrimination. The majority of responses suggested that this was not the case. Nevertheless, one governmental respondent indicated that the National Council to Combat Discrimination has recently issued an instruction providing for the application of sanctions in cases where employment advertisements include discriminatory content.

# 10. Vulnerable groups

ECRI has emphasised that positive measures should be taken to prevent discrimination against vulnerable groups and to foster active involvement in public life by members of such groups. In its country-by-country work, it has recommended that national authorities step up their efforts to improve the situation of members of vulnerable groups including the Roma/Gypsy community, linguistic minorities, the Muslim community, the Traveller community, indigenous peoples, formerly deported populations and refugees.<sup>435</sup>

Groups identified as vulnerable by ECRI in its second report on **Ireland** included the Traveller community, the Muslim community and members of visible minority groups.<sup>436</sup> Respondents were asked to specify which, if any, of ECRI's activities they considered had contributed to efforts to ameliorate the situation of member of such groups. A majority of the responses received identified visits to Ireland, the production of General Policy Recommendations and the provision of basic reference material as being of most assistance in this area.

In its second report on **Latvia**, ECRI indicated that it considered Latvia's Russianspeaking population and its Roma/Gypsy community to be vulnerable groups.<sup>437</sup> The questionnaire asked respondents whether they considered that the fact that ECRI had highlighted these groups had facilitated efforts to improve the situation of members of these groups. A majority of respondents considered that this was not the case. One non-governmental respondent who answered this question in the affirmative, qualified this by adding that this was true "only in respect of Roma, and to a very limited extent".

In **Romania**, ECRI also considered that the Roma/Gypsy community could be categorised as a vulnerable group. In its second report on that country, ECRI recommended that the Romanian authorities step up efforts to regularise the situation of members of

<sup>433</sup> See paragraphs 50 and 51of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>434</sup> See paragraph 36 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>435</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 p) i) (above).

<sup>436</sup> See paragraphs 53 to 55 and 64 to 76 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>437</sup> See paragraphs 53 to 55 and 66 to 76 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

that community who do not have identity documents.<sup>438</sup> Respondents were asked what impact this has had on efforts to ameliorate the situation of the Roma/Gypsy community. The response to this question was overwhelmingly positive; all respondents considered that ECRI's intervention had been influential, characterising it as having exercised an "informative", "persuasive" or (in one case) "determining" influence over developments in this area.

# 11. Monitoring

ECRI encourages member States to monitor the situation of vulnerable groups and to review the effectiveness of measures aimed at combating racism and direct and indirect discrimination. It has set out a number of standards for effective monitoring, including as regards the collection of baseline data, conducting national surveys, and the "proofing" and implementation of proposed legislation.<sup>439</sup>

Having regard to its findings in its second report on **Ireland**, ECRI encouraged the Irish authorities to establish a reliable and extensive system of data collection concerning the situation of minority groups and the recording of incidents of racist and discriminatory acts.<sup>440</sup> Survey respondents were asked to characterise the contribution which they consider ECRI to have made in this area. A majority of respondents qualified the impact of ECRI's work in this area as, at best, "informative".

ECRI has also encouraged the authorities in **Latvia** to set up a system of data collection and monitoring in order to identify and remedy instances of discrimination.<sup>441</sup> The questionnaire invited to comment on the nature of the contribution that ECRI has made to the development of monitoring activities in Latvia. Respondents divided evenly between those who considered that ECRI's work had been "informative", and those who considered that it had not impacted upon monitoring work in Latvia.

In its second report on **Romania**, ECRI encouraged the Romanian authorities to take steps to ensure that a future census accurately records the number of Roma/Gypsies living in Romania. ECRI also expressed the view that steps ought be taken to ensure that data concerning the ethnic origin of suspects is not released by the police to the press.<sup>442</sup> Respondents were requested to assess the impact of these interventions. A slim majority of respondents qualified the impact of ECRI's work as "persuasive" or "determining"; however, almost as many responses suggested that it had had little or no impact.

# 12. Conduct of law enforcement officials

The conduct of law enforcement officials is another matter which is closely monitored by ECRI, especially as regards the quality of interactions between such officials and

<sup>438</sup> See paragraphs 39 to 42 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>439</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 m)(above).

<sup>440</sup> See paragraphs 60 and 61of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>441</sup> See paragraph 57 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>442</sup> See paragraphs 43 and 44 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

members of minority groups. In its country-by-country work, ECRI has set out a number of common standards designed to prevent discriminatory treatment and to prepare law enforcement officials for the difficult task of policing multi-cultural societies. Particular emphasis is placed, in this connection, upon the need for law enforcement officials to be adequately trained. Moreover, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation (GPR) No. 1 on combating racism, xenophobia and antisemitism,<sup>443</sup> in states where existing accountability mechanisms are found to be deficient, ECRI recommends the establishment and maintenance of independent mechanisms to consider complaints against law enforcement officials.<sup>444</sup>

ECRI has called for the establishment of an independent police complaints mechanism in **Ireland**. It has also highlighted the need for specific training for police officers working in the area of immigration, race-relations training for all law enforcement officers and the promotion of recruitment police officers from minority groups.<sup>445</sup> Survey respondents were asked if they considered that ECRI's advocacy for these measures had contributed to the domestic debate concerning accountability and police training. Most respondents expressed the view that ECRI's work had made a contribution in this area.

**Latvia** is another country in which ECRI has recommended that an independent police complaints mechanism be established. It has also recommended that training designed to promote awareness of discrimination be provided to Latvian law enforcement officials.<sup>446</sup> The questionnaire invited to comment on whether or not ECRI's work has made a contribution towards the introduction of such measures. By a small majority, respondents suggested that ECRI's recommendations have had no appreciable impact in this area.

ECRI has expressed concern regarding police attitudes and behaviour towards members of the Roma/Gypsy community in **Romania**. Here again, it has advocated the setting up of an independent mechanism to examine complaints against the police.<sup>447</sup> Respondents were asked whether they considered that ECRI's work has contributed to efforts to hold law enforcement officials accountable for their actions. Again by a small majority, respondents indicated that they considered that ECRI's proposal had yet to impact upon current accountability arrangements.

#### 13. Media

The media can play a central role in portraying a balanced and accurate picture of the situation of minority groups and non-citizens. ECRI *inter alia* encourages States to ensure that adequate legislation is in place to prohibit discriminatory reporting or incitement to hatred, and emphasises that the media itself has a responsibility to ensure the accuracy of its output through self regulation.<sup>448</sup>

<sup>443</sup> Regarding the precise content of GRP 1, see section II B 2 a).

<sup>444</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 n)(above).

<sup>445</sup> See paragraphs 57 to 59 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>446</sup> See paragraphs 58 and 59 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>447</sup> See paragraphs 45 to 47 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

<sup>448</sup> For a full description of the standards which ECRI applies in this area, see section II, A, 2 o)(above).

ECRI's second report on **Ireland** highlighted the airing of prejudices and racist views on radio phone-in programmes.<sup>449</sup> Participants in the impact survey were asked whether they considered that this had served to heighten demands for effective self-regulation by the media in Ireland. Most respondents indicated that, in their view, this was not the case.

As regards **Latvia**, ECRI has expressed concern at apparent differences between reporting on general issues in the Latvian-language and Russian-language media.<sup>450</sup> Respondents were asked whether they considered that highlighting this issue has had an effect, in particular, on efforts to enhance mutual integration of all groups in Latvia. Again, most respondents indicated that they considered that ECRI's advocacy on this issue had yet to make an impact.

Instances of un-balanced reporting concerning minority groups by the media were also highlighted in ECRI's second report on **Romania**.<sup>451</sup> The questionnaire asked respondents whether they considered that highlighting this issue has had an effect, in particular, on calls for the media to apply codes of self-regulation. Half of all respondents considered highlighting this issue had made an impact. Of those who made this positive assertion, a number made specific reference to recent decisions by the National Audiovisual Council, which they considered provided evidence of reinforced regulation of the media in Romania.

<sup>449</sup> See paragraph 63 of ECRI's second report on Ireland.

<sup>450</sup> See paragraph 60 to 63 of ECRI's second report on Latvia.

<sup>451</sup> See paragraph 49 of ECRI's second report on Romania.

# C. WORK ON GENERAL THEMES

# 1. General Policy Recommendations

ECRI's General Policy Recommendations (GPRs) constitute a cornerstone of its work on general themes.<sup>452</sup> Respondents in Ireland, Latvia and Romania were asked whether they were familiar with GPRs 1 to 6 and, if so, whether those recommendations had been of use to them in their work.<sup>453</sup>

**General Policy Recommendation No. 1** (GPR 1) on combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism was adopted by ECRI on 4 October 1996. It sets out concrete proposals as regards the policy approach which States should adopt in respect of legal measures, education, training and research, the behaviour of police officers and other public officials, and access to public services and employment.<sup>454</sup>

A majority of respondents from all three States surveyed indicated that they were familiar with GPR 1, and that it had been useful to them in their work. Amongst the concrete examples given by respondents of the use to which they had put GPR1 were:

#### Ireland

contributing to discussions within the Department of Education, and shaping views on the development of policy at European and domestic level;

#### Latvia

lobbying the Government to ratify the Framework Convention on National Minorities, and encouraging public officials to promote tolerance in their public comments and to recruit minorities into the public services;

#### Romania

informing the work of the National Agency for Employment; evaluating the work of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs Human Rights Division; providing guidance in elaborating a decree regarding the elimination of racist and xenophobic symbols; use as a reference document by a human rights NGO when making an official complaint.

ECRI adopted **General Policy Recommendation No. 2** (GPR 2) – on specialised bodies at national level to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance – on 13 June 1997. GPR 2 encourages member States to establish such bodies and elaborates a number of basic principles concerning their nature, composition, functioning and activities.<sup>455</sup>

As had been the case in respect of GPR 1, a majority of all survey respondents proved to be aware of GPR 2, and many indicated that they had found it to be of practical

454 See section II. B 2 a).

<sup>452</sup> See section II. B 2 on ECRI's General Policy Recommendations.

<sup>453</sup> ECRI's 7th General Policy Recommendation – on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination – was published on 17 February 2003, at around the same time as the survey questionnaires were sent to respondents. See section II. B 2 (g).

<sup>455</sup> See Section II. B 2 b).

benefit to them in their work. Noteworthy examples given by respondents of the use which they have made of GPR 2 included:

#### Ireland

formulating policy, and providing a framework for liaison with national specialised bodies;

#### Latvia

as a toolbox of "concise comparative materials when working out local recommendations", and as a reference document in the context of drafting reports on the accountability of public officials in the domain of racism and xenophobia;

#### Romania

informing the debate regarding the establishment of the National Council to Combat Discrimination, and providing material for NGOs lobbying for changes in the structure of the National Council.

ECRI has found Roma/Gypsy communities to be among the groups most vulnerable to discrimination and intolerance. Consequently, on 6 March 1998, it adopted **General Policy Recommendation No. 3** (GPR 3) on combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies. GPR 3 outlines the need to develop adequate protection for members of these communities. It recommends that racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies be tackled in a number of ways, including legal measures, training and other mechanisms designed to enhance their participation in public life.<sup>456</sup>

Most respondents from Ireland, Latvia and Romania indicated that they were familiar with GPR 3, and that it had proven useful to them. Examples of the manner in which GPR 3 has been put to use in these three States include:

#### Ireland

assisting in the development of a programme to improve participation rates of Roma children at school;

#### Latvia

for a non-governmental respondent, providing an effective source of "complimentary arguments that it is necessary to pay special attention to Roma, within the sphere of minority rights"; helping to ensure that legal assistance is made available to Roma/Gypsy victims of discrimination;

#### Romania

designing the implementation of the Government's strategy to improve the situation of Roma communities; assisting in the formulation of the Romanian police service's contribution to the aforementioned strategy.

ECRI's **General Policy Recommendation No. 4** (GPR 4), on national surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of

<sup>456</sup> See section II. B 2 c).

potential victims, was adopted on 6 March 1998. It underlines the importance of collecting reliable data on racist and discriminatory acts and on the situation of minority groups.<sup>457</sup>

Responses to the survey indicted that the level of awareness of GPR 4 claimed by respondents is almost as high as their stated awareness of GPRs 1 to 3. However, the responses of those who professed themselves to be aware of GPR 4 contained less evidence that this Recommendation has made a practical impact on their work. As can be seen from the following summaries, this tendency was evident in the responses received from all three States:

#### Ireland

only one, non-governmental, respondent indicated that GPR 4 had proven useful in its work, and then only in the general sense that it had "informed lobbying activities";

#### Latvia

a few respondents indicated that GPR 4 had been useful, but without specifying the use to which they had put it. One, non-governmental, respondent indicated that it had been used to "double-check" the design of a survey regarding the Roma population in Latvia;

#### Romania

a number of respondents indicated that GPR 4 had been useful, but without supplying any further details. Equally, some respondents explicitly indicated that, although they were aware of GPR 4, it had not been useful to them in their work. Only one governmental respondent suggested that GPR 4 had been useful as a set of "working principles" drawing upon "previous experience in the field".

In **General Policy Recommendation No. 5** (GPR 5), ECRI addresses the need to combat discrimination and intolerance against Muslims. Adopted on 16 March 2000, it proposes a number of measures designed to address discrimination against members of Muslim communities.

The survey elicited a pattern of responses similar to those received in respect of GPR 4; namely, a reasonably high level of professed awareness of GPR 5, but relatively little evidence that it has been of practical assistance to respondents. Illustrative examples of the responses received include:

#### Ireland

a response received from a representative of a national specialised body indicated that GPR 5 had been used "for quotation and reference in national reports on racism to support changes in policy and in the context of the reaction against Muslims post 9/11". This was, however, the only response received from Ireland which provided a practical example of having used GPR 5;

<sup>457</sup> See section II. B 2 d).

#### Latvia

a non-governmental respondent indicated that this issue "is not yet topical in Latvia", while another respondent from this sector added that although GPR 5 had "not yet" been used, it "will be taken into account when proceeding with projects that include the Muslim population in Latvia";

#### Romania

only one, governmental, respondent indicated that GPR 5 had been of assistance, without providing any practical example of the nature of that assistance.

**General Policy Recommendation No. 6** (GPR 6), which was adopted by ECRI on 15 December 2000, addresses the issue of combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet. It emphasises that all international work and instruments concerning the regulation of the Internet should include specific reference to the elimination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic offences. It also stresses that strategies to combat racist offences committed via the Internet should include international co-operation between law enforcement agencies, and robust national legislation.<sup>458</sup>

Some respondents from all three countries surveyed indicated that they were not aware of the existence of GPR 6. However, amongst those who declared themselves familiar with this Recommendation, it appears that a number have found it to be of practical assistance in their work. For example:

#### Ireland

a respondent from a national specialised body qualified GPR 6 as "a useful restatement and consolidation of the ways of dealing with racism on the Internet";

#### Latvia

a non-governmental respondent indicated that GPR 6 had been used during "discussions on the adoption of relevant legislation", while another respondent from the same sector stated that GPR 6 had served as an "indicator of the importance of [the] Internet in racism and hate crime. It has prompted us to include this aspect in projects";

#### Romania

a non-governmental respondent stated that GPR 6 had been used as basis to formulate a complaint to an Internet service provider.

# 2. Examples of "good practice"

In the course of its work, ECRI has built up a collection of positive examples of activities to combat racism undertaken in member States.

These examples of "good practice" have been outlined in four publications produced and disseminated by ECRI: "Combating Racism and Intolerance: A Basket of Good

<sup>458</sup> See section II. B 2 f).

Practices<sup>#459</sup>; "Good Practices: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level<sup>#460</sup>; "Examples of "good practices" to fight against racism and intolerance in the European media<sup>#461</sup>; and "Practical examples in combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies<sup>#,462</sup>

Survey participants from Ireland, Latvia and Romania were asked if they were familiar with these publications and, if so, if they had been useful to them in their work. The replies received suggest that many respondents are familiar with ECRI's examples of good practices, and that these four publications have proven to be a useful source of comparative information. The following responses serve to illustrate the nature of the use which has been made of ECRI's compendia:

#### Ireland

as a source of lobbying arguments, and to provide information to the membership of a non-governmental organisation; the examples of "good practice" have also been characterised as "useful guidelines" by a national specialised body;

#### Latvia

to garner comparative information regarding other European countries, which has served to strengthen a non-governmental organisation's arguments for good practice in Latvia; taken into account when elaborating and conducting research for a project on the situation of Roma in Latvia;

#### Romania

as a source of information for a non-governmental organisation when lobbying for change in the mandate of a national specialised body; during press conferences by a non-governmental organisation, to assist in presenting material to the media.

# 3. Broadening the scope of Article 14 of the European Convention on Human Rights through Protocol No. 12

The potential scope of Article 14 of the European Convention on Human Rights, which prohibits discrimination, was recently broadened by the adoption of Protocol No. 12 to that Convention.<sup>463</sup>

Survey participants were asked whether they were familiar with the provisions of Protocol No. 12, and whether they have been involved in advocacy or other work concerning the ratification of Protocol No. 12. The majority of respondents from all three countries surveyed indicated that they were familiar with Protocol No. 12. As regards the ratification of this new Protocol, most respondents from **Ireland** and **Romania** indicated that they were not directly involved in work to promote the Protocol's entry into force. By contrast, a majority of respondents from **Latvia** indicated that they are actively

<sup>459</sup> CRI (96) 38.

<sup>460</sup> CRI (99) 43.

<sup>461</sup> CRI (2000) 19. 462 CRI (2001) 28.

<sup>463</sup> For further details, see section II. B 4.

advocating ratification of Protocol No. 12, including by highlighting ECRI's view that ratification of the Protocol should be a priority for all Council of Europe member States.

# 4. European and World Conferences against Racism

ECRI is committed to playing a full part in the implementation of the commitments made at the European and World Conferences against Racism, *inter alia* as regards the implementation of national action plans against racism.<sup>464</sup>

Survey respondents were asked whether they were familiar with the outcomes of these conferences and, if so, whether they were involved in follow-up activities, such as contributing to national action plans against racism. Respondents who indicated that they were involved in such follow-up activities were invited to specify whether, in the context of those activities, they made reference to the work of ECRI.

A majority of the responses received from Ireland, Latvia and Romania stated that respondents were well aware of the outcomes of the European and World Conferences. Of these, a number of respondents in all three countries indicated that they are involved in activities to follow-up the conferences at national level, including through the development of national action plans against racism. However, few respondents in **Latvia** or **Romania** suggested that they are making direct use of ECRI's work in this area.

In **Ireland**, by contrast, a number of respondents from the non-governmental and governmental sectors indicated that are making direct use of relevant material which has been produced by ECRI. In this context, particular reference might be made to the response of a representative of a national specialised body, who specified that "we would strongly urge ECRI to give a stronger push on the development of national plans as some countries (not Ireland) are clearly dragging their heels or producing minimalist plans".

<sup>464</sup> See further, section II. B 5.

# **D. RELATIONS WITH CIVIL SOCIETY**

# 1. Introductory remarks

Enhancing its relations with relevant sectors of civil society is a major element of ECRI's strategy to combat racism and intolerance. ECRI recognises that non-governmental and other civil society organisations have a crucial role in transmitting awareness of its work to all parts of their constituencies, especially to marginalised groups. In order to develop its work in this area, ECRI has developed a detailed Programme of Action designed to publicise its activities and to enhance its relations with civil society. The main components of the Programme of Action include strengthening co-operation with non-governmental organisations, holding information sessions in member States, and developing the ECRI website.<sup>465</sup>

Survey participants from Ireland, Latvia and Romania were asked a number of questions regarding elements of ECRI's Programme of Action, including:

- what activities could ECRI undertake to enhance relations with civil society and, more particularly, how could co-operation with non-governmental organisations be strengthened?
- are **in-country information sessions** on the occasion of the publication of country-specific reports considered to be a useful initiative?
- how might ECRI's website be improved?

These questions elicited a wealth of responses, in particular from those in the nongovernmental sector; their responses are synthesised in the following sub-sections.

# 2. Enhancement of relations with civil society

Respondents offered a number of suggestions regarding activities that ECRI could undertake in order to enhance its relations with civil society, especially as regards co-operation with non-governmental organisations.

A number of responses suggested that ECRI could help to build the capacity of nongovernmental organisations by offering training regarding its standards, in addition to disseminating materials such as country reports, General Policy Recommendations and compilations of best practice.

Respondents from the non-governmental sector also emphasised that contact with ECRI can help to provide credibility for their domestic activities. For example, if it is evident that an NGO has been consulted by ECRI, this can serve to increase its prestige, and hence its influence *vis-à-vis* the national authorities. A Latvian respondent encapsulated this view in the comment that more "visible ties" between ECRI and non-governmental organisations "would help [to] underline their importance to officials."

<sup>465</sup> See section C 2.

A recurring suggestion in responses to the survey is that ECRI could usefully help to establish regional and national networks of NGOs, and seek to promote co-operation between civil society and the institutions of State in the context of the implementation of ECRI's recommendations. A further suggestion made by a number of respondents from the non-governmental sector is that more advance notice should be given to all relevant civil society actors of future ECRI activities in their countries.

# 3. In-country information sessions

Respondents from all three countries surveyed indicated that they considered ECRI's in-country information sessions to be a welcome innovation.

At the time of the survey, Romania was the only country in which such an information session had taken place (in October 2002). A representative response received from Romania indicated that "the event was an excellent opportunity to develop dialogue between the authorities and ECRI and set new co-ordinates for further co-operation. It also brought to the attention of the authorities the need to foster collaboration." This "Round Table" in Romania was also deemed to constitute a clear signal to national institutions and non-governmental organisations that they should take an active role in implementing ECRI recommendations.

Respondents expressed enthusiasm about the prospect of further such sessions being held in the future. Suggestions received concerning the specific themes which might be discussed at such events included: migrant workers; prisoners; access to education; the EU Directive on Race and its implications for strengthening legislation on 'hate crime'; the development of good practices; ratification of regional instruments; awareness-raising; and data-collection.

# 4. Website

ECRI's website – www.ecri.coe.int – was generally acknowledged by survey respondents to be useful to them in their work. Indeed, many respondents rated it as "extremely useful" or "excellent".

The survey also generated a number of suggestions regarding future improvements which might be made to the site. A common element in several such suggestions was that, while the site contains a lot of useful documentation, it could be *presented* in a more user-friendly format. Specific proposals made by respondents included revamping the "home page" to include a clear statement of ECRI's mission and an account of the main areas in which it is active. It was also suggested that some of the content of the site could be re-organised into different zones, each tailor-made for a distinct target audience, e.g. national authorities, non-governmental organisations, teachers and youth groups.

Moving beyond purely presentational issues, some respondents suggested that the *usefulness* of the site could be enhanced if it were to include a dedicated search engine with a user-friendly interface.

As for the website's *content*, while the excellence of the current content was acknowledged, some respondents suggested that ECRI might consider including links to other anti-racist organisations, and to substantive work on racism and intolerance produced by other organisations. Finally, some respondents suggested that, in addition to the current content, key ECRI documents could be made available on the website in languages other than English and French.

# **IV. CONCLUSION**

In October 1993, at their Vienna Summit, the Heads of State and Government of the Council of Europe member States pledged to accord a high political priority to the fight against racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance. Their political will was given concrete expression by the creation of ECRI. The Vienna Declaration provided a basic outline of ECRI's field of activity, but contained little guidance as to how this new mechanism might function in practice. From this starting point, ECRI has, in a progressive, step-by-step manner, "created itself", and developed a distinctive programme of activities.

From the very outset, ECRI has observed certain guiding principles: to be concrete and results-oriented, to prepare proposals which are useful and targeted, and to adopt a comprehensive approach to the problems of racism and intolerance by examining both legislative and policy aspects. It has also invested time in evaluating the progress which it has made at each stage in its development, before seeking to consolidate and capitalise upon the achievements which it has identified. Above all, ECRI has sought to conserve the notion of the protection and promotion of human rights as a cornerstone of its work.

This book does not chart the ten years of ECRI's existence in each and every detail. Instead, it focuses upon the "main messages" which have emerged from ECRI's second-round country reports. This country-by-country work has generated a detailed body of standards, which are reflected and further developed in ECRI's General Policy Recommendations. While ECRI is, first and foremost, an international monitoring body, it has also recognised the importance of working at grass-roots level, including by developing close relations with civil society.

The key issue with which this book engages is the value of ECRI's work in advancing the fight against racism in Europe and, more particularly, the extent to which its work has had a measurable impact in practice. For methodological, rather than policy, reasons, the impact evaluation covers only three countries. Other countries might equally well have been selected and, had they been, this might have affected the nature of certain findings. For example, since ECRI's country-by-country reports are used to lobby, the extent to which they impact on decisions and policies will inevitably vary according to the particular situation in each country. Their influence will depend *inter alia* on the degree to which particular issues are at the forefront of public awareness, and on the degree of receptivity to contributions from international bodies at a given time.

Nonetheless, notwithstanding their country-specific nature, at least some of the findings in the "impact" section are of potentially more general application.

ECRI's reports are working tools for those involved in the fight against racism at national level. They aim to provide a source of inspiration and impetus both for national authorities and for civil society actors. In practice, the attitude of national authorities on certain issues seems to have shifted thanks to the national debates and discussions which have arisen around recommendations made in ECRI's reports. In addition, the reports seem to be providing a focus and debating tool for NGOs. In short, it would appear that the reports are serving a dual purpose: offering detailed proposals for change and opening up a space for reflection.

ECRI's General Policy Recommendations bring to the forefront issues which apply in a general fashion across Europe, thus providing a framework for the preparation of national strategies. Particular reference should be made to General Policy Recommendation No 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination. Although comparatively recent (and hence not included in the impact evaluation), ECRI's own findings would suggest that this text has already contributed to legislative reforms in a number of member States and has positively influenced the content of legislation under preparation.

The national Round Tables organised by ECRI as part of its programme of activities to foster relations with civil society seem to be providing good opportunities for governments and NGOs to meet together on an equal footing. The Round Tables – hosted by ECRI – represent neutral ground upon which the two parties can discuss and debate. Thus far, the results appear to have been positive, and to have reinforced the effect of the country reports on which they have been based.

Concrete changes in legislation and policies are crucial, but another measure of impact is the level of debate to which ECRI's work has given rise in the member States. This is an area where ECRI can certainly claim a measure of success. The publication of country reports represents a key moment in this process. Media coverage of the reports, although variable from country to country, has increased substantially over the years. Inevitably, some reaction has been hostile but, even in such cases, the outcome has been positive in that a debate has been opened up, there has been a raising of awareness of certain issues, and a dialogue has been initiated.

Undoubtedly, one of ECRI's strong points is that it has striven to avoid conflict with other bodies involved in the fight against racism or the protection of human rights in general. On the contrary, ECRI has been at pains to build on what already exists, using a global and multidisciplinary approach. In this respect, ECRI has sought to play a role in translating international standards into practice at national level. This task of clarifying and elaborating upon international standards is a central - and distinctive - feature of ECRI's activities.

Moreover, ECRI has itself contributed to the development of standards, in an innovative way: starting from the bottom-up. ECRI's primary concern has been to make useful and concrete proposals, and these proposals have gradually come to form a corpus of standards. Without necessarily having had this aim at the outset, ECRI has, through its empirical approach, helped to create new standards in the fight against racism and racial discrimination.

In a number of important areas – specialised bodies, data collection, positive measures, immigration policies and practices – ECRI has developed and advocated its own distinctive view.

Through its close work with non-governmental organisations, ECRI also seeks to provide a sounding board for NGOs at European level. This is consistent with ECRI's vision of itself as an international monitoring body which actively seeks to achieve change at the level of individuals and their daily concerns.

ECRI can also claim credit for the fact that the fight against racism is higher on the European agenda than was the case ten years ago. ECRI has been, and remains committed to making a positive contribution to the ongoing debate about the meaning of racism in contemporary Europe. In this context, what first appeared to be a potential weakness has, paradoxically, proven to be one of ECRI's advantages: the fact that it is not based on a convention has allowed it to enjoy a wider degree of autonomy and flexibility in its work than might otherwise have been possible. Given the ever-evolving nature and character of racism, such flexibility continues to be a valuable asset.

To meet the challenges of the coming years, ECRI must be prepared to invest in enhancing the impact of its work, by continuing to look for the best ways in which to strengthen its contribution to the fight against racism. ECRI must also ensure that it preserves the elements which have sustained the quality of its work to date. It must remain impartial, open to dialogue, act completely independently and employ a collegiate approach. It must retain the guiding principle, which it has always respected, of treating States on an equal footing, examining the situation in each member State without fear or favour. Above all, ECRI must continue to work from the perspective of human rights, human dignity and equality which breathes life into the fight against racism and intolerance.



ECRI at its 30th plenary meeting in Strasbourg

**APPENDICES** 

# **APPENDIX I**

# **STATUTE OF ECRI**

#### **Resolution Res(2002)8** on the statute of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on 13 June 2002 at the 799th meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers, under the terms of Articles 15. *a* and 16 of the Statute of the Council of Europe,

Having regard to the Declaration and the Plan of Action adopted on 9 October 1993 in Vienna by the first Summit of Heads of state and government of the member states of the Council of Europe, creating the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (hereinafter referred to as "ECRI");

Having regard to the Declaration and Action Plan adopted on 11 October 1997 in Strasbourg by the second Summit of Heads of State and Government of the member states of the Council of Europe, deciding to intensify the activities of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance;

Having regard to the Political Declaration adopted by Ministers of Council of Europe member states on 13 October 2000 at the concluding session of the European Conference against Racism, by which the governments of member states commit themselves to consider how best to reinforce ECRI;

Taking also into account the General Conclusions of the European Conference against racism which call upon participating states to consider how best to reinforce the action of ECRI;

Having consulted ECRI on ways to reinforce its action;

Having regard to Resolution II adopted by the European Ministerial Conference on Human Rights, in Rome on 4 November 2000;

Taking into account Recommendation 1438 (2000) of the Parliamentary Assembly, asking the Committee of Ministers to fully support the work of ECRI and ensure that member states give a concrete follow-up to its recommendations;

Deeply convinced of the need to take firm and sustained action at European level to combat the phenomena of racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, and welcoming ECRI's contribution to this fight;

Noting that, since its creation by the first Summit, ECRI has developed its activities in a step-by-step fashion, giving priority to achieving concrete results;

Considering that the strengthening of ECRI should take as its starting point the work already done, and should consolidate and develop this work,

Decides to adopt the statute of ECRI as appended hereto:

# Appendix to Resolution (2002)8 Statute of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI)

#### Article 1

ECRI shall be a body of the Council of Europe entrusted with the task of combating racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance in greater Europe from the perspective of the protection of human rights, in the light of the European Convention on Human Rights, its additional protocols and related case-law. It shall pursue the following objectives:

- to review member states' legislation, policies and other measures to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, and their effectiveness;
- to propose further action at local, national and European level;
- to formulate general policy recommendations to member states;
- to study international legal instruments applicable in the matter with a view to their reinforcement where appropriate.

#### Article 2

1. One member of ECRI shall be appointed for each member state of the Council of Europe;

2. The members of ECRI shall have high moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance;

3. The members of ECRI shall serve in their individual capacity, shall be independent and impartial in fulfilling their mandate. They shall not receive any instructions from their government.

#### Article 3

1. The members of ECRI shall be appointed by their governments in accordance with the provisions contained in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 2 above.

2. Each government shall notify the appointment of the member of ECRI in respect of its country to the Secretary General of the Council of Europe, who shall inform the Committee of Ministers thereof.

3. In the case where the Committee of Ministers considers that the appointment of one or more members of ECRI would not be in conformity with the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 2, it may ask the member state(s) concerned to proceed to another appointment.
4. The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis where, as a result of a change in a member's situation, his/her continued membership of ECRI would not be in conformity with the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 2.

5. The members of ECRI shall be appointed for a term of office of five years, which may be renewed. During their term of office, they may only be replaced if they have tendered their resignation, or are no longer able to exercise their functions, or in cases referred to in paragraph 4 above.

#### Article 4

1. If the government so wishes, a deputy to the ECRI member may be appointed. The provisions of articles 2 and 3 above shall also apply to the appointment of deputy members except that their mandate shall in all cases expire at the same time as that of the ECRI member.

2. The conditions concerning the participation of deputy ECRI members shall be set down in ECRI's internal rules of procedure.

#### Article 5466

The Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, the Congress of Local and Regional Authorities of Europe, the Holy See and the Management Board of the European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia shall be invited to be represented in ECRI without the right to vote.

#### Article 6

- 1. ECRI may seek the assistance of rapporteurs or of consultants.
- 2. ECRI may organise consultations with interested parties.
- 3. ECRI may set up working parties on specific topics.
- 4. ECRI may be seized directly by non-governmental organisations on any questions covered by its terms of reference.

5. ECRI may seek the opinions and contributions of Council of Europe bodies concerned with its work.

6. ECRI shall periodically inform the Committee of Ministers on the results of its work.

#### Article 7

ECRI shall draw up an annual activity report which shall be submitted to the Committee of Ministers and made public.

#### Article 8

1. Meetings shall be held in camera unless ECRI decides otherwise. The quorum of ECRI shall be the majority of its appointed members.

2. ECRI shall draw up its own rules of procedure.

<sup>466</sup> The European Commission will continue to be invited to participate in ECRI's work without the right to vote.

The Secretariat of ECRI shall consist of an Executive Secretary and other staff members of the Directorate General of Human Rights.

#### Article 10

1. ECRI shall adopt its programme, which shall include, *inter alia*, three aspects:

- country-by-country approach
- work on general themes
- relations with civil society
- 2. ECRI shall, as appropriate, integrate a gender perspective into its programme.

3. ECRI may, as necessary and within the limits of its terms of reference, introduce modifications or additions to its programme.

#### Article 11

1. In the framework of its country-by-country approach, ECRI shall monitor phenomena of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, by closely examining the situation in each of the member states of the Council of Europe. ECRI shall draw up reports containing its factual analyses as well as suggestions and proposals as to how each country might deal with any problems identified.

2. In the framework of its country-by-country monitoring, ECRI shall conduct, in co-operation with the national authorities, contact visits in the countries concerned. It shall subsequently engage in a confidential dialogue with the said authorities in the course of which the latter may comment on the findings of ECRI.

3. ECRI's country reports are published following their transmission to the national authorities, unless the latter expressly oppose such publication. These reports shall include appendices containing the viewpoints of the national authorities, where the latter deem it necessary.

#### Article 12

ECRI's work on general themes shall generally consist of the adoption of general policy recommendations addressed to governments of member states and of the collection and dissemination of examples of "good practices" in combating racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance.

#### Article 13

ECRI shall develop relations with civil society, shall have activities aimed at promoting dialogue and mutual respect among the general public and shall organise awareness-raising and information activities.

#### Article 14

1. The Committee of Ministers may adopt amendments to this Statute by the majority foreseen at Article 20.*d* of the Statute of the Council of Europe, after consulting ECRI.

2. ECRI may propose amendments to this Statute to the Committee of Ministers, which shall decide by the above-mentioned majority.

# **APPENDIX II**

# **INTERNAL RULES OF PROCEDURE OF ECRI**

(adopted on 20 March 2003)

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (hereinafter referred to as "ECRI")

Having regard to the Statute of ECRI, in particular to Article 8.2,

Adopts the present Rules:

#### I. ORGANISATION OF ECRI

#### Members of ECRI

#### Article 1

(Calculation of term of office)

The duration of the term of office of an ECRI member shall be calculated as from the approval of her/his appointment by the Committee of Ministers.

#### Article 2

#### (Solemn declaration)

Each member of ECRI shall, at the first meeting of ECRI at which she/he is present after her/his appointment, make the following solemn declaration:

"I solemnly declare that I will exercise my functions as a member of ECRI independently, impartially, conscientiously, and without accepting any instruction. I will respect on all occasions the confidentiality of ECRI's documents and internal debates; and I will stand by ECRI's decisions".

#### Article 3

#### (Resignation)

Resignation of an ECRI member shall be notified to the Chair, who shall inform the Secretary General of the Council of Europe.

#### Chair and Bureau of ECRI

#### Article 4

(Functions of the Chair and the Vice-Chairs)

1. ECRI shall elect from among its members a Chair, a first Vice-Chair and a second Vice-Chair.

2. The Chair shall conduct ECRI's discussions, co-ordinate the work of its working groups and represent ECRI, without prejudice to this function being fulfilled for particular purposes by other members.

3. In the exercise of her/his functions, the Chair shall remain under the authority of ECRI.

4. The Chair shall retain the right to participate in the discussions of ECRI and to vote.

5. Whenever the Chair is absent or stands down, she/he shall be replaced by the First Vice-Chair or, if she/he is absent or stands down, by the Second Vice-Chair.

# Article 5

## (Functions of the Bureau)

1. The Bureau shall consist of the Chair, the two Vice-Chairs and of four other members elected by ECRI.

2. The Bureau shall assist the Chair, perform all other functions conferred upon it by ECRI and make any relevant proposals.

## Article 6

## (Duration of term of office)

1. The Chair is elected for a term of two years. She/he may be re-elected once.

2. The two Vice-Chairs are elected for a term of one year. They may be re-elected twice.

3. The four other Bureau members are elected for a term of two years. They may be re-elected once.

4. Terms of office shall run for calendar years. In case of a vacancy arising, the replacing person shall complete the term in question.

5. No member of ECRI may be a Bureau member for more than six out of eight consecutive years.

# Article 7

#### (Elections of the Chair, Vice-Chairs and other Bureau members)

1. The elections of the Chair, Vice-Chairs and other Bureau members shall be decided by secret ballot.

2. The elections shall take place in three stages:

a. Election of the Chair:

If no candidate receives the votes of the majority of members present at the beginning of this election in the first ballot, a second ballot shall take place if there is only one candidate or otherwise a second ballot shall take place between the two candidates who have received most votes. If neither of these two candidates receives the aforementioned majority in the second ballot, a third ballot shall take place between them. The candidate who receives the most votes in such a third ballot shall be declared elected.

In the first ballot, in case of equal votes between candidates who have not received the most votes, an intermediate ballot shall take place between these candidates. The candidate who receives the most votes in the intermediate ballot shall continue to the second ballot. In case of equal votes between candidates in the intermediate ballot, a drawing of lots shall take place between them.

In the third ballot, in case of equal votes between candidates, a drawing of lots shall take place between them.

b. Election of the two Vice-Chairs: the two candidates who receive the highest number of votes cast shall be elected first Vice-Chair and second Vice-Chair.

In case of equal votes between candidates, a drawing of lots shall take place between them.

c. Election of the other Bureau members: the candidates having received the highest number of votes cast shall be elected.

In case of equal votes between candidates, a drawing of lots shall take place between them.

3. Elections shall take place at the last plenary session of each calendar year, except in the case of a vacancy arising, where an election shall take place as soon as possible and the above rules shall be applied accordingly.

4. Candidatures for the elections shall preferably be transmitted to the Secretariat at the latest two weeks before the elections. The Secretariat shall draw up a list of these candidates and distribute it to the members of ECRI. Persons whose candidatures are not announced at the end of the first day of the meeting at which the elections are to take place are not eligible unless they have been candidates in a previous election during the same session.

# ECRI deputy members

# Article 8

(Participation of deputy members)

1. A deputy member of ECRI can participate in ECRI plenary meetings and working groups meetings only when she/he replaces the ECRI member.

2. The deputy has the same right to vote as the ECRI member she/he replaces.

3. The Secretariat shall send the deputy a copy of any correspondence addressed to ECRI members, including working documents and meeting reports.

# Representatives without the right to vote

# Article 9

## (Participation)

Representatives without the right to vote may take part in ECRI meetings held in camera, unless ECRI decides otherwise.

## Secretariat of ECRI

## Article 10

#### (Secretariat)

The Secretary General shall provide ECRI with the necessary staff, including an Executive Secretary, as well as with the administrative and other services it may require.

# II. FUNCTIONING OF ECRI

## Article 11

## (Languages)

The official and working languages of ECRI shall be English and French.

#### Article 12

#### (Holding of meetings)

1. ECRI and its Bureau shall hold such meetings as are required for the exercise of their functions.

2. The Executive Secretary shall notify the members of ECRI of the date, time and place of each ECRI meeting.

3. It shall be for each member to decide whether she/he will attend the meeting in person or be replaced by her/his deputy and to inform the Secretariat accordingly.

#### Article 13

#### (Agenda)

1. In consultation with the Chair, the Secretariat shall send a draft agenda to the members along with the notification of the meeting.

2. The agenda shall be adopted by ECRI at the beginning of the meeting.

#### Article 14

#### (Meeting Documentation)

The Secretariat shall be responsible for preparing and circulating documents which are to be examined by ECRI.

#### (Quorum)

The quorum of ECRI shall be the majority of its appointed members.

# Article 16

#### (Privacy of meetings)

1. Meetings shall not be opened to the public, unless ECRI decides otherwise. ECRI's deliberations remain confidential.

2. Discussions relating the country-by-country reports shall always be held in camera.

## **III. CONDUCT OF BUSINESS**

## Article 17

(Proposals)

Any proposal for an ECRI decision must be submitted in writing if a member of ECRI so requests. In that case, it shall not be discussed until it has been circulated.

#### Article 18

#### (Order to follow in the examination of proposals or amendments)

1. Where a number of proposals relate to the same subject, they shall be put to the vote in the order in which they were submitted. In case of doubt as to the order of priority, the Chair shall decide.

2. Where a proposal is the subject of an amendment, the amendment shall be put to the vote first. Where two or more amendments to the same proposal are presented, ECRI shall vote first on whichever departs furthest in substance from the original proposal, and so on until all the amendments have been put to the vote. However, where the acceptance of one amendment necessarily entails rejection of another, the latter shall not be put to the vote. The final vote shall then be taken on the proposal as amended or not amended. In case of doubt as to the order of priority, the Chair shall decide.

3. Parts of a proposal or amendment may be put to the vote separately.

# Article 19

#### (Order of procedural motions)

Procedural motions shall take precedence over all other proposals or motions except points of order. They shall be put to the vote in the following order:

- a. suspension of the meeting;
- b. adjournment of the meeting;
- c. adjournment of discussion on the item in hand;
- d. closure of discussion on the item in hand.

#### (Re-examination of a question)

Once a decision has been taken, the question shall not be re-examined unless a member of ECRI so requests and two-thirds of the members present agree to this request.

#### Article 21

## (Votes)

1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 7 and 24, decisions shall be taken by consensus unless a member of ECRI calls for a vote. If a vote is called for, the decision shall be taken by show of hands unless a secret ballot is requested by a member of ECRI.

2. Decisions taken by vote shall be decided by the majority of the votes cast. "Votes cast" shall mean the votes of members cast for or against. In case of equal votes, the decision shall be postponed for a short time. At the second vote on the question, in the case of equal votes, the Chair shall have the casting vote.

# **IV. DECISIONS AND REPORTS OF MEETINGS**

#### Article 22

#### (Decisions and reports of meetings)

1. At the end of each meeting, the Secretariat shall submit to ECRI for approval a draft abridged meeting report containing a list of decisions adopted at that meeting.

2. The Secretariat shall subsequently prepare a draft full meeting report containing also a summary of the discussions held at the meeting and shall submit it to the Chair and Vice-Chairs for approval. The full meeting report as approved by the Chair and Vice-Chairs shall then be sent to ECRI members.

# Article 23

#### (Annual report)

1. An annual report on ECRI's activities shall be prepared by the Secretariat for each calendar year. This report shall be adopted by ECRI at its first meeting of the following year.

2. The annual report shall be submitted to the Committee of Ministers and made public.

# (Amendments to the Rules of Procedure)

1. Any amendment to the Rules of Procedure must be proposed and circulated to each member, unless the members of ECRI present unanimously decide otherwise.

2. Any amendment to the Rules of Procedure shall require a decision taken by a twothirds majority of votes cast.

# Appendix to the Internal Rules of Procedure of ECRI

(This appendix forms an integral part of the Internal Rules of Procedure)

# Introduction

1. Following the entry into force on 31 December 2002 of Resolution Res (2002) 8 concerning the Statute of ECRI, ECRI adopted its Internal Rules of Procedure at its 30th plenary meeting (18-20 March 2003).

2. The Internal Rules of Procedure are mainly based on the document on "ECRI's internal organisation and operating methods", adopted by ECRI at its 12th plenary meeting (15-18 September 1997), and which was in force until ECRI's 29th plenary meeting (10-13 December 2002).

# Article 2 of the Internal Rules of Procedure (Solemn declaration):

3. The solemn declaration is proclaimed orally by each ECRI member. It is also proclaimed orally by each deputy member.

# Article 6 of the Internal Rules of Procedure (Duration of terms of office):

- 4. The following exceptional transitional provisions apply for the year 2003:
  - The ECRI Bureau members elected in December 2001 for a term of office of two years (Chair and two other Bureau members) will remain in their posts until December 2003.
  - Elections will take place during the 30th plenary meeting of ECRI (18-20 March 2003) for the posts of two Vice-Chairs and two other Bureau members, for whom the terms of office, which were due to expire in December 2002, had been extended by ECRI, as an exceptional measures, until its 30th plenary meeting.

5. The rule contained in paragraph 5 of Article 6 stipulating that no member of ECRI may be a Bureau member for more than six out of eight consecutive years will come into force with the adoption of these Internal Rules of Procedure and only applies to terms of office carried out subsequent to such adoption.

# Article 8 of the Internal Rules of Procedure (Participation of deputy members):

6. A deputy member may not ask for the floor or participate actively in ECRI meetings if she/he is attending at the same time as the member. This provision does not preclude the non-active presence of the deputy member in the meeting room.

# Article 9 of the Internal Rules of Procedure (Participation of representatives without the right to vote)

7. Representatives without the right to vote participate only in ECRI's plenary meetings. They do not participate in ECRI's working groups.

8. During ECRI's discussions on its country-by-country reports, representatives without the right to vote may speak only once on each issue under discussion.

9. ECRI's confidential working documents are transmitted to representatives without the right to vote only upon written confirmation of their participation in the meeting at which the documents in question are to be examined.

# **APPENDIX III**

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- ECRI and its programme of activities (Strasbourg, May 2003)
- Resolution (2002)9 on the Statute of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), adopted by the Committee of Ministers on 13 June 2002
- ECRI's Programme of action on relations with civil society (Strasbourg, October 2002)
- Annual Report on ECRI's activities covering the period from 1st January to 31st December 2002
- Legal measures to combat racism and intolerance in the member States of the Council of Europe (revised version: Strasbourg, 2000, and addendum: Strasbourg, 2003)
- Examples of "Good practices": Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level (Strasbourg, December 2003)
- Examples of "Good practices" to fight against racism and intolerance in the European media (Strasbourg, April 2000)
- Practical examples in combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies (Strasbourg, October 2001)
- Legal instruments for combating racism on Internet (Strasbourg, August 2000)
- Compilation of ECRI's General Policy Recommendations (Strasbourg, November 2003)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 1: Combating racism, xenophobia antisemitism and intolerance (Strasbourg, 4 October 1996)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level (Strasbourg, 13 June 1997)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 3: combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies (Strasbourg, 6 March 1998)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 4: National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims (Strasbourg, 6 March 1998)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 5: Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims (Strasbourg, 27 April 2000)

- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 6: Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet (Strasbourg, 15 December 2000)
- ECRI General Policy Recommendation No. 7: National Legislation to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination (Strasbourg, 13 December 2002)
- ECRI's country-by-country approach:
  - First round :
    - Volume I (Strasbourg, September 1997)
    - Volume II (Strasbourg, March 1998)
    - Volume III (Strasbourg, 15 June 1998)
    - Volume IV (Strasbourg, 26 January 1999)
    - Volume V (Strasbourg, 13 March 1999)
    - Volume VI (Strasbourg, 24 May 1999)
    - Volume VII (Strasbourg, 9 November 1999)
  - Second round :
    - Albania (Strasbourg, 3 April 2001)
    - Austria (Strasbourg, 3 April 2001)
    - Belgium (Strasbourg, 21 March 2000)
    - Bulgaria (Strasbourg, 21 March 2000)
    - Croatia (Strasbourg, 3 July 2001)
    - Cyprus (Strasbourg, 3 July 2001)
    - Czech Republic (Strasbourg, 21 March 2000)
    - Denmark (Strasbourg, 3 March 2001)
    - Estonia (Strasbourg, 23 April 2002)
    - Finland (Strasbourg, 23 July 2002)
    - France (Strasbourg, 27 June 2000)
    - Georgia (Strasbourg, 23 April 2002)
    - Germany (Strasbourg, 3 July 2001)
    - Greece (Strasbourg, 27 June 2000)
    - Hungary (Strasbourg, 21 March 2000)
    - Ireland (Strasbourg, 23 April 2002)
    - Italy (Strasbourg, 23 April 2002)
    - Latvia (Strasbourg, 23 July 2002)
    - Malta (Strasbourg, 23 July 2002)
    - The Netherlands (Strasbourg, 13 November 2001)
    - Norway (Strasbourg, 27 June 2000)
    - Poland (Strasbourg, 27 June 2000)
    - Portugal (Strasbourg, 4 November 2002)
    - Romania (Strasbourg, 23 April 2002)
    - Russian Federation (Strasbourg, 13 November 2001)
    - Slovakia (Strasbourg, 27 June 2000)
    - Switzerland (Strasbourg, 21 March 2000)
    - "The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia" (Strasbourg, 3 April 2001)

- Turkey (Strasbourg, 3 July 2001)
- Ukraine (Strasbourg, 23 July 2002)
- United Kingdom (Strasbourg, 3 April 2001)
- Compilation of ECRI's second country-by-country reports (Strasbourg, January 2004)
- Proceedings of the Round Table on "Dialogue against Violence" (Strasbourg, 21 March 2002)
- Proceedings of the European Conference against Racism (Strasbourg, 11-13 October 2000)
- Activities of the Council of Europe with relevance to combating racism and intolerance (Strasbourg, January 2004)
- Recommendations adopted by the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe in the field of combating racism and intolerance (Strasbourg, September 1998)
- Recommendations adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe in the field of combating racism and intolerance (Strasbourg, September 1998)
- Texts of international instruments relevant to the work of ECRI (Strasbourg, October 1999)